

U.S. Department of Transportation

National Highway Traffic Safety Administration

DOT HS 808 120

March 1994

Final Report

Local Police Enforcement, Public Information and Education Strategies to Foster More and Proper Use of Child Safety Seats by Toddlers:

Evaluation of a Demonstration Project

This document is available to the public from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia 22161

This publication is distributed by the U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, in the interest of information exchange. The opinions, findings and conclusions expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the Department of Transportation or the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. The United States Government assumes no liability for its contents or use thereof. If trade or manufacturers' name or products are mentioned, it is because they are considered essential to the object of the publication and should not be construed as an endorsement. The United States Government does not endorse products or manufacturers.

	ecnnical Report Documentation Page
1. Report No. 2. Government Accession No. DOT HS 808 120 2.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle	5. Report Date
Local Police Enforcement, Public Information and Education Strategies to Foster	March 1994
More and Proper Use of Child Safety Seats by Toddlers: Evaluation of a	6. Performing Organization Code
Demonstration Project	•
7. Author(s)	8. Performing Organization Report No.
Lawrence E. Decina, Michael G. Temple, Ph.D., and Heidi S. Dorer	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address	10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)
KETRON Division of The Bionetics Corporation	
Great Valley Corporate Center	
350 Technology Drive	11. Contract or Grant No.
Malvern, PA 19355	DTNH22-89-C-07029
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address	13. Type of Report and Pariod Covered
National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, Office of Program Development	Final Report
and Evaluation	14. Sponsoring Agency Code
400 Seventh Street, SW	
Washington, DC 20590	
15. Supplementary Notes	
Douglas B. Gurin, Ph.D. was the COTR.	

16. Abstract

This project evaluated the effects of enforcing safety belt (SB)/child safety seat (CSS) laws and providing public information and education (Pl&E) about the laws and use and proper use of CSSs-without external funding. Project goals focused on increasing occupant restraint (OR) usage for all infants and young children, especially for toddlers, aged 1 to 5 years; extending the use of CSS's to the back seat; fostering proper use of CSSs for all trips; and increasing community-wide OR use. An administrative audit of the project was also performed.

The project was implemented in two suburban communities of Philadelphia. A "do-nothing" town was chosen as a control. The project relied heavily on police as both enforcers and educators on use/proper use of CSSs. The percentage of OR enforcement contacts (citations and written warnings) given out in the two test communities was 21 and 10 percent of the total moving (point) citations and 11 and 3 percent of the total citations during the intervention phase, respectively.

The use and proper use of restraints on over 5,800 young children and over 4,500 drivers were observed. Drivers of these children were also interviewed. Results in the two test communities showed an increase in toddler CSS use from a baseline of 71.8 percent and 60.9 percent to 78.8 percent and 71.4 percent, respectively; and proper use from a baseline of 67 percent and 57.5 percent to 72.8 percent and 69.3 percent, respectively. Infant seat use remained very high at all three sites (over 90%) before and after intervention. No changes were noted in the control site. Community belt use increased by 9 and 6 percentage points in the two test sites and decreased by 3 percentage points in the control site.

Results showed that routine police enforcement of SB and CSS laws combined with periodic "blitzes" and a comprehensive PI&E project can significantly improve SB and CSS use and increase proper use of CSSs. Effective OR enforcement projects require commitment, training, active enforcement (citations and written warnings), management monitoring, and comprehensive PI&E, with emphasis on enforcement activities. In addition, state and community support is needed to promote enforcement actions and education about proper CSS use.

is needed to promote emotorized, entropy and control moter pro-	
17. Key Words	18. Distribution Statement
Enforcement Strategies, Toddlers, Public Information and	Distributed to the public through the National
Education, Safety Belt Use, Child Safety Seat Use, Misuse,	Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA
Proper Use, Occupant Restraint Laws, Child Safety Seat, Seat	22161
Belts, Traffic law enforcement, Toddler seat, booster seat	
19. Security Classif. (of this report) 20. Security Classif. (of this s	age) 21. No. of Pages 22. Price

19. Security Clas	sif. (of t	his report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page) 21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified			Unclassified	\$188,079
	<u>)</u> ,	<u> </u>		

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)

Reproduction of completed page authorized

PREFACE

This project has evaluated the effects of both enforcing the occupant restraint laws in local communities of Pennsylvania and providing public information and education about these laws and about the use and proper use of child safety seats for toddlers.

The authors wish to thank many individuals and organizations for their time and effort. The authors would like first to express their appreciation to the Tredyffrin, Haverford, and Abington Township Police Departments for their cooperation and their willingness to participate in the project.

Thanks also go to the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation Center for Highway Safety and affiliated child passenger safety organizations, which assisted in project activities and helped acquire project material, supplies, and mini-grant funds. The organizations include: The Pennsylvania Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics; Traffic Injury Prevention Project, formerly PA Child Passenger Safety Project; Chester and Delaware County Comprehensive Highway Safety Project; Montgomery County Health Department; PennDOT District Corridor Safety Program; and PA Volunteers for Highway Safety. Keystone Safety Belt Network (Traffic Safety Now, Inc.) also assisted in many activities of the project, especially police training.

Thanks are also in order for all of the community groups that participated in the success of this project, including the day-care/preschool centers, schools, businesses, and shopping centers.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ŧ

SECT	ION	TITLE	<u>P/</u>	<u>AGE</u>
Ĵ	EXECU	TIVE SUMMARY	••••	xi
			•	
1	-	INTRODUCTION		1
2	}	BACKGROUND		3
÷		CSS CHARACTERISTICS	• • • •	3
•		Seat Types		3
		Proper Use		4
		Common Misuse		6
		Child Safety Seat Usage Rates		6
• .		Safety Belt Usage Rates		7
•		LAWS AND PROGRAMS		8
		Occupant Restraint Laws	••••	8
		National Child Safety Seat Programs	• • • •	10
		Pennsulvania Child Safety Seat Programs	· • • •	11
			•••••	11
		Legislation Evaluation	••••	11
			• • •	11
			• • •	13
			• • •	14
		Project Implications	• • •	15
. 3		RESEARCH AND DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOCIES		17
~		DESEADCH METHODOLOGY	••••	1/
			• • •	1/
		DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY		19
			• • •	19
			• • •	20
		Observation Procedures	•••	21
4			• • •	23
		SELECTION CRITERIA PROCESS	• • •	23
		Police and Community Support	•••	23
		Socioeconomic and Community Profile Characteristics	• • • •	23
		Logistical Requirements	• • •	24
		SELECTION OF CANDIDATE SITES		24
		COMMUNITY PROFILES		- 25
		Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics		25
		Police		26
		Local and Regional Support		27
•				
5		PROJECT ACTIVITIES		29
		POLICE		29
		Managerial Directives and Policy Decisions	•••	20
		Enforcement Activities	•••	22
		PI&E Activities	•••	J2 20
		Kickoff Events	•••	20
		Drograms and Special Events	•••	38
		riogianis and special Events	• • •	40
		Media Exposure	• • • •	42

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

٦

SECTION

6

7

•

TITLE

P

÷

Other OR Activities (NHTSA Summer 1991 Safety Belt Promotion	
Campaigns)	43 · ·
STATE-SUPPORTED REGIONAL AND LOCAL HIGHWAY SAFETY	· .
GROUPS	44
PRIVATE SUPPORT	46
COMMUNITY GROUPS	46
OTHER SUPPORT	47
DECTIME AND ANALVEIC	40
	77 10
	40
ODSERVATION DATA	47 50
Shoulder Beit Use by Drivers	51
Compliance with OB Laws of Benerylyspie	51
"Fully Destended" Vound Children	34 55
Fully Protected Found Children	
Comparison of Driver SB Use and Toddier Restraint Use	28 50
	39
Knowledge of OR Laws	59
Perception of Enforcement	60
Attitude on OR Enforcement	61
Self-Reported Behavior on Proper CSS Use	62
Awareness of CSS Issues	62
INTERPRETATION OF FINDINGS	63
Data Collection Methods and Sampling Techniques	63
Characteristics of Sample Population	64
Observation Data Interpretation	64
Query Data Interpretation	66
Summary	66
PROJECT ADMINISTRATIVE EVALUATION	69
POLICE	69
Management, Leadership, and Supervision	70
Model Policy Guidelines	.71
Enforcement	73
Project and Events	76
STATE AND COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT	77
State Resources	77
Community Resources	77
CONTRACT SUPPORT	78
GENERAL PROJECT ISSUES	78
Intervention Activities	78
Site Selection	79

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Concluded)

2

SECTION

Я

9

TITLE

PAGE

Target Group Characteristics	80
Post-Intervention Activities	80
RECOMMENDATIONS	81
STATE AND STATE-SUPPORTED HIGHWAY SAFETY GROUPS	
(LOCAL AND REGIONAL)	81
Consultation	81
State Participation	82
Activities	83
Funding Support	83
	83
	63
	03
	04
	84
Commitment by Management and Officers	85
Training and Motivational Techniques	85 _
Enforcement Strategies, with Public Information and Education	85
Evaluation of Enforcement and Recognition	. 87
Long-Term Program Planning	87
COMMUNITY	87
FUTURE RESEARCH/PROGRAM DIRECTION	88
REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY	91

APPENDIX A	SAMPLING AND	STATISTICAL	METHODOLOGY

- APPENDIX B DATA COLLECTION FORMS
- APPENDIX C SAFETY BELT POLICIES OF POLICE
- APPENDIX D CITATION INFORMATION CARD
- APPENDIX E E-MAIL MESSAGE ENFORCEMENT REMINDERS
- APPENDIX F DIRECTIVE FROM CHIEF OF POLICE
- APPENDIX G POLICE WARNING NOTICES FOR OCCUPANT RESTRAINT VIOLATIONS
- APPENDIX H PUBLIC INFORMATION AND EDUCATION MATERIAL USED IN PROJECT
- APPENDIX I PUBLISHED NEWSPAPER ARTICLES ABOUT PROJECT
- APPENDIX J CHILD SAFETY BELT MESSAGE CARDS
- APPENDIX K CHARACTERISTICS OF SAMPLE

LIST OF FIGURES

ŧ

FIGURE

1

TABLE

TITLE

PAGE

P

Ĵ

1	Types of child safety seats
2.	Harness, retainer, and crotch strap position of a convertible seat
3	Common misuses of child safety seats
4	Pennsylvania child passenger safety law
5 ·	Pennsylvania safety belt law
6	Participating communities
7a 👘	Total occupant restraint "contacts," citations, and moving citations in
	Tredyffrin
7b	Percentage of occupant restraint "contacts" to total citations and to moving
	"point" citations in Tredyffrin
7c	Occupant restraint "contacts" in Tredyffrin
8a	Total occupant restraint "contacts," citations, and moving citations in
	Haverford
8b	Percentage of occupant restraint contacts to total citations and to moving
	"point" citations in Haverford
8c	Occupant restraint "contacts" in Haverford
9	Percentage point change of child safety seat use by toddlers (ages 1 to 5).
	before and after intervention, by site
10	Percentage point change of driver compliance with occupant restraint laws of
,	Pennsylvania for toddlers (ages 1 to 4), before and after intervention, by site 56
11	Percentage point change of "fully protected" toddlers (ages 1 to 5).
	before and after intervention, by site
12	Driver shoulder belt use versus toddler restraint use

LIST OF TABLES

TITLE

PAGE

1	Socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of communities selected	26
2	Enforcement activities by police	37
3.	Public Information and Education material used by police in project	39
4	Public Information and Education activities by police	44
5	Public Information and Education literature distribution, by community	47
6	Change in safety belt use of drivers with children and the general public	50
7	Comparative driver shoulder belt use in nation and Pennsylvania (percentage observed)	51
8	Percentage of child safety seat use by infants, by age and weight,	
	before and after intervention, by site	53
9	Percentage of child safety seat use by young and older toddler age groups,	
	before and after intervention, by site	53
10	Percentage of child safety seat use by toddlers (20 to 40 pounds),	
	before and after intervention, by site	54

LIST OF TABLES (Concluded)

2

.

TABLE

ê

TITLE

PAGE

11	Percentage of nonuse of restraints (safety belts or child safety seats) by toddlers and older children, before and after intervention, by site
12	Change in "fully protected" rates of toddlers, by age and weight,
	before and after intervention, by site
13	Change in driver-reported knowledge of occupant restraint laws in Pennsylvania,
	before and after intervention, by site (percentage)
14	Change in driver-reported perception of enforcement of occupant restraint laws,
•	before and after intervention, by site
15	Change in driver-reported attitude on enforcement of occupant restraint laws,
	before and after intervention, by site
16	Change in driver-reported behavior on proper child safety seat use, before and
	intervention, by site
17	Change in driver-reported awareness of child safety seat issues, before and
	after intervention, by site

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Y.

INTRODUCTION

Despite the fact that the national child safety seat (CSS) usage rate for children under the age of 5 has reached over 80 percent, unrestrained children still represent two-thirds of all crash fatalities in this age category (USDOT/NHTSA, 1990). In addition, many young children, especially toddlers (ages 1 to 5), are still riding in motor vehicles without properly installed or properly used CSSs (Ziegler, 1989). Since misuse of CSSs cuts the safety effectiveness against severe and fatal injuries by about half, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) has sponsored projects to promote use and proper use of CSS for these toddlers. NHTSA believes that the use of CSSs will decline unless child passenger safety laws receive strong enforcement. Experience with safety belt (SB) legislation in both the United States and foreign countries has indicated that enforcement, when combined with public education, is critical in keeping occupant restraint (OR) usage rates high.

BACKGROUND

Past studies have shown that proper CSS usage rates have remained much lower than general CSS usage rates. Cynecki and Goryl (1984) found only 35 percent proper use for about 1,000 safety seats observed in a 10-city study at fast-food restaurants. However, about 22 percent of the sample was based on misuse of CSSs with tether straps, which have now been discontinued.

From 1983 to 1988, NHTSA measured proper CSS use in conjunction with its nationwide observation studies. From observing CSS use in vehicles stopped in traffic and at curbside and from looking at seat installation in unoccupied cars in parking lots of shopping centers, NHTSA estimated the percentage of children who were fully protected. For 1988, the last year that observation data (over 1,000 young children) were collected, NHTSA estimated that 56 percent of children in cars were "fully" protected (Ziegler, 1989). This percentage represented an increase from 11 percent only 5 years earlier. However, the NHTSA data have drawbacks. The methodology used in computing fully protected usage rates assumed that the drivers of the parked vehicles with properly installed CSSs actually put their children in these seats and fastened the seats' harnesses correctly. Thus, the estimated proper use rate was probably higher than the true rate.

"Full protection" for young children is best defined in the American Academy of Pediatrics' (AAP's) recommendations for proper use, which includes criteria for selection of seat, direction of seat, harness/shield installation, SB routing and connection. Infants (up to 1 and/or under 20 pounds) are to be facing rearward in an infant or convertible seat. Toddlers (from age 1 to about age 5 and/or between 20 and 40 pounds) are to be facing forward in a convertible seat. Toddlers over 40 pounds and up to 70 pounds should be facing forward and placed in a booster seat.

Over the last 15 years, numerous research studies and demonstration projects have evaluated the effectiveness of interventions, activities, and projects that promote use and proper use of CSSs. These projects studied the effects of legislation (Hatfield et al., 1986; Heathington, Philpot, and Perry, 1982; Hletko, 1983; Perry et al., 1980; Wagenaar, 1984; and Williams and Wells, 1981), education (Chang et al., 1989; Hall and Council, 1979; Hletko et al., 1983; Reisinger et al., 1981; and Reisinger and Williams, 1978), and combined education and enforcement (Agent, 1983; Post, 1984; Post, 1986; and Prism, 1989) interventions. Using these studies, researchers have concluded that the most effective projects require long-term police commitment to enforcement, as well as

xi

publicity about the enforcement and educational issues concerning the safety benefits and usage of ORs.

The goals of this study were to determine whether combining enforcement and education with the most current research recommendations for conducting effective community OR projects could significantly:

- (1) Increase OR use for <u>all</u> infants and young children, especially those from age 1 to age 5, preferably with toddler or convertible seats (or at least SBs in the back seat, as required by Pennsylvania law, from age 1 to age 4).
- (2) Extend the use of toddler or convertible safety seats to the minimum recommended standards (approximately 20 pounds to 40 pounds or up to age 5), in the back seat where, by law, only an SB is required.
- (3) Foster "full protection" and proper use of appropriate CSSs for children age 1 to age 5 for all trips, including local, short-distance rides.

These projects would operate <u>without</u> external funding (i.e., Government, Federal, or State) and demonstrate to police and other community groups that child passenger safety projects can be successfully conducted within community resources.

Inte: vention goals for the local police enforcement effort would include:

- Training for selected trainers, using NHTSA's Occupant Protection, Usage, and Enforcement (OPUE) program.
- In-house OPUE training for all officers.
- Police SB policy.
- Active enforcement (written warnings and citations) of CSS and SB laws using routine and selective methods.
- Roll-call reminders.
- Active participation in education projects in the day-care centers, schools, and community.

Intervention goals for the two police departments' public information and education (PI&E) effort would include:

- Press conferences.
- Periodic press releases and local newspaper coverage.
- Community and school/day-care programs.
- Extensive distribution of material, especially at holidays and other special events.

Ē

• CSS inspection clinics.

The PI&E effort would promote the following messages:

- Increase CSS use overall.
- Extend CSS use by older toddlers.
- Foster "full protection" beyond state law minimums.
- Foster CSS uses for all trips, including short ones.

Besides these police efforts, community and state-affiliated county-wide highway safety groups would also participate in the program. Their efforts would include:

- Literature, brochures, posters, stickers, and other material distributed to the police (e.g., enforcement cards) for distribution at events.
- Literature at target audience locations (fast-food restaurants, day-care centers, libraries, retail stores) and events.
- Guidance for police press releases and events.
- CSS inspection clinics with the police.

RESEARCH AND DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGIES

The evaluation design included a pretest, posttest control group. A comparison site was a special design feature used, instead of random assignment. The evaluation design was based on one intervention phase, an assessment of the interventions at two sites, and the use of a comparison (control) site. The statistical methodology involved computing differences in proportions, then determining the associated confidence intervals. The hypothesis for the evaluation design was that exposure to enforcement and PI&E interventions would increase the following:

- Use of restraints for all infants and toddlers.
- Use and proper use of CSSs by toddlers.
- Use of SBs by residents.
- Compliance with Pennsylvania's CSS law.
- Knowledge about Pennsylvania's CSS and SB laws and proper use of toddler seats.
- Perception about the police enforcing the OR laws.
- Self-reported proper use of CSSs.

An administrative evaluation effort was also conducted. Staff interviewed community police and other representatives to identify lessons learned in the success and failure of carrying out specific intervention activities.

The intended plan was to conduct observations of restraint use characteristics and ask drivers to answer questions about restraint use at every community shopping center at the two test sites plus the comparison site. However, the contractor was not granted permission to conduct observations and ask questions of property owners at every shopping center. A total of six observation sites (two per community) were selected for the data collection effort.

Use and proper use of child restraints were recorded by observing drivers who transported young children to community shopping centers. Field observers (working in teams of two) observed shoulder belt use of the drivers as they parked. When the driver came to a complete stop in a parking space, both field observers approached the vehicle; one field observer asked the driver some demographic and program queries while the other one observed the restraint system characteristics (position of child in restraint, presence of restraints, harness position, and crotch belt fastening). Once the driver and children left the vehicle, a field observer determined the SB routing on the CSS. Shoulder belt use data were also collected from the general public entering the shopping centers.

Observations were conducted during daylight hours, daily for 8 to 10 weeks during shopping center hours. Pre-intervention data were collected primarily from October to December 1990; and post-intervention data were collected primarily from October to December 1991.

Observers recorded time/date of observation, gender of driver, age of children, driver-reported weight of children, driver-reported trip behavior (time and distance from last stop), residency and zip code, position of children in vehicle, type of restraint (none, SB, CSS), full protection characteristics (CSS in proper position, harness in place, SB properly routed), driver restraint use, and type of vehicle.

٦

Driver query information recorded included knowledge of Pennsylvania's OR laws, perception of OR enforcement in community, attitudes toward OR enforcement, self-reported proper CSS use behavior, and awareness of CSS issues in community.

Field personnel participated in extensive training. The process involved classroom instructions on use and proper use characteristics of all types of child restraints (presented by AAP staff), a review of data collection policies and procedures, a review of NHTSA's "Guidelines for Observing CSS Use" (Ziegler 1987), field observation practice in a parking lot, and a full day of practice at a shopping center with real subjects. Coordinators worked with field personnel to assure accuracy and reliability of data collected and to discuss problems and difficulties in the data collection process.

Ŷ

2

રે

Other senior staff were involved with interviewing police and community representatives for the administrative evaluation.

SITES

Contract funding allocated to the evaluation effort accommodated two communities conducting the intervention projects and one community participating as a comparison site, which did <u>not</u> conduct any additional OR enforcement effort or any PI&E related to child passenger and occupant protection safety issues. The comparison site used in the study helped support statistical inference by representing what might have occurred in the test sites in the absence of the intervention program. If intervention sites showed statistically significant increases in CSS use and proper use, plus SB use, whereas the comparison site did not, stronger claims could be made about the effects of the interventions.

Candidate test communities were selected based on willingness of local police, community groups, and both local and regional state-affiliated highway safety groups supporting the goals of the project and agreeing to conduct intervention activities. The police had to believe in the importance of OR law enforcement and the benefits of promoting child passenger and occupant safety. In addition, they had to be willing to participate in the PI&E project and assist in documenting their involvement in the project. Community groups also had to believe in the importance of the OR enforcement project and want to participate in PI&E activities and data collection assignments. Support and assistance were also required from the local or regional Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT) highway safety and child passenger safety groups. Site selection involved an extensive recruitment process involving letters to police departments, follow-up telephone calls, personal visits, and follow-up visits to best candidate police departments.

Tredyffrin Township (Chester County) and Haverford Township (Delaware County) were the communities selected for the intervention project. Abington Township (Montgomery County) was selected as the comparison site. All three communities are located in suburbs of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. They are all midsize communities, ranging from about 30,000 to 55,000 in population. The 1987 per capita incomes of these communities fall within the middle range for all boroughs, cities, and townships in the Commonwealth (Pennsylvania State Data Center, 1990).

xiv

PROJECT ACTIVITIES

The project began with police instructors from both Tredyffrin and Haverford receiving 2½ days of training using NHTSA's OPUE program at the state police academy in Harrisburg in December 1990. State police and the Keystone Safety Belt Network (KSBN) of Traffic Safety Now, Inc. presented the program. The enforcement intervention activities (see Table 1) were in full swing by March 1991 and continued through the end of the year. The police in Tredyffrin and Haverford Townships conducted primarily routine enforcement, along with some selective enforcement efforts and publicized summer holiday safety campaigns. They made over 700 OR "contacts" (written warnings and citations) during the program. In Tredyffrin, 10.7 percent of the total citations and 20.9 percent of the total moving "point" citations were OR "contacts." In Haverford, 2.9 percent of the total citations and 9.9 percent of the total moving "point" citations were OR "contacts" (see Table 1). In Abington, the police did not conduct training and did not actively enforce the OR laws, as agreed for purposes of the study, before or during the project. From the pre-intervention to postintervention period, the police gave out only two SB citations for over 8,000 total citations (0.03 percent of total citations). Thus, the comparison site basically had no OR enforcement effort.

Activities	Tredyffrin	Haverford
OR Total "Contacts"	577	146
- SB Citations	184	9
- SB Written Warnings	351	121
- CSS Citations	36	5
- CSS Written Warnings	6	11
OR "Contacts" per Total Moving Violation Citations, %	20.9%	9.9%
OR "Contacts" per Total Citations, %	10.7%	2.9%
Enforcement Blitzes and Checkpoints	3	12

Table 1. Police enforcement activities.

Both Tredyffrin and Haverford police departments actively participated in the PI&E component of the project. No activities were conducted in Abington before or during the project. Their efforts concentrated on educating the public and children through the use of press conferences, press releases, educational programs at day-care centers and schools, promotional events, displays and setups at shopping centers, and CSS inspection clinics. Table 2 lists the PI&E activities conducted as part of the intervention project in both test communities.

xν

Police Activities	Tredyffrin	Haverford
Articles Published (from press releases)	6	12
Elementary/Middle School Visits	5	11
Lecture Programs (business/community groups)	72 hours	16 hours
Exhibits/Display Booths (at events, sidewalk sales)	37 hours	30 hours
Educational Material Distributed Fact Sheets Brochures	7,000 1,000	7,000 1,000
Promotional Items Distributed Teddy Bears Pins Stickers	300 500 5,000	1,300 750 5,000
"Vince & Larry": Buckle-Up Puppets Distributed	1,000	1,000
Media (TV) Announcements*	. 1	0
CSS Clinucs	0	2
Project Purchases (through PennDOT mini-grants)	3 CSS Video equipment rental	Vince and Larry crash- test dummy costumes
Community Activities		
Educational Material Distributed (packets)	2,500	700
Display Racks in Department Stores, Librarics, Day-Care Centers	13	11

Table 2. Police and community PI&E activities.

*Radio and television coverage was not used to avoid "intervention-contamination" in the comparison site. However, state and national media public service announcements were occasionally broadcast throughout the

Philadelphia metropolitan area during the intervention period.

RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

Observations of 4,562 drivers with young passengers and 5,859 young children were analyzed during the pre-intervention and post-intervention periods. These individuals were residents of the test and comparison site townships and the surrounding townships. In both pre-and post-intervention periods, the majority of the drivers were under age 39 (over 85 percent), were female (over 85 percent), and traveled less than 10 minutes (about 72 percent) and drove less than 3 miles (about 64 percent) from their last stop to the shopping centers where they were observed. In addition, many drivers reported that they frequently visited these shopping centers. About 75 percent of the drivers, across sites and periods, visited the observed shopping center more than once a week. The majority were observed in passenger cars, station wagons, or minivans.

£

Observed restraint use by the general public significantly improved after the intervention programs in the two test communities. Tredyffrin and Haverford's SB usage among the general public (drivers without young passengers) significantly improved after the intervention periods, whereas the comparison site dropped. Observed restraint use of drivers (with young passengers) also

improved in the test site communities, but not significantly. However, both test sites improved more than the comparison site (Abington). Drivers (with young passengers) had a much higher rate of SB usage than the general public in all three communities both before and after the projects.

Observed CSS use for toddlers significantly improved after the intervention projects in both test site communities. CSS use in the comparison site actually went down from the baseline rate. Observed CSS use for infants was very high (above 97 percent) in all communities before and after the projects. Table 3 identifies CSS use rates for both toddlers and infants. Observed full protection for toddlers also showed significant improvement in both test sites. The comparison site levels dropped from the baseline. (See Table 4.) In addition, observed parent compliance with the CSS laws for toddlers in Pennsylvania improved after the intervention programs in both test sites; however, only Haverford showed significant improvement. (See Table 5.)

CSS Use	Community		Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
-Toddiers (Ages 1 to 5)	Tredyffrin	% CSS use (Total N)	71.8 (703)	76.8 (637)	+5.0+
	Haverford	% CSS use (Total N)	60.9 (949)	71.4 (884)	+ 10.5*
	Abington †	% CSS use (Total N)	67.8 (743)	63.7 (433)	-4.1
Infants (Birth to age 1)	Tredyffrin	% CSS use (Total N)	97.8 (134)	99.0 (102)	+1.2
	Haverford	% CSS use (Total N)	98.1 (108)	99.3 (145)	+1.2
	Abington [†]	% CSS use (Total N)	99.1 (113)	97.6 (84)	-1.5

Table 3. Child safety seat use percentage for children under age 5, by community and survey period.

*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Community		Pre- intervention	Post- intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Tredyffrin	% fully protected (Total N)	67.0 (703)	72.8 (637)	+5.8*
Haverford	% fully protected (Total N)	57.5 (949)	69.3 (884)	+11.8*
Abington [†]	% fully protected (Total N)	63.4 (743)	59.1 (433)	-4.3

Table 4. Percentage of "fully protected"* toddlers (ages 1 to 5),by community and survey period.

*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

[†]Comparison site.

[†]AAP recommended guidelines.

Community		Pre- intervention	Post- intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Tredyffrin	% in compliance (Total N)	90.1 (574)	92.0 (526)	+1.9
Haverford	% in compliance (Total N)	80.1 (764)	90.0 (723)	+9.9*
Abington [†]	% in compliance (Total N)	86.2 (617)	85.8 (330)	-0.4

Table 5.	Percentage	of toddlers	restrained	in	compliance	
with CSS laws [†] of Pennsylvania.						

*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

[†]Comparison site.

[†]Children from birth to age 1 in CSS; children ages 1 to 4 in CSS in front seat, but may be in SB in back seat; children ages 4 to 5 may be in an SB.

Drivers (with young passengers) showed change in responses on topics of knowledge of Pennsylvania's CSS law, perception of local enforcement of OR laws, and self-reported behavior on proper use of CSS. With the exception of knowledge of the CSS laws, significant improvements were found after project interventions. Specific knowledge about the age requirements for CSS use in the back seat, as specified in the law, showed little change in all test and comparison sites before and after project interventions. Drivers of young children in both test site communities showed significant improvement in perception of enforcement of the OR laws in these communities. Tredyffrin and Haverford drivers of young children improved in their "very likely" or "somewhat likely" perception of getting a CSS citation. Abington (comparison site) drivers did not improve in this area; in fact, their level of perception dropped. Similarly, Tredyffrin and Haverford drivers improved in their

"very likely" or "somewhat likely" perception of getting an SB citation. Again, Abington (comparison site) drivers' level of perception dropped. Drivers of young passengers in Tredyffrin improved significantly in responding that they "always" put their children in CSSs properly. Driver response in Haverford for the same question showed little change. In Abington (comparison site), the "always" responses of drivers dropped.

Analysis of data revealed that drivers with young passengers were primarily women doing routine grocery and other shopping chores. Travel patterns indicated that most of the drivers with young passengers lived near the shopping centers and represented community residents. Reported residence and zip code data confirmed that the observed sample represented community residents, who were more likely to be exposed to programs conducted throughout the intervention period.

Results of the study showed significant improvements in restraint use by the general public and improvements in restraint use by drivers with young children. National restraint usage rates improved only slightly, from 53 percent to 55 percent, between the spring and fall of 1991 (NHTSA, 1991), which was the period of the intervention projects. The restraint usage rates improved over 6 and 9 percentage points in the two test communities and went down 2 percentage points in the comparison site, indicating a strong probability of being influenced by the intervention. On the other hand, even though the restraint usage rate of drivers with young children improved, it was not a statistically significant improvement, their rates started much higher, and they probably could not significar'ly improve their usage level with current program resources. (Tredyffrin's baseline SB usage rate improved from about 85 percent to 88 percent and Haverford improved from about 71 percent to 79 percent.) The field workers found that drivers with young children had much higher _ restraint use (post-intervention-85 percent, 79 percent, and 64 percent [comparison site]) than drivers without children in their vehicles (post-intervention-57 percent, 50 percent, and 46 percent [comparison site]). This "parental" characteristic was also evident in the relationship between drivers restrained and their children restrained. When drivers were observed in restraints, 97 percent of the toddlers were found to be in either a CSS or SB. However, when drivers were not in restraints, only 69 percent of the toddlers were in either type of restraint.

Even though Tredyffrin had higher enforcement contact levels than Haverford, all of the press releases in both test communities mentioned the enforcement component and CSS laws; some articles mentioned counts on the numbers of tickets and warnings given for OR violations. Thus, press coverage on enforcement may have been instrumental in increasing perception of enforcement in these communities, maybe even more important than the enforcement activities themselves. In addition, driver response to "always" properly using a CSS improved in both test communities. However, only Tredyffrin drivers showed significant improvement to the "always use CSS" response. Again, increased perception of a ticket—whether drivers believe that the police are knowledgeable on proper use compared with use—and awareness from PI&E intervention activities may have had enough influence for drivers with young passengers to report that they always use a CSS properly. Even if drivers falsified their responses, knowing what the correct response should be (i.e., "always" properly use a CSS) implies that their awareness of the correct response comes from project exposure.

Haverford showed more improvements than Tredyffrin in the measures of SB use by drivers with young children, CSS use and proper use for toddlers, and restraint use for older children (ages 5 to 9—data not presented). However, baseline SB and CSS use rates were much lower (10 percentage points) in Haverford, suggesting that this community has a lot of room for improvement. In addition, even though both test communities provided enforcement and PI&E activities throughout the intervention period, the level of effort, the complexity, and the mix of activities in each community make it difficult to determine which intervention elements in each community most strongly

xix

influenced behavior. Tredyffrin conducted a stronger enforcement effort with more staff training, higher police SB use (100 percent), and much higher numbers of written warnings and citations (3 times as many "contacts"). Its PI&E effort was active and was complete with kickoff events, press coverage, community display events, projects for the business and civic community, and even TV news coverage. However, Haverford's PI&E effort was more intensive. The community had more press coverage (twice as many newspaper articles) and a more comprehensive school/day-care education project, distributed more material at special events and during holidays, and even utilized outdoor signing at major roads in the township. Their enforcement effort was much lower, but they utilized more high-exposure, selective enforcement measures. They conducted training, but did not provide refresher training as Tredyffrin did, and their SB use was 87 percent. However, despite the different "mix" of enforcement and PI&E intervention activities in each community, significant improvements were evident in the key measures of CSS use and "full protection" rates among toddlers and SB use of the general public. Also, significant results were found in terms of driver perception of enforcement of the OR laws and driver acknowledgment of "always" using a CSS properly. Drivers with young children also improved in SB use and in their compliance with the OR laws of Pennsylvania.

ŝ

2

The results suggest that CSS use and proper use, as well as OR use in communities improved through:

- Moderate and intense levels of OR enforcement (including written warnings as well as citations for both CSS and SB violations).
- A comprehensive PI&E program (including frequent press newspaper coverage).
- Public events (including CSS inspection clinics).
- An education program directed at schools and day-care centers and the civic and business community.

PROJECT ADMINISTRATIVE EVALUATION

An administrative evaluation looked at the project's management direction, activities, and unique characteristics. It was felt that police could have provided closer supervision and more enforcement of SB and CSS laws to reach an even higher level of community SB and CSS use and proper use. Police had little difficulty following most of the model OR enforcement policy guidelines. Police were convinced that the SB law had to be a primary offense for enforcement levels to increase. Police needed assistance in maintaining PI&E activity level, especially press releases and distribution of material. Police could not be expected to conduct CSS inspection clinics alone. CSS advocacy groups would need to take the lead in conducting these clinics. However, police presence was important. Police needed greater awareness of promotional material provided by State Transportation departments. States would have to pass stronger OR enforcement laws to gain credibility needed for motivating police to enforce these laws. Communities could assist police in many PI&E activities, especially writing press releases, distributing project material, and conducting SB and CSS usage surveys.

RECOMMENDATIONS

While the project results are promising, these communities still have room for improvement in CSS use (77 percent and 71 percent) and proper use (73 percent and 69 percent) among toddlers and, as suspected, throughout the nation. (Future research needs to address the current usage and proper

XX

usage rates of CSS across the nation.) The SB use improved in these communities (58 percent and 50 percent) as well as throughout the state and nation. As of the fall of 1992, Pennsylvania's SB use average was 60 percent (PennDOT, 1992), and the national average by the end of December 1992 was 62 percent (Brownlee, 1993).

Future directions recommended for states seeking new ways to promote OR enforcement among community police departments include the following:

- Establish primary SB laws.
- Establish comprehensive OR enforcement curriculum in State police academy projects for new police recruits.
- Implement fine-only costs to secondary SB laws.
- Implement stronger "full protection" CSS laws.
- Print OR citation category on the standard traffic citation form.

4

- Recognize community OR projects that involve a strong enforcement component.
- Conduct in-person meetings with community police chiefs and traffic safety patrol supervisors to promote the State enforcement and OR usage goals.
- Continue statewide PI&E programs, using local and county-wide highway safety groups to assist local police with project components, especially the following:
 - Distributing educational material.
 - Conducting CSS inspection clinics.
 - Assisting in community safety events.
 - Monitoring project effectiveness.

For local police to successfully promote and increase use and proper use of CSS and other restraints in their communities, commitment must come from top command—an essential aspect in promoting project implementation. The project should include:

- Comprehensive training projects using established curriculum, SB policy with compliance measures, motivational techniques (such as roll-call reminders and enforcement cards) for enforcement, and an active OR enforcement and Pl&E effort.
- Dedicated traffic enforcement units.
- Realistic OR enforcement goals that are within reach of community police resources.
- Selective and routine OR enforcement techniques that are used and integrated into normal police activities.
- PI&E programs that include:
 - Information on OR laws, including fines and cost.
 - Enforcement activity in the community.
 - Distribution of educational material on CSS use and proper use for infants, toddlers, and other children, as well as general SB protection for the entire community; including schools and day-care centers.
 - Periodic evaluation of program effectiveness and recognition of police effort.

Community groups interested in OR protection can work with police in developing and conducting projects. These groups can promote resident awareness, draft press releases, distribute information, and volunteer time for field surveys.

In the research presented in this paper and the research and demonstration projects conducted over the last decade, the evidence points to enforcement of the OR laws combined with a strong PI&E

effort for improving SB and CSS use. Questions remain concerning how much enforcement is required to increase CSS use and proper use as well as all other types of OR use.

¥

How much PI&E is required, and what is the appropriate mix of enforcement and PI&E? Since most misusers already know they are not properly restraining their young passengers, how should current PI&E be revised to correct errors more effectively? How should PI&E persuasively emphasize enforcement and its consequences? How long does the project need to continue, and is a constant level of "routine" intervention needed to keep OR usage up?

What additional resources would it take to reach beyond nationally desired SB and CSS usage rates?

Other questions concern what levels of OR "contacts" are necessary to improve or maintain restraint and CSS usage levels.

- Is it 5 percent, 10 percent, or 20 percent of the total enforcement "contacts" in the community or jurisdiction?
- Should warnings be considered an acceptable substitute for citations, i.e. as effective in motivating desired changes in drivers' safety behavior?
- Do selective enforcement methods work better than routine patrol methods?
- Can community police be expected to set the same OR enforcement goals as State police?
- Can police be expected to determine misuse characteristics of CSSs?

In addition, another study should investigate and compare the relationship and effects of enforcement in states with secondary SB laws versus states with primary laws. The community police reported that the extra costs associated with the secondary citation, combined with the costs of the primary-violation conviction, inhibit them from ticketing, and thus they opt for warnings. The community police have also reported that states with a secondary law for SBs are sending a message that the law is not important enough for the states to make it a primary law. Thus, the local police claimed they were not sufficiently trained or motivated to treat the SB law as a high-priority enforcement objective.

1. INTRODUCTION

The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) brings a strong commitment to increased use and proper use of child safety seats (CSSs) throughout the nation, because CSSs have an impressive record of saving lives and preventing fatalities. During the late 1980s and early 1990s, the national CSS use rate for infants¹ and toddlers² surpassed 80 percent. However, <u>unrestrained</u> children under age 5 still represented two-thirds of all crash fatalities (614) in that age category (NHTSA, 1990).

The most recent national estimate of young children fully protected³ is only about 56 percent nationwide (Ziegler, 1989). Many young children, especially toddlers, are still riding in motor vehicles without properly installed or properly used CSSs. The most common misuses include seats improperly fastened into the seat of the car, children not occupying the seat of the car, children improperly fastened into the seats, and seats facing the wrong direction. Since misuse of CSSs cuts the safety effectiveness against severe and fatal injuries by about half, NHTSA sought out demonstration projects that would promote and increase proper CSS use for full protection of these young children, as well as promote CSS use in general.

NH ISA is convinced that the use of CSSs will decline unless child passenger safety laws receive strong enforcement. Experience with safety belt (SB) legislation in both the United States and foreign countries indicates that enforcement, when combined with publicity, is critical in keeping occupant restraint (OR) usage rates high. With these facts in mind, NHTSA has supported research to evaluate demonstration projects that have the long-term potential to improve CSS use and proper use (among a large proportion of drivers of young children, especially toddlers).

This project relied heavily on the police as enforcers and educators of CSS and SB laws and community players as educators on proper use of CSSs. The demonstration projects used the most current methods and trends in improving occupant protection for young children. Elements of the project included police enforcement, with ticketing and warnings on all OR laws (CSS and SB), combined with a public information and education (PI&E) project that stressed the enforcement component of the project, use and proper use of CSSs for all young children, and targeted child passenger safety messages geared to toddlers. In addition, general SB messages would be used for all community residents, especially parents with young children, since research supports the correlation between CSS use and driver SB use (Hletko, 1983; Wagenaar, 1988; Russell and Brackbill, 1992). The projects were conducted without the benefit of Federal government funding for police salaries, to demonstrate to police and other community groups that they can replicate these child passenger safety projects within their routine operations and own resources. It is hoped that they will encourage other police and community groups to participate in child passenger and SB projects.

9

¹ Young children under 1 year of age and under 20 pounds.

² Young children between the age of 1 and 5 and between 20 and 40 pounds.

³ NHTSA defined "full protection" in this 1989 study in which researchers observed children in moving vehicles. They counted the children facing the proper direction and harnessed in their safety seats and multiplied this number by the percentage of safety seats installed properly in vehicles observed in parking lots.

The specific project goals were:

Increase OR use for <u>all</u> infants and young children, especially those from age 1 to age 5, preferably with toddler or convertible seats (or at least SBs in the back seat, as required by Pennsylvania law, from age 1 to age 4).

Extend the use of toddler or convertible safety seats to the minimum recommended standards (approximately 20 pounds to 40 pounds or up to age 5), in the back seat where, by Pennsylvania law, only an SB is required.

(3)

(2)

Foster "full protection" and proper use of appropriate CSSs for children age 1 to age 5 for all trips, including local, short-distance rides.

Evaluating the effects of demonstration project activities consisted of analyzing data collected during pre- and post-intervention phases from observations of the use and proper use of CSSs and SB's, and from responses to queries that interviewers asked drivers with young children. Another assignment was to conduct an administrative audit on police and community support.

To reach the objectives of this project, researchers performed the following tasks:

- Review existing literature and program.
- Plan demonstration project.
- Develop site support and implementation materials.
- Collect and analyze baseline (pre-intervention) data.
- Intervene.
- Collect and analyze pre- and post-intervention data.
- Conduct administrative audit and evaluation of intervention activities.
- Prepare final report, executive summary.

2. BACKGROUND

This chapter presents characteristics of child safety seats (CSSs), occupant restraint (OR) laws and national usage rates, child passenger safety projects nationwide and local, a brief review of research studies and demonstration projects related to the subject, and the implications of past research and demonstration projects used for the project approach and evaluation design effort of this project.

CSS CHARACTERISTICS

This section identifies the types of CSSs, their use and proper use, and the common misuses observed and reported.

Seat Types

The four general types of CSSs consist of infant, convertible, toddler,⁴ and booster safety seats. The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) provides guidelines for the proper use of these seats. These guidelines revolve around the age and weight specifications of young children.

<u>Infant safety seats</u> are for children from birth to about 9 to 12 months or up to 20 pounds. The infant nust be facing the rear of the car in a semi-reclining position. The seat is connected to the safety belt (SB), which comes across the front of the seat.

<u>Convertible safety seats</u> are for use from birth to about 40 pounds. The seat reclines and faces rearward in the infant position and holds infants up to 20 pounds. It converts to sit upright and face forward for the toddler position; it holds toddlers from 20 to 40 pounds. Seat conversion usually involves adjusting the shoulder straps and rerouting the vehicle SB. Manufacturers provide instructions for converting the seat.

<u>Toddler safety seats</u> are for children from approximately 20 to 40 pounds and up to about age 4 or 5. Toddlers face forward only. This type of seat is not commonly used anymore; its successor is the more conventional, convertible seat.

<u>Booster safety seats</u> provide forward-impact protection for children who have outgrown convertible or toddler seats. A booster seat arrangement can incorporate the adult lap and shoulder belt. If lap and shoulder belts are not available, the vehicle lap belt alone works in conjunction with a special safety harness or shield. Without the special harness or shield, a booster seat used with a lap belt does not provide adequate protection. Booster seats are for children between age 4 (40 pounds) and age 8 (60 to 70 pounds) or as long as the child will fit.

Figure 1 shows the four general types of CSSs.

⁴ Toddler-only seats are no longer manufactured.



Figure 1. Types of child safety seats.

AAP provides an annual shopping guide listing manufacturers and models of CSSs that meet Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standard 213. The guide also provides harness type and adjustment information, special notes, and price range.

Proper Use

AAP recommendations⁵ for proper use of CSSs by seat type, seat direction, SB installation, and harness or shield are as follows:

Seat Type

<u>Infant seats</u> are for young children under 20 pounds. <u>Convertible seats</u> are suitable for both infants and toddlers up to 40 pounds. <u>Booster seats</u> are primarily for young children between 40 and 70 pounds.

Seat Direction

Infants who weigh under 20 pounds, generally less than age 1, and cannot sit up well should ride in either an infant car seat or a convertible car seat facing rearward. An infant car seat must always face backward, regardless of the child's weight. With this setup, the force from a crash falls across the infant's back and the neck cannot flex forward. Toddlers over 20 pounds should face forward.

⁵ The AAP also provides recommendations for correct CSS use for premature infants, small infants, and young children with physical disabilities. These recommendations are not in this report.

SB Installation

٠.

The way to route the vehicle SB through the car seat varies from model to model. Belt routes for infant seats are usually across the front of the child. Convertible car seats have different belt routes depending on whether they face forward or backward; booster seats should never use only a lap belt. Depending on the model, a booster seat may incorporate an auto lap and shoulder belt, and a harness supplied with an SB or a lap belt is secured across a shield that covers the child's body.

The SB should be tight. Testing the seat involves only pushing the car seat forward and backward. The seat should not move. If it does move, the seat needs to be pressed firmly into the auto seat cushion with the knee, then the belt tightened. If the belt has a windup reel, the webbing should feed back into the reel to take up the slack. For 3-point SB's, locking clips are the way to keep the web from slipping.

The buckle and latchplate of the belt should be on one side of the car seat, below the frame or toward the middle of the car seat, between the sides of the frame, allowing proper adjustment. If the buckle or latchplate lies just at the point where the belt must bend around the frame or through the slot of the seat, the belt will not tighten properly.

Harness or Shield

This device holds the child in the car seat, and the vehicle belt holds the seat in the car. Both must be snugly attached to prevent injury. A belt that is routed across the top of a car seat will not by itself protect the child. The harness or shield, or both, should close securely around the baby on every trip.

The CSS restraining system must be adjustable (see Figure 2). The shoulder harness (1) should go through the slots in the back of the seat, level with or just above the shoulders. The harness webbing (2) must lie flat (not twisted) and straps should be snug. When adjusting or rethreading the harness, the webbing should double back through a single adjustor slide attached to the frame. The crotch strap (3) should be kept short. If a retainer strap (4) or plastic clip is available, it should be level with the child's armpits to keep the harness from slipping off the shoulders. Shields should fit close to the child's body and always accompany a harness.





Common Misuse

Figure 3 shows common misuses of CSSs observed by researchers and educators and documented in the literature.

Harness not snug SB routed through wrong place SB not tight SB not connected to seat Infant facing forward Harness not used

Figure 3. Common misuses of child safety seats.

Child Safety Seat Usage Rates

The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) has sponsored child restraint observational studies as part of periodic observation studies of SB use and motorcycle helmet use in the 1980s. Observations focused on children (ages estimated by observers) in cars stopped at traffic signals that control traffic entering and leaving shopping centers in 19 U.S. cities. The three shopping centers selected in each city provided a mix of socioeconomic levels as well as sufficient traffic flow and good vantage points for conducting observations. Although the data collected were not statistically representative of all children in cars in the United States, it provided a reliable assessment of general trends in CSS use.

As of November 1991, NHTSA reported that infant seat use had reached 87 percent (n=893); toddler and booster seat use had reached 82 percent (n=5,569). These percentages were a dramatic increase from those reported a decade ago, when infant seat use and toddler seat use were only 40

percent and 19 percent, respectively. In the last few years ending in 1991, infant and toddler seat use has leveled off to around 80 to 85 percent, respectively.

٠.

In the early 1980s, NHTSA sponsored a study to determine incidence and factors associated with CSS misuse. The study group collected data on CSS use, misuse, and factors associated with specific types of misuse, in 10 cities across the country at a fast food restaurant. They found only 35 percent proper use for about 1,000 safety seats observed. However, about 22 percent of the sample showed misuse of CSSs with tether straps, which have now been discontinued. Moreover, the need for a tether strap has been functionally eliminated by manufacturers. In addition, they found that misuse of toddler seats did not appear to be related to the age of the child. However, misuse of the seats occurred more often when the driver was not belted (72 percent misuse) than when the driver was belted (51 percent misuse) (Cynecki and Goryl, 1984).

Currently, NHTSA does not report misuse characteristics of CSSs. However, from 1983 to 1988, measures of "proper" and "fully protected" use were attempted in conjunction with the nationwide (19-city) observation studies (Bowman and Rounds, 1989). From observing CSS use in vehicles stopped in traffic and at curbside and from looking at seat installation in unoccupied cars in parking lots of shopping centers, NHTSA (Ziegler, 1989) computed the estimated percentage of children who were probably fully protected. For 1988, the last year that data were computed, NHTSA estimated that 55.8 percent of children in cars were probably "fully" protected.⁶ This percenta₂ e represented an increase from 11 percent only 5 years earlier. However, the NHTSA data have drawbacks. The methodology used in computing "fully protected" usage rates assumes that the drivers of the parked vehicles with "properly installed" CSSs actually put their children in these seats and fastened the harnesses. Thus, the estimated "fully protected" rate was probably lower than 56 percent. Nevertheless, this data provided NHTSA with a measure of the percentage of children who were "fully protected."

The most recently collected data on proper CSS use come from Michigan (Streff and Molnar, 1990). Data collected across the State in May 1990, on a sample of 253 children from birth to age 3 (estimated), showed that 78.4 percent were restrained in a CSS, with 60.5 percent "correctly restrained." ("Correctly restrained" was not defined in the report.)

Safety Belt (SB) Usage Rates

NHTSA has also collected SB usage rates in 19 cities across the nation for about a decade. The last survey showed that the overall SB usage rate nationwide was 51 percent. For cities with state SB laws, the usage rate was 55 percent; and for cities without state SB laws, the usage rate was 35 percent (NHTSA, November 1991). (Residents of states with SB laws show much higher compliance with SB use.)

- ⁶ This estimation is based on the following computation:
 - a = children in CSSs (percentage based on cars containing children during observation):
 83.5 percent
 - b = children harnessed and facing proper direction in CSSs (percentages based on number of children observed in CSSs): 85.4 percent
 - c = proper installation (percentage based on CSSs in unoccupied cars observed in parking lots): 78.2 percent
 - d = b x c estimated overall proper CSS use: 66.8 percent
 - a x d = estimated fully protected children in cars: 55.8 percent
 - 7

LAWS AND PROGRAMS

This section examines the OR laws for child passengers and adults in the United States, then briefly identifies child passenger safety projects, across the nation and in Pennsylvania, the state where the demonstration project was conducted.

Occupant Restraint Laws

All 50 states have passed primary laws requiring children under specified ages to be restrained in infant carriers, special CSSs, or, sometimes, regular adult SBs (IIHS, 1991). These laws cover children of specified ages in virtually all kinds of motor vehicles. In 16 states, the laws cover only children traveling in vehicles registered in the state. The majority of the states declare the driver of the vehicle responsible for the child. Seven states hold only the parent, guardian, or owner of the vehicle responsible.

For infants under 1 year of age, CSSs are required (in the front or back seat) in 48 states. However, for toddlers age 1 to age 5, CSS requirements vary by age and seat position. In 1992, 40 States allowed children between age 1 and age 4 or 5 to wear adult SBs in the front, back, or both.

Fine: for violating CSS laws vary across the states. However, 41 States have fines ranging from \$10 to \$50. The remainder of the states have fines ranging mainly from \$75 to \$100, but some as high as \$500. Court and other state costs may be added to the fine, depending on the State. Waivers - from paying fines and costs may be allowed in some States if the person fined provides proof of a CSS purchase.

Pennsylvania has a child passenger safety law (primary enforcement section 4581 A1 child restraints) (Figure 4) and a SB use law (secondary enforcement section 4581 A2 SB law). The child passenger safety law was initiated on November 1, 1983, and amended on November 23, 1987.

PRIMARY ENFORCEMENT SECTION 4581 A1 CHILD RESTRAINTS

- 1. All drivers transporting children from birth to age 4 are responsible to restrain those children in the appropriate restraint system.
- 2. Infants from birth to age 1 must be in an approved child safety seat. The seat may be in any seating position equipped with a seat belt in the vehicle. (However, for maximum protection, the back seat is preferable.)

- 3. Children from 1 to 4 may be in a child safety seat anywhere in the vehicle or in a seat belt in the back seat only.
- 4. Violators may be fined up to \$25.00, plus \$17.50 court costs, \$30.00 CAT Fund and \$10.00 EMS Fund. The fine may be waived by showing proof of purchase and possession of a child safety seat at the time of court appearance.
- 5. Violators may be stopped as a primary offense for noncompliance with the Child Passenger Protection Act.
- 6. Fines collected will be placed in a fund used to purchase child safety seats for car seat loaner programs.
- 7. Civil immunity for lenders of car seats has been granted. No person or organization who lends car seats shall be liable for any civil damages resulting from any acts or omission, except any act or omission intentionally designed to harm or any grossly negligent act or omission resulting in harm to another.
- 8. Hospitals are required to notify parents of the car seat law and also the location of car seat loan programs in the community.
- 9. An education program shall be conducted to insure maximum distribution of information about the law.

Figure 4. Pennsylvania child passenger safety law.

In 1991, SB use laws existed in 43 States. SB laws in most states cover front-seat occupants only. Only 9 states have primary enforcement laws (i.e., police may stop and ticket motorists solely for failure to use belts). In the remainder of states (34), including Pennsylvania, secondary enforcement laws are in place (i.e., police may not enforce the SB law in the absence of another primary offense). Figure 5 shows the Pennsylvania SB law.

SECONDARY ENFORCEMENT SECTION 4581 A2 SEAT BELT LAW

٢.

- 1. Each driver and front-seat passenger operating a passenger car, class I and II truck, or motor home in the State of Pennsylvania shall wear a properly adjusted and fastened safety belt.
- 2. The driver of a passenger automobile shall secure or cause to be secured with a safety belt any child over the age of four and under the age of 18 riding in the front seat.
- 3. Violators, if convicted of the primary offense for which the vehicle was stopped, are liable to pay a \$10 fine for the seat belt violation.
- Exceptions to the Law are made for (1) those with medical or psychological diagnoses that make them unable to wear a safety belt (written verification must be produced);
 (2) occupants of cars manufactured before July 1, 1966; (3) specific occupational designations.

(Additional costs are \$10 for Emergency Medical Services (EMS), \$30 for catastrophic insurance (CAT), and \$1.50 for judicial court program (JCP).

Figure 5. Pennsylvania safety belt law.

National Child Safety Seat Programs

CSS organizations grew out of grass-roots community groups in the 1960s and 1970s. These groups promoted public awareness of child passenger safety and lobbied for legislation protecting young children in moving vehicles. Today, many CSS organizations have sprung up across the United States. They have primarily been organized out of medical groups (e.g., AAP) and health groups (e.g., National Safe Kids, Inc. United Way/Red Cross), and State projects. Federal and State funding has supported a number of these organizations. These projects often provide extensive assistance in the area of child passenger and OR safety, including distribution of educational materials, car seat loaner programs, lectures/speaking engagements, CSS inspection clinics, and demonstrations, exhibits, and display booths.

The private business sector also provides CSS projects. Some insurance companies (such as Allstate) have begun to offer incentives for car owners who use CSSs and provide national TV coverage promoting CSS use. A few hospitals have begun to offer free car seats as a means of obtaining new obstetrics business. An automotive repair company and a CSS manufacturer conduct a "Safe Baby" program that provides CSSs at cost to the general public. A toy manufacturer puts CSS and SB messages into "crash dummies" toy products, and a retail store puts SB messages on its paper floor-mat protectors, which are a gift to customers who have used the auto repair department. Several car companies have even built in (optional) toddler restraints in the back center seat of certain vans and sedans.

Pennsylvania Child Safety Seat Programs

Under the direction of the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation's (PennDOT's) Center for Highway Safety, the Pennsylvania Chapter of AAP operates the Traffic Injury Prevention Project (TIPP). TIPP provides extensive public information and education (PI&E) programs on child passenger safety. In addition, the program group provides CSS inspection clinics and conducts lectures for all types of groups that request assistance on the topic. They also loan films, distribute literature and brochures to the public, and provide information on the CSS loaner projects spread extensively throughout the State.

In addition, PennDOT's Center for Highway Safety supports both local (county) and regional comprehensive highway safety projects. These community-based projects are another effort to reduce the number of crashes, injuries, and deaths by addressing highway safety issues such as occupant protection, driving under the influence (DUI) awareness, and pedestrian safety. The projects try to reach this goal through public awareness campaigns. Intervention strategies targeted five particular groups—schools, community and family, health care, law enforcement, and the workplace.

Free information, in the form of brochures, posters, and audiovisual materials, is available on all highway safety issues. The comprehensive highway safety coordinators are available to help plan and participate in events or to speak on any of these topics. In addition, through these groups, mini-grant funds a available for police departments and community groups to help defray costs of materials and programs on child passenger safety, occupant protection, and other highway safety topics. These grants usually range from \$300 to \$500.

At the time of the project, another prominent organization was the Keystone Safety Belt Network (KSBN). Founded by the Pennsylvania Chapter of the American College of Emergency Physicians, KSBN was supported by the automobile industry through Traffic Safety Now, Inc. KSBN provided PI&E on topics concerning occupant protection. It was a leader in lobbying to make the SB law primary and provided police departments throughout the Commonwealth with enforcement cards and instruction in NHTSA's Occupant Protection Usage and Enforcement (OPUE) workshops. KSBN coordinated many of its activities with PennDOT. (They are no longer in existence.)

RESEARCH STUDIES AND DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS

This section briefly reviews some of the research studies and demonstration projects that have evaluated the effectiveness of interventions, activities, and projects to promote use and proper use of CSSs.

Legislation Evaluation

Many research teams have evaluated the impact of legislation on the use and proper use of CSSs. For NHTSA, the University of Tennessee conducted one of the earliest efforts at evaluating the effectiveness of legislation on the use of CSSs (Perry et al., 1980; Heathington, Philpot, and Perry, 1982). Legislation passed in Tennessee in 1977 (effective January 1, 1978) requires children under 4 years of age who are traveling in motor vehicles to be restrained in these child-restraint devices. (Tennessee was the first State to pass such legislation.) An extensive PI&E project complemented the legislation. The researchers established two levels of PI&E projects in conjunction with the legislation. A basic State plan included the distribution of brochures and posters at hospitals, pediatric offices, and other places frequently visited by parents with small children. A comprehensive plan involved a mass-media approach and loaner projects. The researchers targeted five urban and

three nonurban areas in three distinct geographic divisions of Tennessee. Data collection included observations, personal interviews, self-administered questionnaires, and analysis of the accident and fatality rates for a 2-year period. Results showed a significant increase in CSS use after implementation of the law, a PI&E program promoting child passenger safety, and a law enforcement project. The Statewide estimated percentage of use went from a baseline of 9.2 percent to 13.6 percent for the basic State plan and 17.4 percent use for the comprehensive plan.

Rhode Island was the second State to require CSS use (in front seats of vehicles only). The Insurance Institute for Highway Safety (IIHS) evaluated the effects of the Rhode Island law through the same observational techniques followed in the Tennessee studies (Williams and Wells, 1981). However, IIHS evaluated proper (SB and harness system in place) use of the restraints, not just use. Evaluation of the effect of the law after 4 months showed an increase in the proportion of children properly restrained (from 22 percent to 35 percent) and an increase in proper CSS use for both the front and rear seats. The control group (Massachusetts) also showed an increase in proper child restraint use, but not at the significant levels observed in Rhode Island. IIHS concluded that the law appeared to have moderately increased the accident protection of children in motor vehicles; it also appeared to have increased the proportion of CSS use in rear seats despite the fact that the law does not require rear-seat restraints.

To evaluate the effects of a child restraint law, the Michigan Office of Highway Safety Planning sponsor 1 a study of restraint use and occupant injuries in accidents in 1982 (Wagenaar, 1984). The study, performed by the University of Michigan's Transportation Research Institute, was designed to determine whether the child restraint law reduced the number of young children being injured in crashes. The study did not measure the rates of proper use of CSSs. In addition, the law allowed children between the ages of 1 and 4 to be restrained by an adult lap SB or CSS. (Lap-belt use by a child under age 4 would be defined as improper restraint use in most studies.) However, the researchers noted that restraint use increased as the child went from age 1 to age 3 (from 12 percent to 36 percent, respectively) and that the number of children injured in crashes decreased by 17 percent.

The Borgess Medical Center in Kalamazoo, Michigan also collected use and proper (position of seat only) use data on a sample of Michigan drivers with children (Hletko and Hletko, 1983). The researchers collected data on pre-law and post-law use and proper use at a pediatric center and a community parking lot and found a slight increase in infant seat use at the pediatric center after passage of the law. The increase of CSS use in the community parking lot was very significant. However, proper use showed only a minor increase. The researchers noted that the law can be effective in recruiting new CSS users as well as maintaining present CSS users, but enactment of the law does not ensure correct CSS use.

Observations of child restraint use in 12 Texas cities before and after child passenger safety legislation revealed that child restraint use increased significantly from pre-law to post-law (Hatfield et al., 1986). However, proper use rates did not increase, and the researchers concluded that education was the way to promote awareness of the safety issues for using CSSs and the importance of proper use.

Most of the research on the effects of legislation on the use and proper use of CSSs has found a short-term CSS use increase after child restraint legislation is passed. (Programs with education components integrated with the legislation have also increased CSS use.) However, proper CSS use rates do not seem to increase with just the passage of legislation.

Education Projects

A number of research projects have evaluated the effectiveness of education projects in promoting proper use of CSSs. These projects have focused primarily on infant seat use. Many have operated in conjunction with seat rental projects, and some have coincided with child restraint use legislation. The projects to increase infant seat use have utilized prenatal education instruction in a health maintenance organization (HMO) setting, interhospital CSS education projects, hospital postpartum projects, and pediatric counseling.

č

Studies conducted in the late 1970s concentrated on educational approaches aimed at increasing CSS use through in-hospital educational projects (for postpartum women). A study sponsored by the IIHS (Reisinger and Williams, 1978) evaluated the effectiveness of using five levels of education: literature, low-priced CSSs and delivery/demonstration, personal discussion with a "health educator," a free CSS with delivery demonstration, and a combination of these projects. The effects of these projects on the group were compared with the behavior of a comparison group that received no treatment. Results showed that all of these projects increased the extent of CSS use, but did not increase the proper use of these seats. The researchers suggested that educators encourage more active, voluntary cooperation of parents. They also suggested that manufacturers develop CSSs which would be less difficult to use properly.

III 3-supported study examined the effect of a pediatrician's counseling on restraint use during the 1-, 2-, 4-, and 15-month well-child-care visits (Reisinger et al., 1981). At each age level, pediatricians counseled parents on the proper use of CSSs. They demonstrated proper use of these devices, showing how to route the SB and change seat positions. Observations took place as the parents entered the parking areas of the office for the well-child-care visits. Results showed that proper use of restraints in the experimental groups for all four age groups was at a higher rate than in a comparison group that received no special pediatric counseling on proper CSS use. The researchers concluded that pediatricians can be effective in increasing the protection of infants in cars. They recommended child passenger safety education for parents at each doctor visit to maintain proper and consistent levels of child passenger safety.

Another study conducted by the Borgess Medical Center in Kalamazoo, Michigan, examined the effect of a child restraint device education and rental project using postpartum medical office visits for CSS education (Hletko et al., 1983). Evaluation of project effectiveness focused on observations of CSS use by parents (educated during postpartum visits) who were returning to the Center for other reasons. Results of the study showed that the parents who received postpartum education and took advantage of CSS rental were more likely to restrain their infants correctly than those parents who received the same maternity-floor presentation but did not rent a CSS. The researchers suggested that parents get a review of correct CSS use at the 9-month child-care visit so as to reinforce correct CSS use for their child.

The University of North Carolina, Highway Safety Research Center (Hall and Council, 1979) also conducted a study using education by pediatricians. They conducted observational surveys of CSS use by parents who were educated by pediatricians, and they observed two control groups, parents not educated by pediatricians and the general public. For this educational campaign, pediatricians distributed posters, pamphlets, shopping guides of CSS use between those who received the educational studies showed no significant differences in CSS use between those who received the educational program of the pediatricians and the two control groups. In addition, misuse rates had not changed.

Many evaluation studies of rental and loaner projects have been performed in conjunction with education. A number of these projects have also distributed CSSs. Some of these projects have not increased the proper use of CSSs. Reisinger and Williams (1978) have shown no increase in the persistent proper use of infant CSSs by parents given education and free CSSs versus parents given education only.

٠.

A recent documented evaluation did not report an increase in child restraint use after education projects. Chang et al. (1989) conducted a patient education project consisting of individual counseling by pediatricians, use of audiovisual materials and pamphlets, and (for newborn infants) a home visit by a child safety specialist. Parking lot observations on a sample of 1,425 families revealed over 60 percent CSS use in both intervention and comparison group children 1 to 4 years of age after the project. However, increases in the intervention groups were not significantly greater than increases in the comparison group. The results of the study did not show the anticipated results of an effective project. The researchers suggest that the intervention efforts were not substantive enough, the test groups were not exposed to all of the interventions, and usage rate for infant groups were already high in the intervention and comparison group.

Most of the demonstration projects on CSS use and proper use focus on parents with infants and very young toddlers. These projects, conducted by pediatric/health center groups, had the advantage of sample populations who routinely came back to the centers for well-child visits. Thus, it was fairly eas: to observe changes in CSS use with the same sample groups since they returned for routine scheduled well-child visits. These studies showed improvement in CSS use, but not in proper use. The one documented evaluation from the late 1980s did not show CSS use improvement with-a large sample of infants and toddlers.

Enforcement Projects

By the mid 1980s, CSS legislation was in effect in every state.

Post (1984 and 1986) reported on a project conducted by the Glendale (California) Police Department. Aggressive enforcement was combined with a comprehensive CSS education program and other community public awareness activities. Once the project was initiated, the community experienced a significant reduction in accidents resulting in injury or death to young children and infants. In addition, violations by local residents dropped 40 percent. Post concluded that the program had a significant impact on the thinking and habits of the residents.

A recent NHTSA-sponsored effort involved an evaluation of enforcement and PI&E projects designed to increase use and proper use of CSSs in nine communities across the nation. Police departments were given \$5,000 incentive grants to conduct the following activities: officer training using NHTSA projects; a PI&E campaign; and occupant protection law enforcement. About 5,800 passenger vehicle observations of CSS use and proper use took place before and after grant activities in only three communities which actually issued citations. A 6 percentage-point increase in proper use was observed although overall CSS use rates did not increase. However, a factor to note is that enforcement of the CSS laws occurred only during selected periods and on overtime using mini-grant support funds. Enforcement of the CSS laws was not conducted during routine patrols (Prism, 1989).

More studies have evaluated the enforcement effects for violating SB laws than for violating solely child passenger protection laws (IIHS, 1985; Rood et al., 1987; Peltier, 1990; Mounce et al., 1990, Streff et al., 1992). These projects have shown that implementing SB enforcement projects with PI&E does increase SB use. In order to keep the SB use high, these communities must conduct periodic PI&E projects and continue enforcement to maintain the public's perception of enforcement and the need to use ORs.

From the encouraging results on many OR projects in which enforcement was a key intervention element, NHTSA developed enforcement guidelines for conducting child passenger protection projects (Smith and Moran, 1989). Key recommendations for more effective enforcement projects included the following components:

- Police department training on the benefits of using occupant protection and enforcing occupant protection laws.
- Police department policy requiring the use of SBs in police vehicles.
- Community support—including schools and local businesses.

ι.

- Integration of occupant protection enforcement into regular traffic safety enforcement.
- Active enforcement.
- Aggressive PI&E to create and increase awareness of the enforcement efforts and the benefits of occupant protection in the community.

Project Implications

A multiple-activity community intervention project was specifically devised for this project. The project centered around enforcement of the CSS and SB laws. Its underpinnings were project requirements, literature assessment (e.g., research studies, demonstration projects, and government recommendations), and current information on techniques for promoting occupant protection.

Police enforcement components deemed necessary included:

- NHTSA OPUE training of police instructors.
- In-house training by the OPUE trained instructors (for police who will be involved with OR enforcement).
- Adoption of SB policy for Police department employee and periodic checks on their SB use.
- Enforcement⁷ of Pennsylvania's OR laws.
 - Enforcement during routine and selective periods, including blitzes without external funding allocations.

⁷ It was recommended that the police aim for the goal of 10 to 20 percent OR citations of the total or total "moving" (point) citations. (This percentage was based on recent enforcement levels reached in California.)
Police PI&E activities deemed necessary included:

- Press conferences, local newspaper coverage concerning enforcement, and other project activities.
- Periodic press releases from the police department emphasizing the enforcement project (tickets and warnings), proper use of CSSs, and other safety benefits of using child restraints and SBs.
 - Projects on the benefits of child passenger protection devices and ORs. These projects included the distribution of literature, brochures, stickers, and other promotional items. Programs were conducted at schools and day-care centers, at community shopping centers, and at holiday or other special events.

Community and State support was also deemed necessary and included:

- Distributing literature at target audience locations (fast-food restaurants, day-care centers, libraries, retail stores).
- Providing literature, brochures, posters, stickers, and other material to the police (e.g., enforcement cards).
- Conducting CSS inspection clinics.

3. RESEARCH AND DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGIES

This section identifies the research and data collection methodology used for evaluating the demonstration projects. The section on research methodology discusses the evaluation features and the statistical analysis plan; the section on data collection methodology addresses the tools, training procedures, and data collection techniques.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The primary analysis issue addressed in this study was:

When police enforce the occupant restraint (OR) laws and organize public information and education (PI&E) activities, what effect do they have on child safety seat (CSS) use and proper use as well as OR use in the community?

Two secondary issues were also addressed as a way to explore the primary issue fully:

What effect does the intervention project have on a driver's knowledge of the OR law, perception of OR enforcement, self-reported behavior, and awareness of CSS issues?

What level of police enforcement and PI&E activities is necessary to demonstrate a significant change in CSS use and proper use plus safety belt (SB) use in the community?

To answer these questions, field staff collected data during pre- and post-intervention periods. In several shopping centers, they observed OR use (including CSS use and proper use) and asked drivers (with young children) to answer queries on OR laws, perception of OR enforcement, OR use behavior, and awareness of community OR programs.

Four categories of field data collected were: (1) site and driver-reported demographic information, (2) observed child and driver restraint use and proper use, (3) driver responses to queries, and (4) shoulder belt observations of the general public.

Site and driver-reported demographic information collected was as follows:

- Shopping center location and observation area.
- Weather condition of day, and date and time of observation.
- Vehicle type, license plate number.
- Driver's gender, age category.
- Driver's residence and postal zip code.
- Driver's travel behavior.
- Driver's knowledge of child passengers' ages and approximate weights.

Observed child and driver restraint use information collected was as follows:

Driver's SB use.

- Restraint type (SB, CSS, and no restraint) use of all other occupants, by seat position.
- CSS type (infant, toddler, or convertible or booster).

٢.

Proper and misuse level of CSS (seat position, SB connection, harness in place).

Drivers with young child passengers were asked brief questions on the following topics:

- Knowledge of CSS and SB laws in Pennsylvania.
- Perception of police enforcing CSS and SB laws.
- Self-reported behavior on proper use of CSSs.
- Self-reported behavior on frequency of driver SB use.
- Awareness of CSS issues.

A sample of the general public entering the shopping centers was also observed for SB use.

To answer the secondary issue relating to levels of enforcement and PI&E intervention, field staff collected information on police management activities (relating to the project), the level of OR training and enforcement activities, the level of PI&E activities, the court disposition of citations, and other components of the intervention project. Police, local/regional highway safety groups, and commun'y residents also gathered this information, which was used for administrative evaluation and implications. The contractor also observed events to document project activities.

The evaluation design involved one intervention phase, an assessment of the interventions at two different sites, and the use of a comparison site. The following illustrates this multiple-site, multiple-activity design:

Observation Period	Intervention Site A	Intervention <u>Site B</u>	Comparison Site
Baseline	0	0	0.
Intervention	X + Y	X + Z	0

Key

0: pre-project OR enforcement

X: PI&E

Y: law enforcement level 1

Z: law enforcement level 2

The original plan involved comparisons of different intervention levels of OR enforcement and consistent PI&E activities. However, it was not possible to preset or control levels of OR enforcement with the police or to control many of the community PI&E activities in either intervention site. In fact, both police departments were uncomfortable with setting expected levels of enforcement. NHTSA suggested setting OR citation goals at 10 to 20 percent of all citations or all moving ("point") citations. As the activities proceeded, the number of citations given by the two police departments was quite different (defined as level 1 and 2 in the design), and this difference was reflected in the project evaluation.

The hypothesis for the evaluation design was that exposure to the enforcement and PI&E intervention would increase the following:

- Use of child restraints and SBs for all infants and young children.
- Use and proper use of toddler seats.
- Compliance with Pennsylvania's CSS law.
- Knowledge about Pennsylvania's CSS law and proper use of toddler seats.
- Perception about the police enforcing the OR laws.
- Positive attitudes about CSS use and proper use.

The statistical analyses involved computing proportions and the difference in proportions and associated confidence intervals. Appendix A provides a description of sample size determination and statistical analysis methodology.

DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY

A data collection form (see Appendix B) was developed for gathering data on CSS use and proper use and SB use at community shopping centers. The data collection form included space for recording responses to the questions on the front of the form and space for recording observation data on the back of the form. Conducting the observations/queries required two data collectors. One data collector asked the questions, and the other conducted the observation. Observation data were recorded separately, and the data collector transcribed the results of the observation onto the back of the data collection form upon conclusion of the interaction with the driver.

Queries were numbered, and response codes were incorporated into the form so that the data collector could circle the response or write in information. Observation data were arranged in a tabular format by checking seat position in the row column and observation characteristics in the column categories. At the observation, the data collector would put a number code in the appropriate row and column space.

Forms

The pre-intervention form consisted of 19 queries on the front side and the observation data on the back (Appendix B-1). The form was constructed to allow mail-back of the query responses only. Drivers who wanted to respond in this manner would get postage.

The post-intervention form consisted of 28 queries, including all of the queries on the preintervention form (Appendix B-3). Additional queries related to specific intervention activities, which were determined after analysis of the pre-intervention data and progress of the intervention activities. Observation data (back side of form) did not change for the post-intervention period. The mail-back option was not part of this form, since only a small sample of the pre-intervention group used the mailing option. Both forms were pilot-tested in the field, during training sessions with the data collectors.

In addition, a third form was used to collect shoulder belt use of the general public (i.e., drivers of vehicles entering shopping centers). This form consisted of four columns: observation number, vehicle license number, driver gender, and shoulder belt use (1-Yes or 2-No). The form also included location, date, and time of observation. The structure of the form made data collection in the field swift, accurate, and easy to enter.

Data Collector Training

Prior to the training sessions of data collectors, contractor staff attended a CSS seminar presented by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and sponsored by the regional highway safety projects. This seminar covered different types of seats, CSS compatibility, rear seat lap belts, older CSSs, use of locking clips, booster seat controversy, new products and accessories, and main misuses—seat direction, size of child in CSS, threading an SB, and harness slack. In addition, staff worked with the Traffic Injury Prevention Project (TIPP) in preparing the training session and developing the training material.

The training process involved (1) distributing the training kit to the data collectors and field supervisors prior to training; (2) conducting an in-house "classroom-style" training session which involved an explanation of the project, instruction on types of CSSs and misuse patterns, and instruction on data collection techniques and methods of obtaining the data; (3) conducting a pilot test of the data collection forms and techniques; and (4) providing field instruction on the daily data collection routine.

The training kit included a procedures manual on the purpose of the project, data elements, instructions for data collection, and scheduling of field work; NHTSA's "Guidelines for Observing Child Safety Seat Use" (Ziegler, 1987); and various CSS and SB brochures. Data collectors, selected with assimance from the police and community residents, were told to familiarize themselves with this material before the in-house training session.

The classroom session included a discussion (given by the contractor and a member of TIPP) on the following topics:

- Background and purpose of the project and data collection effort.
- Descriptions of CSS use and misuse characteristics. A member of TIPP demonstrated the proper-use and misuses of CSSs. A selection of CSSs and infant, toddler, and booster seat props were on hand to demonstrate misuse and proper use features.
- Use of the data collection form.
- Procedures on making observations, asking drivers questions, and recording the data.
- Logistics of performing the clerical chores, checking with field supervisors, verifying and tallying the daily data records, and other tasks.

Upon completion of the classroom training, data collectors went to a parking lot at the office and saw a demonstration of techniques for observing and approaching drivers who are about to park. Once the data collectors seemed comfortable with the process, they were given on-site training.

Each data collector received 4 to 6 hours of on-site training by the field supervisors. During the on-site training period, the field supervisors monitored the performance of the data collectors. The field supervisors examined the personality and interaction techniques of the data collectors, then used these observations to determine the best roles for each field worker.

Observation Procedures

Shopping centers^{*} selected for the study and specific vantage points for conducting the observations were identified. Choices were based on safety of field workers, traffic flow, and areas in the shopping center that would have the highest probability of attracting the sample population (e.g., grocery stores). The ideal vantage points were those where field workers (observers) could see vehicles with child passengers entering a parking lot and had time to approach the vehicle before the driver had parked, turned off the car, and unfastened the children from restraints. Four to six data collectors went to each shopping center, working in two-person teams. The field supervisors went from shopping center to shopping center, assisting in spotting and observations. Field workers wore a photo identification badge with the contractor's address, and they carried a clipboard with a "Community Project" sign on the back. In addition, each field worker carried permission letters from the shopping center owners and the police departments.

The following procedures were used in collecting observation and query data from a driver (with young child passengers):

- Select "target" vehicle entering the shopping center.
- Approach passenger vehicle.
- Identify yourself, briefly explain project to the driver, and request permission to ask questions.
- Ask questions and record responses. (Observer Two, look through the back left-side w dow seat and record the position of children, restraint use and type of restraint, harness position and direction of CSSs, and restraint use of driver.)
- Thank driver. Give driver a "Thank you" sticker.
- Record additional information after driver and children have left their vehicle (SB fastened to CSS, license plate number, and type of vehicle).
- Merge data from Observer Two onto one form and verify accuracy.
- Move into position to wait for next driver with young children.

Supervisors performed managerial duties in the field. They were responsible for supplying the field workers with coding forms, overseeing the techniques used by field workers, collecting the forms, and verifying the completeness of the data.

Observations of shoulder belt use of the general driving public were conducted at entrances to the community shopping centers. Observers stood on the corners near the entrances and observed the driver observations of every fifth vehicle driver that went into the shopping center. Observations were conducted throughout the whole week, including weekends. (In general, drivers with young children were a very small percentage of all observed motorists.)

Field data were computerized at the contractor's office. Verification programs ensured that data were accurately transcribed.

⁸ Only two of the four community shopping centers in Tredyffrin were used because one did not give permission and the other did not represent a local "community" shopping center. Both Haverford Township shopping centers were used. Three out of four of Abington's shopping centers were used. The shopping center not used was ruled out because it was not a neighborhood community center.

4. SITES

This chapter first presents the criteria used to identify test and comparison sites that would best fit the expected intervention and evaluation needs of the selected project. The next section reviews the process of narrowing this group, and the final selection describes the three townships selected.

SELECTION CRITERIA PROCESS

Candidate community sites had to meet similar criteria, including:

- (1) Police and community support.
- (2) Socioeconomic and community profile characteristics.
- (3) Logistical requirements.

Police and Community Support

The candidate community sites had to have police, community groups, and both local and regional comprehensive highway safety groups supporting the goals of the project and agreeing to conduct intervention activities. First, the police had to believe in the importance of occupant restraint (OR) law enforcement and the safety benefits of promoting child passenger and occupant safety in motor vehicles. In addition, they had to be willing to participate in the public information and education (PI&E) program and assist in documenting their involvement in the program.

Community groups had to believe in the importance of the OR enforcement project and want to participate in PI&E activities and data collection assignments.

Support and assistance were also required from the local or regional Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT)-affiliated comprehensive highway safety and child passenger safety groups. These groups had to be part of the project because they could provide most of the resource and promotional material for the PI&E activities, organize occupant protection and child passenger safety education programs, conduct child safety seat (CSS) inspection clinics, and assist in other project-related intervention activities.

Socioeconomic and Community Profile Characteristics

Sites had to have similar socioeconomic and demographic characteristics, populations, and residential and commercial profiles in order to support the research design and sample size requirements for the data collection and evaluation effort.

Communities selected for socioeconomic criteria had a per capita income within the mid-range for all communities (boroughs, cities, or townships) in Pennsylvania because communities at this socioeconomic level were likely to represent the typical community nationwide. In addition, communities needed at least 1,000 toddlers to meet statistical sample size requirements for the data collection effort. The Pennsylvania Department of Education estimated that about 3 to 5 percent of the population is below age 5 in urban-suburban communities of Pennsylvania. To support the toddler sample size, candidate communities needed a population of at least 25,000. About 30 communities in Pennsylvania met the mid-range per capita income and population requirements. In addition, the candidate sites should be predominantly residential and have community shopping centers that local residents with young children would frequently visit.

Logistical Requirements

(3)

Candidate sites selected needed to be within a reasonable travel distance from the contractor's office so that staff could efficiently monitor the demonstration projects and data collection activities at the shopping centers.

In addition, the shopping centers had to be community neighborhood style, frequented mostly by local residents. Shopping center proprietors had to be cooperative about permitting data collection activities; and the physical layout (limited exit and entrance locations, good vantage points for observations) had to accommodate efficient and accurate data collection.

SELECTION OF CANDIDATE SITES

The key challenge of the project was expected to be finding police departments willing to enforce OR laws and participate in project activities without funding assistance. The recruitment process involved sending letters to police departments in Pennsylvania, making follow-up phone calls, interviewing likely candidates, and conducting in-person interviews with selected candidates. The researchers expected little difficulty in finding candidate sites that met the other requirements of population, an appropriate shopping center layout, proprietor cooperation, or reasonable distance from the contractor's office.

Procedures used to identify candidate sites and select the most appropriate communities included the following:

- (1) A list of Pennsylvania boroughs, townships, cities, and counties that met the requirements of more than 25,000 people and mid-range per capita income was identified from U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Pennsylvania State Data Center Reports, 1990.
- A list of police departments was compiled from the communities that met the (2) population and per capita income criteria and from the list of borough and township police departments suggested by the State-affiliated highway safety groups. These police departments received letters asking whether they would be interested in participating in the project. Since many police departments did not respond to the request, the researchers telephoned them. Most police departments were not interested; reasons stated ranged from lack of manpower to no interest in actively enforcing the OR laws. A list of the police departments interested in the project was developed, and an interview was scheduled to discuss the project in more detail. From these interviews, the researchers found 12 police departments that wanted to become either the intervention or comparison site. The departments interested in being intervention sites agreed to conduct some level of OR enforcement and training, participate in education activities, and assist in the documentation process.

Local and regional highway safety groups conducted projects in these areas, so they were asked whether they would want to participate in the project. As expected, all were eager to assist. (4) Shopping centers covered by the 12 candidate police departments were visited to determine whether each place met all of the physical characteristics for conducting observations and collecting data. In addition, shopping center proprietors were asked to grant permission to conduct field observations.

ł

(5) Community location in relation to the contractor's office was the final factor.

After an intensive recruitment effort requiring many hours of phone calls and personal interviews with several police departments, three candidate police departments willing to participate in all intervention activities were chosen. Many of the police departments were unwilling to enforce the OR laws and use in-house manpower to conduct other intervention activities. From other information gathered in the selection criteria process, three community sites met all of the selection criteria: Tredyffrin Township (Chester County), Haverford Township (Delaware County), and Abington Township (Montgomery County). Tredyffrin Township and Haverford Township became the test sites, and Abington Township emerged as the comparison site.

COMMUNITY PROFILES

This section of the chapter describes the socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the selected communities. Also described are their specific police departments, local and regional comprehensive highway safety groups, and other local community organizations and businesses.

Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics

The three townships are located in the western suburbs of Philadelphia and along regional highway corridors and mass transportation networks. Figure 6 shows the location of these communities and the contractor's office.





Figure 6. Participating communities.

Table 1 compares the socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of the selected communities.

	Tredyffrin	Haverford	Abington
Area (sq mi)	19.9	9.9	15.4
Population*	28,028	49,848	56,322
Toddlers (age 1-5) [†]	1,300	3,000	4,100
Per Capita Income (\$)*	34,078	20,566	23,617

Table 1.	Socioeconomic and	demographic characteristics	of	communities s	elected.
----------	-------------------	-----------------------------	----	---------------	----------

U.S. Census Bureau (1990).

[†]Pennsylvania Department of Education (1990). [‡]Pennsylvania State Data Center (1992).

Police

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the police department was the first of only three in the State accredited by the International Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP). About 50 policemen were on the force. The department is under the direction of the Superintendent of Police, who oversees 2 lieutenants, 6 investigators or detectives, 6 sergeants, a crime prevention and community relations officer, and 31 other officers. Approximately eight officers per shift are assigned to routine field patrol covering 20 square miles; two officers are generally assigned to traffic law enforcement. All officers receive advanced training, and all are trained in cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and advanced first-aid techniques. In-service training days occur twice a month, and officers frequently receive additional training at police schools. Officers also get daily reminders and messages at each shift's roll call and through a computer message screen, which each officer logs into at the start of a shift. Highway safety and crime prevention projects for the community, business groups, and the schools take place during the year; the community relations officer is in charge of these projects. He goes to the elementary schools and delivers an "Officer Bill"-type project each year. The police also set up safety information booths and give demonstrations at shopping centers and special events a few times a year.

Prior to the intervention project, the department conducted safety belt (SB) projects in the community and in schools. Internally it had already established an SB policy for officers and routinely reminded them to wear their SBs. They had received the Keystone Safety Belt Network's (KSBN's) Silver Buckle Award in 1990 for its Pl&E projects about OR.

The officers had received no comprehensive OR training prior to the project and during the prior year they had given only 4 citations for OR law violations of the approximately 1,000 total written citations.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the police department had about 75 officers, under the direction of the Chief. The force includes 4 lieutenants, 8 investigators, 12 sergeants, and 50 officers. In addition, the department has a highway safety unit team of four officers. About ten officers per shift are assigned to routine patrol covering 10 square miles. The officers receive in-service and advanced training at police schools. In 1990, police took advanced training on firearms, DUI (driving under the influence)

testing, mental health, and special response (to handle civil disturbances, hostage situations, and barricaded armed subjects).

ł,

Similar to Tredyffrin's police department, safety education projects take place in all the schools. The police also present an "Officer Bill"-type project to preschool and kindergarten children. The police provide safety education projects in the community throughout the year, at special events and at shopping centers.

No comprehensive OR projects were conducted prior to the intervention project. Only a few SB citations for OR law violations had been given before the project. No in-service training about ORs had been conducted and no SB policy for police had been developed. In addition, 3 months prior to the intervention project, the department had begun participating in a corridor blitz project for PennDOT, which involved 1 day a month, selective speed enforcement conducted on one of the highly traveled State highways in the township.

In <u>Abington</u>, the police department had about 90 officers directed by the Chief. The police conduct an open-house project once a year and have a community response unit to assist the community in safety activities and to handle emergencies, disasters, and crowd control.

Prior to the intervention project, the department was not active in conducting CSS or SB projects. In 1990 the police had given only 8 SB citations of the 10,611 total citations issued. The department had neither an active SB project nor an internal SB policy prior to the project. At the time of site selection, the department agreed to be the comparison site, so it would not introduce an OR enforcement or PI&E project until after the post-intervention data collection phase.

Local and Regional Support

Each community has a State-affiliated, county comprehensive highway safety group which conducts highway safety projects. The highway safety group provides resource and education material to community groups. The Tredyffrin and Haverford police departments requested material from the Chester and Delaware County comprehensive highway safety groups, respectively, prior to the intervention phase period. In addition, these county groups had periodically given general highway safety projects to school groups before the intervention phase period. In both Haverford and Tredyffrin, the police told the township board that their forces would be participating in an enforcement project that would benefit the community. Township commissions approved the projects.

In Tredyffrin and Haverford, the local newspapers have a good relationship with the police departments and have historically cooperated with them by publishing all press releases that the police submit. In addition, the shopping centers and other businesses in these townships have supported earlier highway safety activities conducted by the police.

In Tredyffrin and Abington, the local court judges were known for being supportive of child passenger safety laws. The Haverford judges had been indifferent to this law.

5. PROJECT ACTIVITIES

This chapter covers the intervention activities conducted by the police, local and regional highway safety groups, and community (e.g., businesses, organizations, fast-food restaurants, libraries, schools, and day-care centers) in Tredyffrin and Haverford.

Police activities included:

- Managerial directives, training, and policy decisions.
- Enforcement.
- Public information and education (PI&E) efforts.

State, regional, local highway safety group activities included:

- Consultative or advisory role.
- Resource material and distribution.
- Public events.
- State Grant support and recognition of effort.

Community activities included:

- Cooperation in use of facilities.
- Newspaper coverage.
- Distribution of educational materials.
- Other miscellaneous support.

In addition, this chapter describes those involved in promoting and facilitating the intervention projects: the contractor, the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation (PennDOT), and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA).

POLICE

The police were asked to commit to specific intervention activities relating to enforcement of the occupant restraint (OR) laws and to PI&E activities relating to the enforcement campaign. Goals (for enforcement activities) specified for each police department covered directives from the top, training, safety belt (SB) policy and staff compliance, efforts to motivate enforcement, and enforcement levels. Goals specified for PI&E activities focused on (1) conducting community projects, (2) distributing educational material emphasizing OR enforcement effort and proper child safety seat (CSS) use, and (3) conducting CSS inspection clinics.

Managerial Directives and Policy Decisions

Commitment, SB policy, training, motivation, and record-keeping elements of the demonstration project are discussed.

29

<u>Management Commitment</u>. The Chiefs of Police from both departments expressed their commitment to the enforcement and PI&E activities of the demonstration project. However, neither police department would commit to specific enforcement levels or number of programs. In addition, they felt that Pennsylvania's secondary enforcement law for SB violations made it even more difficult to agree to a "goal" level.

ą,

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the Superintendent of Police delegated enforcement responsibility to a lieutenant and his patrol unit supervisors, but delegated PI&E activities to the community relations officer. In <u>Haverford</u>, the Chief of Police delegated enforcement and PI&E activities to the lieutenant in command of the patrol division and highway safety unit. In <u>Abington</u>, the comparison site, the community relations officer was assigned to just gain permission for observation and inquiry data. collection in the community shopping centers and report enforcement data.

Both (intervention site) police departments agreed to enforce the OR laws, but stressed that a citation or written warning (OR "contacts") would be given at the discretion of the officer. The chiefs of both departments gave an initial staff-wide directive for project participation. However, the lieutenants in command of the patrol division gave enforcement directives. The patrol supervisors in <u>Tredvffrin</u> agreed that they would attempt to reach the goal of 5 to 10 percent OR contacts for all citations given. Haverford would not commit to an enforcement "contact" goal. However, both police departments did agree to commit to incorporating SB policies and compliance check, OR enforcement and PI&E activities conducted by the department. (Abington agreed not to promote enforcement of the OR laws.)

<u>SB Policy and Compliance</u>. In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, SB policy (see Appendix C-1) was implemented 2 years before the project was initiated. The policy is similar to the model policy recommended by the International Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP), with minor exceptions relating to availability of police vehicles with operable SBs, nonrestraint of combative prisoners, and situations where officer survival outweighs benefits of restraint use. It was reported that officers were reminded to wear their SBs, and negligence or noncompliance with the SB policy could result in corrective or disciplinary action. During the intervention, observations of SB use among the patrol officers were conducted during shift changes, and 100 percent compliance was observed.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the SB policy (see Appendix C-2) was developed at the start of the intervention period. Like Tredyffrin, the policy is very similar to the IACP model policy, with a minor exception relating to not using a restraint on a combative prisoner. During the intervention, observations of SB use among the patrol officers were conducted during shift changes, and 87 percent compliance was observed.

In <u>Abington</u>, even though the department agreed not to conduct any OR program, a general order (see Appendix C-3) about wearing SBs was initiated during the intervention period. The order did not follow IACP recommendations. After the post-intervention data collection phase, observations of police SB use were conducted and over 80 percent SB use was observed.

30

Training. Both Tredyffrin and Haverford police departments sent a certified⁹ officer to the NHTSA Occupant Protection Usage and Enforcement (OPUE) workshop for 3 days in Hershey, PA (Haverford also sent another non-certified officer). This workshop took place 2 months prior to the intervention period. The Keystone Safety Belt Network (KSBN) and the Pennsylvania Police Academy provided instructors who were well rehearsed on the NHTSA OPUE workshop and had conducted these workshops in the past. The curriculum covered police officers' values and perceptions of SB benefits and concerns, driving risks, vehicle safety design, consequences of crash impact and crash types, dynamics of noncrash injuries, children in crashes, OR benefits, manual and automatic SBs, air bags, child restraint types, OR laws and enforcement methods.

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the certified officer presented the OPUE training course (January and February 1991) for all patrol officers (31) during two in-service periods prior to the intervention project and three in-service refresher training projects two-thirds through the intervention project (October and November 1991). In addition, participants watched several segments of the NHTSA Operation Buckle Down Roll Call video at two of the three in-service refresher training sessions.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the certified officer trained the highway safety staff (three officers) in January 1991. However, the remaining staff(about 30) received training 3 months into the intervention period (July 1991). The certified officer presented 12 sessions of the OPUE training course to four to six patrol officers (each session) for a total of approximately 55 patrol officers. In addition, the officers watched JHTSA's Operation Buckle Down Roll Call video segment, "The Impact of Crashes on Officers."

In both departments, the training included an OPUE instruction workbook, and the instructor showed the videos which came with the course. At the end of the initial training sessions, each officer received a laminated vehicle code safety violation card with concise information on the child passenger law, SB use laws, and speeding fine scale (see Appendix D). These cards were provided by the KSBN. (Abington did not conduct OPUE training.)

<u>Motivation Techniques</u>. In addition to being given vehicle code safety violation cards, police in both departments received periodic reminders of the OR enforcement effort at roll call. In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, in-service refresher training and E-mail messages were reminders. Each officer checks for computer messages before going out on patrol. (Appendix E includes a sample of E-mail messages.) Both departments also had an "Is Your Seat Belt Fastened?—Chester (or Delaware) County Clicks" sign posted outside the exit of the police stations. (Abington did not conduct these activities.)

<u>Record-Keeping Activities</u>. Both police departments kept track of the enforcement activities throughout the pre-intervention, intervention, and post-intervention periods. In <u>Tredyffrin</u> and <u>Haverford</u>, personnel entered and stored citations and written warnings on computer files. The data were readily accessible on request. (Abington also provided OR and total citation data manually, on request.)

⁹ The Municipal Police Officers' Education and Training Commission, Harrisburg, PA, has certified these officers to teach the Pennsylvania Vehicle Code.

Enforcement Activities

During pre-intervention meetings, each police department was given guidance on a suggested level of OR enforcement (i.e., 10 to 20 percent of the total or total "moving" [point] citations). The police departments expressed resistance to enforcement goals or quotas. They made it clear that the decision to give a citation or warning would be at the discretion of the patrol officers. This policy was formalized in Haverford's Chief of Police directive (see Appendix F).

At the time of the intervention period, both police departments were also participating in selective enforcement projects. <u>Tredyffrin</u> was doing an occasional DUI (driving under the influence) sobriety checkpoint, and Haverford was participating in a Highway Safety Corridor Enforcement Blitz project for PennDOT, on a monthly basis. Both departments agreed to integrate OR enforcement into these selective enforcement projects. Haverford also initiated selective OR enforcement at the community shopping centers.

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the police conducted OR enforcement activities on routine patrol and at DUI sobriety checkpoints. On a routine day, Tredyffrin usually had eight patrol units on the day shift. Of the eight, only two were dedicated to traffic enforcement. The other patrol units primarily responded to civil disturbances; only about 25 percent of their time was available to conduct traffic enforcement. Initially, the department was intent on giving out only citations for the CSS and SB laws. However, 3 months into the project, the court administrators notified the police that they were not including the appropriate surcharges—catastrophic insurance (CAT) fund (\$30) and the Emergency Medical Services (EMS) fund (\$10)—with the \$10 fine for SB violations. In an effort to keep up the level of OR enforcement "contacts," the department suggested that when patrolmen were reluctant to give the SB citation because of the additional costs, they could at least give a written warning. PennDOT's "Police Warning Notice" (MV-433A) was the document used for <u>warnings</u> (see Appendix G-1). PennDOT's standard violation form was used for <u>citations</u>.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the police conducted OR enforcement activities (primarily warnings) on routine patrol, at selective locations (e.g., the exit of a community shopping center), and during the PennDOT Highway Safety Corridor Enforcement Blitzes. Haverford usually had 10 patrol units. None were dedicated to traffic enforcement. The highway safety supervisor wanted to begin the project primarily with a <u>warning</u> effort using a department-developed warning notice (see Appendix G-2). PennDOT's standard violation form was used for <u>citations</u>.

In <u>Abington</u>, as they had been requested, the police did not actively enforce the OR laws. From the pre-intervention to post-intervention period, the police gave out only 2 SB citations from over 8,000 total citations.

Enforcement Levels. In Tredyffrin, the enforcement campaign started in March 1991. The enforcement campaign included warnings for both OR laws by July 1991. Enforcement steadied off in the summer and never reached 10 percent of the total citations or total moving ("point") citations. The police felt that manpower shortages due to vacations and retirements contributed to this situation. (Total citations were also down in this period.) Concern with this low OR level prompted NHTSA to meet with the police to promote a higher OR enforcement level. In the fall, the enforcement effort dramatically improved and the police maintained a high level of OR contacts through the remainder of the intervention period.

Figures 7a, 7b, and 7c show the characteristics of the police department's OR enforcement effort from spring to fall 1991:

 Figure 7a shows the OR contacts (defined as the total number of SB and CSS citations and warnings), total citations given, and total point (moving or hazardous) violation citations given during the enforcement period. (Training periods and NHTSA meeting with police are also on the chart.)

o Figure 7b shows the percentage of OR contacts, by total number of citations and total number of point violation citations.

o Figure 7c shows the types of OR enforcement contacts given during the period of study.

Police training and the mid-intervention NHTSA/contractor meeting with police are also on the charts.

Approximately 50 percent of the SB citations were associated with a moving ("point") violation; and 83 percent of the primary violations were for speeding. Only four of the CSS citations were associated with an SB citation.

The disposition status of OR violation citations in the court docket book (March to December 1991) was as follows:

<u>SB_Violations</u>

CSS Violations

SB citations Cases pending	190 	CSS citations Cases pending	12 1
Cases closed	143	Cases closed	11
Not guilty pleas	132 (92%)	Not guilty pleas	0
Withdrawn	6	Withdrawn	0

33



A meeting with police, NHTSA, and contractor

"Includes all non-moving and moving citations as well as citations and written warnings for violating the safety belt and child safety seel laws.

Figure 7a.

Total occupant restraint "contacts," citations, and moving citations in Tredyffrin.



A meeting with police, NHTEA, and contractor

Includes all non-moving and moving citations as well as citations and written warnings for violating the safety belt and shild safety seat lows.

Figure 7b.

Percentage of occupant restraint "contacts" to total citations and to moving ("point") citations in Tredyffrin.

34 4

.



Figure 7c. Occupant restraint "contacts" in Tredyffrin.

In Haverford, the enforcement campaign did not really get started until after the training of the patrol squads in July 1991. Some members of the highway safety unit had been giving some OR warnings and citations earlier in the year as well as during the monthly (4-hour) enforcement blitz efforts throughout the intervention year. The enforcement blitzes were part of a cooperative effort between Haverford and PennDOT to pursue a comprehensive safety initiative at a township highway that had a high accident rate. PennDOT, through NHTSA 402 funding, provided staff time and funds to purchase traffic enforcement equipment (such as speed timing devices). During the intervention phase, enforcement blitzes ran once a month for 4 hours, usually 10 a.m. to 2 p.m. on a weekday. On average, patrol officers gave 30 speeding citations and 5 OR warnings per blitz. They also gave verbal warnings for SB violations and distributed PI&E material. Figures 8a, 8b, and 8c show the characteristics of Haverford's OR enforcement effort from spring to fall 1991. Figure 8a shows the OR contacts, total citations given, and total point violation citations given during the enforcement period. Figure 8b shows the percentage of OR contacts, by total number of citations and total number of point violation citations. Figure 8c shows the types of OR enforcement contacts during the period of study. (Training and the mid-intervention NHTSA/contractor meeting with police are also on the charts.)





ŧ1



A meeting with police, NTHSA, and contractor

40

"Includes all non-moving and moving citations as well as citations and written warnings for violating the safety belt and child ealery seet laws.

Figure 8b. Percentage of occupant restraint "contacts" to total citations and to moving "point" citations in Haverford.

36



Figure 8c. Occupant restraint "contacts" in Haverford.

Table 2 summarizes the enforcement activities by both police departments during the intervention period.

Activities	Tredyffrin	Haverford
OR Total "Contacts"	577	146
- SB Citations	184	9
- SB Warnings	351	121
- CSS Citations	36	5
- CSS Warnings	6	11
OR "Contacts" and Total Moving ("Point") Violation Citations, %	20.9%	9.9%
OR "Contacts" and Total Citations, %	10.7%	2.9%
Enforcement Blitzes and Checkpoints [†]	3	12

Tal	ble	2.	En	orcement	activ	it	ies	by j	pol	ice.
-----	-----	----	----	----------	-------	----	-----	------	-----	------

Note: Tredyffrin's enforcement effort was 62% written warnings.

Haverford's enforcement effort was 90% written warnings.

^{*}Blitzes and checkpoints averaged 4 hours per event. Tredyffrin's DUI Sobriety Checkpoints activity involved 8 to 10 officers for each event. Haverford's enforcement blitzes involved 3 or 4 officers for each event.

PI&E Activities

Both police departments actively participated in the PI&E component of the project. Their efforts concentrated on education related to the enforcement effort, as well as providing general promotional material on the benefits of SB and CSS use and proper use.

Both police departments had access to a selection of educational brochures, fact sheets, posters, stickers, and other supplies to use in the PI&E effort. This material covered a description of the enforcement effort of the police department, proper use issues about CSSs, hints for restraining toddlers, age and weight guidelines for seat type, and descriptions of the OR laws. Some of the material given to the police was developed during the project because material on enforcement issues and toddler-specific child restraint issues was not available. Other material was obtained free from PennDOT and its Local and Regional Comprehensive Highway Safety Projects, the Traffic Injury Prevention Project (TIPP), the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), and the KSBN. One brochure was purchased through AAP, because it was the most comprehensive information available on tips for restraining toddlers of various ages (9 to 23 months, 24 to 36 months, and preschoolers). Table 3 lists educational material, by topic issue, used by both police departments. (Appendix H provides a copy of the project's original and available material.) Educational material was given out at kickoff events, special events, selective enforcement, and during school or day-care projects.

In <u>T</u> <u>edyffrin</u>, the police gave out about 2,500 units of each of the brochures and fact sheets. Over 200 "We Can't Bear to Be Without You: Buckle-Up!" teddy bears and over 100 "We Love You: Buckle Up" koala bears were distributed at many of the special event projects. Officers on patrol distributed the "Officers Love Kids Too" cards (see Appendix H-4), "Buckle Baby Right" (see Appendix H-9) and "Do Safety Belts Really Work?..." (see Appendix H-18) brochures, and enforcement fact sheets. They also gave out these cards and fact sheets when they gave OR citations and warnings.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the police gave out approximately 2,500 units of each of the brochures and fact sheets. Over 500 "Buckle Baby Right," 500 "We Can't Bear to Be Without You: Buckle-Up!" teddy bears, and 300 "We Love You: Buckle Up" koala bears were distributed at many of the special event projects (Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week and 4th of July projects), during "Officer Bill" programs in the elementary schools and day-care centers, and during routine patrol stops. The bears were primarily used as positive reinforcement for toddlers already properly restrained. Flyers were also distributed around the township to advertise the safety events. The "Officers Love Kids Too" Cards (see Appendix H-4) were given out on patrol at the end of the year.

Kickoff Events

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, even though OR enforcement training for the officers and enforcement of CSS and SB law violations had been started, the official kickoff effort began with a press conference on May 17, 1991, in conjunction with Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week (May 12 to 18). Area newspaper reporters attended the event, which was held at the police station. Demonstrations of proper child restraint use were given, and photos were taken. Police explained the purpose of the project to the media, detailed the enforcement effort underway, and described activities that would be conducted for the remainder of the year. A description of the event appeared in the community newspaper (see Appendix I-1). The regional PennDOT office also sent out a press release covering the importance of child restraints and making the public aware of the State's child passenger safety week and the upcoming National Buckle-Up Week (May 20 to 27). (Seven other articles appeared in

Table 3. PI&E material used by police in project.

HAVE WALLY MARKET	
* "Tredyffrin Township Police Child Sat	fety Seat and Safety Belt Enforcement Program" (fact
sheet) (Appendix H-1)	Charles and Ballate Data Table and Data and Carl
- Haverford Township Police Child Sal	tery Seat and Safety Belt Enforcement Program" (fact
Summary of Child Bassenger Besteati	ion Act" (fact sheet) (Amendix H-3)
* "Officers I ove Kids Too" (card with 1	non Act (lact sheet) (Appendix ri-5)
(Appendix H-4)	photo of fredynnin ponce officer and his family)
* "Officers Love Kids Too" (card with	a photo of Haverford police officer and his penhew)
(Annendix H-4)	
"Summer Bummer-Buckle Up Avoid	the Summertime Blues" (poster) (Appendix H-5)
hild Restraint Issues for Toddlers	
* "Tine for Bestmining 2 to 4 Year Old	s in Your Car" (fact sheet) (Annendix H-6)
* "Children and Car Safety: Making Fri	ends with a Safety Seat" (brochure) (Appendix H-7)
roper Use of Child Safety Seats	
Buckle Baby Kight" (brochure) (Appe	EBUX H-7)
"Correct Use of Child Safety Seats-A	The You Making These Mistakes?" What Can I Do to
The One Minute Sefere Check V. I.	(Incl sheet) (Appendix H-O)
The One-Minute Safety Check-Op (1	nact sneet) (Appendix H-15)
sheet) (Appendix II 14)	size and weight Guide for Calid Safety Seats (fact
"What Is a Locking Clin? Do I Need (One in My Car?" (fact sheet) (Annendix H-16)
afety Belts and Passive Restraints	
"Do Safety Belts Really Work?" (b)	rochure) (Appendix H-18)
"Vince and Larry on Belts and Bags"	(hmchure) (Amendix H-22)
"The holidays would not be the same	without you. Please buckle up and don't drink and
drive." (holiday card) (Appendix H-26	5)
	• •
fiscellaneous Items	
- <u></u>	· · ·
"We Can't Bear to Be Without You:	Buckle-Up!" (CSS stickers, posters, litter bags, and
teddy bears)	
"We Love You: Buckle Up" (teddy be	ears and koala bears)
"Buckle Baby Right!" (CSS sticker) (A	Appendix H-27)
"Buckle Up, Pennsylvania-It's Your	LifeIt's Our Law" (SB sticker) (Appendix H-27)
"Buckle That Belt" (Vince and Larry	hand puppet) (Appendix H-28)
"We Can't "Bear" to Be Without You	: Buckle-Up!" (CSS poster)
"Drive Smart" (stickers [Appendix H-	27], litter bags, and brochures)
"Say Yes to Seat Belts" (litter bag)	
"Save Your Ugly Face! Buckle Up" (J	pin)

regional papers throughout Chester County covering the topic of child passenger safety and the week that would spotlight this issue.)

In <u>Haverford</u>, the first official event began with a display booth set up with CSS and SB literature at a shopping center on March 9. The police answered questions and distributed material to the public and parents with young children. Vince and Larry (Crash Test Dummies) distributed material. An article in the local newspaper covered the scope of the project. During Pennsylvania Child Passenger Week (May 12 to 18), the police presented the scope of the project at a weekly press conference with local newspapers and held a traffic safety day (May 18, Saturday) fair at the station, complete with a bike rodeo and display booths with CSS and SB literature. CSSs were on display. Vince and Larry again distributed material. Area newspaper reporters covered the events. In addition, all ranking officers and two township commissioners attended. Photos were taken, and a photo session featured police with young children in CSSs. (One of the photos was chosen for the "Officer Love Kids Too" card, which was later sent to PennDOT for printing.)

Programs and Special Events

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the community relations officer and other patrol officers conducted project activities throughout the intervention period—at shopping centers, community meetings, corporations and businesses, and checkpoints. Project activities were conducted on the following dates in 1991:

May 5	Presentation on project to community radio emergency team at the township library (100 members).
May 17	Press conference about project at the police station.
May 24	DUI Checkpoint; includes SB check at State routes 202 and 252.
June 20 to 22	Display table at sidewalk sale and distribution of project literature at township shopping center (Approximately 1,500 residents and young children received literature at the booth.)
August 19 and 21	Presentations about OR issues to community business groups (300 employees at 2 locations).
August 30	DUI Checkpoint; includes SB check at State routes 202 and 252.
September 12 to 14	Display table at sidewalk sale and distribution of project literature at township shopping center (Approximately 1,750 residents received literature at the booth.)
Mid-September to Mid- December	Highway safety (including OR issues) and crime prevention programs given to the 20 organizations and businesses. Approximately 1,550 township residents were in attendance at these programs. In addition, the "Officer Friendly" school program, which includes a segment on SBs, was given to elementary and parochial grade, middle, and high schools, and to the military academy in the township (approximately 1,000 children).
December 19	SB check and distribution of holiday safety reminder cards ("Please buckle up and don't drink and drive") at Lancaster Pike and Old Eagle School Road

(Approximately 500 residents and young children received material.)

In <u>Haverford</u>, the highway safety unit officers and other patrol officers conducted project activities throughout the intervention period at shopping centers, playgrounds, firehouses, holiday parades, and enforcement checkpoints. Project activities were conducted on the following dates in 1991:

ł,

March 9	Display table with Vince and Larry and distribution of project literature at a shopping center. (Approximately 500 residents received material.)
April 8 to 11, 17 to 19	The "Officer Bill" project; which includes a segment on SBs, was given to all the elementary and parochial grade schools in the township (4,000 children).
May 12	Press conference, which covered Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week and scope of project, took place at the police station.
May 18	Traffic Safety Day and Bike Rodeo—display table, distribution of OR literature, Vince and Larry appearance co-sponsored by TIPP, Bike Line, Haverford Community Hospital Paramedic Department, and Havertown Optimist Club. Conducted at parking lot at police station. (Approximately 500 residents and young children received material.)
June 27	"Have a Safe Summer—Buckle Up—You and Your Children" outdoor message on middle-school message board for entire summer.
July 4	The police joined with Vince and Larry to distribute CSS and SB material at four playgrounds offering 4th of July activities. Teddy bears given out had the "We Can't Bear to Be Without You: Buckle Up!" message on their sweaters. Co-sponsored by the local fire departments in the township. (Approximately 4,000 residents and young children received material.)
July 12, 18, 22	CSS and SB checkpoints at a shopping center. Police handed out warnings to drivers and young children not in restraints.
July 13	Promotional Photo Session with Chief and special unit staff in front of middle- school message board sign with SB message. Press invited.
August 30	Promotional photo session with ranking officers, township commissioners, Vince and Larry, and toddlers. "Avoid the Summertime Blues—Buckle Up" banner was held up. Press attended; and coverage in the local newspapers promoted use of the sign on one of the major highways and enforcement of the OR laws.
August 30	"Avoid the Summertime Blues—Buckle Up" banner hung above the entrance to the township on Route 3 by PennDOT. Banner was left in place until September 3.
October 11	Fire Prevention Week Open House—Police, Vince, and Larry distributed CSS and SB literature at open houses at the fire stations. "We Love You: Buckle Up" koala bears were distributed. (Event reached approximately 7,000 township residents.)

November 11 The police department also conducted "Officer Bill" programs at three day-care and preschool centers. "We Love You: Buckle Up" koala bears were given out. (Event reached approximately 300 young children.)

December 7

CSS Check Clinic. Police and TIPP conducted a CSS check clinic at two shopping centers for 2 hours at each location. Vince and Larry distributed OR literature. TIPP gave the public hands-on instruction in the proper way of restraining their toddlers and infants. (Event reached approximately 1,000 residents and young children.)

Media Exposure

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, throughout the intervention period, press releases to the local newspapers promoted the project and the enforcement effort. The police sent out press releases approximately once a month. Six of the eight press releases were published. Appendix I includes the published articles, which are as follows:

· May 23

- "In Tredyffrin, buckle up or else," <u>Suburban and Wayne Times</u> (see Appendix I-1).
- August 1.3 "Tredyffrin calls for seat belt safety," <u>Suburban and Wayne Times</u> (see Appendix I-2).

September 25 "Tredyffrin's push on seat belt law increases usage," <u>Times Herald Norristown</u> (see Appendix I-3).

September 26 "Better buckle up in Tredyffrin!" Suburban and Wavne Times (see Appendix I-4).

November 13 "Over 150 are ticketed for seat belt violations," <u>Daily/Sunday Local News West</u> <u>Chester</u> (see Appendix I-5).

November 14 "Seat belt safety...sweeps through Tredyffrin Township," <u>Suburban and Wayne</u> <u>Times</u> (see Appendix I-6).

Coverage on television included a 30-second piece on Channel 6 (ABC affiliate) at 6 p.m. on September 27 (822,000 viewing audience). The television station news reporter interviewed staff and went out on patrol with the police. The news story covered the enforcement effort and identified literature being handed out by the police. (Note: The radio and television media were not promoted on the project to reduce intervention media exposure in the comparison site [in the same media area, Greater Delaware Valley].) Other radio and television media advertising reached the communities. Throughout the intervention period, public service announcements carried Vince and Larry "buckleup" messages, which were heard on several radio stations and late night television, including cable stations. In addition, PennDOT released news stories concerning summer holiday enforcement efforts; these stories were broadcast on several radio stations.

In <u>Haverford</u>, monthly press releases to the local newspapers promoted the project. Twelve of the fourteen articles submitted were published, as follows:

March 13

"Police spreading the message of automobile safety," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-7).

May 15	"Enforcement planned for child safety, seat belt laws," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-8).
May 15	"98 percent of infants: safety seats being used in Haverford," <u>Haverford Press</u> (see Appendix I-9).
July 31	"Summer safety reminder," News of Delaware County (Appendix I-10).
August 7	"Have a safe summer—buckle up—you and your children," <u>Haverford Press</u> (see Appendix I-11).
September 4	"Get the message?" <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-12).
September 4	"Beware on West Chester Pike," Haverford Press (see Appendix I-13).
October 2	"Study: Seat belt usage up in township," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-14).
October 13	"Study: seat belt usage up in Haverford Township," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-15).
October 13	"Study: seat belt usage up in Haverford Township," <u>Main Line Sunday</u> (see Appendix I-16).
October 16	"Safety lauded," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-17).
December 4	"Child seats checked," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-18).
December 23	"Safety belt check held in Haverford," <u>News of Delaware County</u> (Haverford Edition) (see Appendix I-19).

Table 4 identifies the PI&E activities conducted by both police departments during the intervention program.

Other CR Activities (NHTSA Summer 1991 Safety Belt Promotion Campaigns)

Both police departments received campaign material (from NHTSA) so that they could incorporate elements of "Avoid the Summertime Blues" and "Operation Buckle Down" into the project. For the most part, elements relating to police training, roll-call videos, SB enforcement, and press releases were incorporated into the project.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the Highway Safety Team conducted SB checks prior to the Labor Day enforcement blitz effort. Observations at four locations showed an average SB use rate of 58 percent. In addition, the "Avoid the Summertime Blues/Buckle Up" banner was displayed over one of the main roadways in the township during the Labor Day weekend.

Activities	Tredyffrin	Haverford
Articles Published (from Press Releases)	6	12
Elementary/School Visits (grades K-8)	5	- 11
Lecture Programs (business/community groups)	72 hours	16 hours
Exhibits/Display Booths (at events, sidewalk sales)	37 hours	30 hours
Educational Material Distributed Fact Sheets Brochures	7,000 1,000	7,000 1,000
Promotional Items Distributed Bears Pins Stickers	300 500 5,000	1,300 750 5,000
Vince & Larry: Buckle-Up Puppets	1,000	1,000
Media (TV) Announcements	1	0
CSS Clinics	0	2
Project Item Purchases (through grant)	3 child safety seats (\$225) Video equipment rental (\$200)	Vince and Larry crash-test dummy costumes (\$1,400)

Table 4. PI&E activities by police.

STATE-SUPPORTED REGIONAL AND LOCAL HIGHWAY SAFETY GROUPS

Many of PennDOT's highway safety groups assisted on the project, including PA TIPP and its regional offices, five of the County Comprehensive Highway Safety Project groups, Corridor Program Coordinator, the director of the Pennsylvania Volunteers for Highway Safety Project, and the project staff at the Center for Highway Safety (PennDOT).

These groups assisted in many areas: consultation at planning meetings; advice on many of the planning, data collecting, and intervention activities; recruitment and training of data collectors; training of police officers on use and proper-use characteristics of CSSs, appearances and assistance at project events and activities; presentations at day-care and preschool centers; conducting of CSS check clinics; providing of press releases for the police, assistance in developing customized material for the project; guidance in grant applications for mini-grant funding and State highway safety awards; offers of educational material and giveaways; gathering of information and statistics necessary for deciding what directions to take on the project; printing of "Officers Love Kids Too" cards; securing of mini-grant funds to purchase costumes, CSSs, and video rental equipment.

TIPP and the two county comprehensive highway groups provided the most support and assistance to the demonstration project in both communities. TIPP conducted the following activities in both townships:

- Consulted at the planning meeting.
- Provided training to data collectors.
- Provided SB and CSS literature and promotional items to the department.
- During Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week, sent out press releases to all of the area newspapers promoting the CSS use issues.
- Assisted the Haverford police in conducting a CSS clinic at two shopping centers.

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the Chester County Comprehensive Highway Safety Project conducted the following activities:

- Consulted and provided guidance on activities at the planning meeting.
- Conducted SB programs at three day-care centers in the township.
- Processed PennDOT mini-grant application for CSSs and video equipment rental, then provided the funds.
- Posted "Is Your Seat Belt Fastened? Chester County Clicks" signs in the township.
- Distributed "Chester County Loves Kids Too" cards (see Appendix J).
- Conducted promotional session with Chester County area police at mall near the township, with Big Teddy promoting PA Child Passenger Safety Week.
- Provided SB brochures, "We Love You" koala bears, and holiday greeting cards with SB message, for the police to use in the project.

In <u>Haverford</u>, Delaware County Highway Safety Project conducted the following activities:

- Consulted and provided guidance on activities at the planning meeting.
- Gave SB presentations to three of the day-care centers in the township.
- Provided SB brochures, "We Love You" koala bears, and holiday greeting cards with SB messages for the police to use in the project.
- Posted "Is Your Seat Belt Fastened? Delaware County Clicks" signs in the township.
- Published "Kids Click into County's Seat Belt Safety Project" (<u>News of Delaware County</u>, November 20, 1991).

Other State highway safety groups also participated in some of the Pl&E activities. The Pennsylvania Volunteer for Highway Safety provided <u>Haverford</u> with assistance in the application and processing for mini-grant funds to purchase the Vince and Larry Crash Test Dummy outfits. The coordinator for PennDOT's Corridor Safety Project also assisted and integrated Pl&E activities with <u>Haverford</u>.

Press releases were periodically submitted to the area newspapers, which also covered the objectives of the police enforcement blitzes and enforcement of speeding and OR violations. These press releases were submitted during National Safety Belt Week ("Buckle Up. Just reach over, click, and you're all set. It's easy. It's your life. It's the law," <u>Haverford Press</u>, May 15, 1991) and on summer holiday weekends.

The PennDOT corridor coordinator was also instrumental in getting a PennDOT maintenance crew to hang the "Avoid the Summertime Blues" banner over the corridor highway used in the enforcement blitz program.

PRIVATE SUPPORT

The Keystone Safety Belt Network (Traffic Safety Now, Inc.) also provided support and assistance to both communities on the project, as follows:

- Consulted and provided guidance on activities at the planning meetings.
- Assisted in coordinating the scheduling and conducting the NHTSA OPUE training for both department's police officer instructors.
- Provided OR enforcement cards to both police departments (see Appendix D).
- Supplied Vince and Larry buckle-up puppets to the police departments (see Appendix H-28).

COMMUNITY GROUPS

In both communities, township officials, local businesses, libraries, schools, courts and community groups provided assistance and support for the project. Assistance came in many ways: distributing educational material; providing facilities to conduct programs; placing posters and material display racks in front of checkout counters, store-front display windows, and school message boards; putting articles in township newsletters; providing assistance at display tables; granting permission to conduct projects at shopping centers; distributing material at drive-in window booths; and distributing material at day-care centers, libraries, and stores.

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the Chester County district court staff was very cooperative in allowing access to the court docket book to check disposition of SB and CSS citations. The judge was also an advocate for child passenger safety. He even had a "Judges Love Kids, Too?" card (see Appendix J) available at the courthouse.

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, specific community assistance included:

- Publication of "Child Safety Seat Study" article in Tredyffrin Townwatch Association's <u>Townwatcher</u>.
- Distribution of CSS literature and Vince and Larry puppets (500 packets) at McDonald's at the drive-in window.
- Distribution of CSS literature (2,500 packets) at the township's two libraries, nine day-care centers, and YMCA.
- Permission by proprietors to conduct safety display booths at sidewalk sales at two shopping centers.
- Permission by proprietors to conduct observation studies at shopping centers.
- Permission by courts to look through court docket book.
- Collection of observation and query data at shopping centers.

In <u>Haverford</u>, specific community assistance included:

- Distribution of CSS literature (700 packets) at four day-care centers, one elementary school, the one township library, three fast-food restaurants, and two retail merchandise stores (which also got packets to distribute and use for their display rack).
- Permission by proprietors to set up safety display booths and conduct CSS clinics at shopping centers.
- Permission by proprietors to conduct observation studies at shopping centers.
- Permission by courts to look through court docket book.
- Collection of observation and query data at shopping centers.

Table 5 identifies PI&E material distributed in the communities.

Activities	Tredyffrin	Haverford
"Packets" handed out	2,500	700
Display racks provided to stores, libraries, day-care centers (posters displayed)	13	11

Table 5. PI&E literature distribution, by community.

OTHER SUPPORT

In addition to police, State, and community support, other groups contributed to the project's intervention activities and evaluation process.

<u>Contractor</u>. The principal investigator and staff were responsible for negotiating with police departments on model OR policy guidelines, training, and enforcement and PI&E activities to conduct. In addition, staff prepared press releases, visited police to review project goals and activities, delivered literature and other promotional material to each police department to use in the programs, assisted in arrangement of photo opportunities, and attended special events to observe the project activities and get an attendance count. The staff also supervised data collection activities. Community residents collected the data. The contractor also helped police get mini-grants, OPUE training, and state recognition awards.

<u>State</u>. The local and regional highway safety groups were given permission to participate in the project by PennDOT's Center for Highway Safety, which also provided support. They supplied almost unlimited copies of CSS and SB educational material, assisted with demographic and other information needs, helped get mini-grant funding to purchase promotional items (NHTSA 402 funds), and worked to increase project recognition. During the project, both police departments received PennDOT's Silver Buckle Awards, NHTSA's 70 Plus Award, Safety Education awards, and 1992 Buckle Up America special judge awards.

<u>NHTSA</u>. Special assistance from the NHTSA technical manager (other than normal project management duties) came in the form of arranging two visits to the police departments to discuss project objectives, promoting and emphasizing the enforcement component of the project, and helping the parties reach mutual agreement on what would be expected from the police departments. In addition, NHTSA's Office of Police Traffic Services provided project material, including much of the material for "Operation Buckle Down" and "Avoid the Summertime Blues—Buckle Up Project," offered background information to support the direction of the project, and gathered training material for the police. They were instrumental in coordinating the training for instructors' certification at the NHTSA OPUE workshop in Hershey, PA. They also provided 150 NHTSA OPUE Participation Manuals for police to use in the in-house training sessions. Midway through the project, a police representative of NHTSA's Police Traffic Services Division joined NHTSA's technical project manager and the principal investigator on a visit to both police departments to promote a higher level of OR enforcement.

6. RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

This chapter presents the characteristics of the target population group observed and queried. Beyond the demographic characteristics of the sample are the observation data on occupant restraint (OR) use of drivers, restraint use and proper restraint use for young children, and driver responses to queries on knowledge of OR laws, perception of enforcement in the community, attitudes about enforcement, self-reporting behavior characteristics, and awareness of child safety seat (CSS) issues.

Analysis of the data is an important aspect. The tables and figures show statistically significant differences between test sites and comparison site in pre- and post-intervention phase data—differences that probably reflect the impact of the intervention. An interpretation of the findings appears in the last section of the chapter.

CHARACTERISTICS OF SAMPLE

A total of 5,567 drivers with young children were observed in the pre- and post-intervention data collection phases. However, results and analysis of the data included only drivers with young children who were residents of Tredyffrin, Haverford, Abington, or surrounding townships,¹⁰ that is, 4,562 drivers (with young children passengers in the vehicle—82 percent of total observations) and 5,859 young children (1.3 children per driver). Approximately 50 percent of the sample analyzed were township residents. Appendices K-1 and K-2 show the number of drivers (with young children) and young children observed, by township and data collection phase.

In both pre-and post-intervention phases, over 85 percent of the drivers were under age 39 years (see Appendix K-3), over 85 percent were female, about 72 percent traveled less than 10 minutes (see Appendix K-4), and about 64 percent drove less than 3 miles from their last stop to the shopping centers where they were observed (see Appendix K-5). In addition, many drivers reported that they frequently visited the shopping centers. About 75 percent of the drivers, across sites and phases, visited the shopping center more than once a week (see Appendix K-6). The majority of drivers were observed in passenger cars, station wagons, or minivans (see Appendix K-7).

OBSERVATION DATA

Data collected included shoulder belt use of drivers (with young child passenger) and of drivers using shopping centers, CSS use, type of CSS, and proper use characteristics¹¹ of CSSs. The drivers provided age and weight estimates of the children. Compliance with Pennsylvania's OR laws was determined from observation of shoulder belt and CSS use and proper use, seat position, and driver-reported age estimates. A comparison of pre-intervention (October to December 1990) and post-intervention (October to December 1991) data is part of the results and analysis.

¹⁰ Driver-reported residence zip code information was used to verify reported township and surrounding township residency status.

¹¹ Defined in this study as proper seat and harness attachment/position, and proper attachment of vehicle seat belt (SB) to child restraint.

49

Shoulder Belt Use by Drivers

For <u>drivers (with young child passengers)</u>, in all sites, test and comparison, pre- and postintervention drivers with young children were much more likely to be in SBs than the general driving public (see Table 6). In addition, shoulder belt use improved 3.5 and 8.7 percentage points in Tredyffrin and Haverford, respectively, from the pre- to the post-intervention phases. The results were not statistically significant¹² when each site's data were compared with data from the comparison site, which also showed an improvement in shoulder belt use (2.6 percentage points). (Drivers in Tredyffrin were 13.9 percentage points higher for shoulder belt use than drivers in Haverford during the pre-intervention phase.)

ŧ

Restraint Use Type	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
SB use by drivers with young children	T	84.6% (629)	88.1% (614)	+3.5
	H	70.7% (795)	79.4% (856)	+8.7
	A	61.1% (725)	63.7% (446)	+2.6
SB use by drivers from the general public	T	47.9% (571)	57.0% (625)	+9.1*
	H	43.7% (606)	50.0% (925)	+6.3*
	A	48.6% (751)	46.0% (625)	-2.6

Table 6. Change in safety belt use of drivers with children and the general public.

T-TredyffrinH-HaverfordA-Abington (comparison site)NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the characteristic.(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Shoulder belt use by <u>drivers in the general public¹³</u> improved in both intervention communities as well. In Tredyffrin and Haverford, SB use <u>significantly improved</u>, 9.1 and 6.3 percentage points to 57 and 50 percent. The comparison site (Abington) showed a decrease of 2.6 percentage points across phases. Shoulder belt use by the general public was about 20 to 35 percentage points lower than shoulder belt use by drivers with young children, across all sites and phases. Table 7 shows shoulder belt use across the nation and State during the data collection phases, as a comparison.

¹³ Observers did not interact with these drivers to determine residency status.

¹² 95 percent level of confidence was used for statistical significance.

		Pennsylvania [†]					
Data Collection Phase	States with SB Laws	State Average	Chester County	Delaware County	Montgomery County		
Pre-intervention	54	53 -	64	54	56		
Post-intervention	55	60	65	60	59		

Table 7. Comparative driver shoulder belt use in nation and Pennsylvania (percentage observed).

7

"NHTSA, "Occupant Protection Trends in 19 Cities" (October 1990 and November 1991). "PennDOT Center for Highway Safety, <u>Seat Belt Observation Surveys</u>, Fall 1992. (Note—Tredyffrin, Haverford, and Abington are in Chester, Delaware, and Montgomery Counties, respectively.)

Restraint Use for Young Children

The differences between pre-intervention and post-intervention phase restraint use (child restraint, shoulder and/or lap belt, or no restraint) are presented. Observations were of young children; age and weight estimates were reported by the drivers. From these data characteristics, compliance with the State child passenger safety law could be determined. Results include the type of child restraint used, as well as proper use characteristics (seat position, harness position, and SB buckled to CSS), to determine whether children being transported are "fully protected."

<u>CSS Use (All Toddlers)</u>. For young children (toddlers) between age 1 and 5, the increased use of CSSs instead of SBs or no restraint <u>significantly improved</u> in both test sites, but not in the comparison site. CSS use increased 5 percentage points to 76.8 percent in Tredyffrin and increased 10.5 percentage points to 71.4 percent in Haverford. (CSS use in Tredyffrin started out 11 percentage points higher than in Haverford during pre-intervention.) CSS use in the comparison site (Abington) decreased 4.1 percentage points to 63.7 percent. Figure 9 shows the difference between pre- and post-intervention phases in terms of CSS use for all toddlers.

<u>CSS Use (Various Age/Weight Categories)</u>. This section provides results for all young children (infants and toddlers), by age (0 to 1, 1 to 3, and 3 to 5) and by weight (less than 20 pounds and 20 to 40 pounds).

For <u>infants</u> between birth and age 1 and under 20 pounds,¹⁴ CSS use was very high (over 95 percent CSS use observed across all three sites in the pre- and post-intervention phases) compared with SBs or no restraint. Slight CSS use increases occurred in both test sites after the intervention. Table 8 lists percentages.

¹⁴ American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) defines infants as children under age 1 or under 20 pounds.



Demo Impact is the difference between each test township and the comparison site.

Figure 9. Percentage point change of child safety seat use by toddlers (ages 1 to 5), before and after Intervention, by site.

For <u>young toddlers</u>, between age 1 to 3, CSS use was relatively high (between 85 and 95 percent) in both pre- and post-intervention phases across all sites. The use of CSSs compared with SB's or no restraints improved 3.6 percentage points and 7.4 percentage points in Tredyffrin and Haverford, respectively. (CSS use in Tredyffrin was over 6 percentage points higher than in Haverford during the pre-intervention phase.) When comparing these improvements in child restraint use with Abington's slight improvement (1.8 percentage points), the impact of the intervention was not statistically significant.

For <u>older toddlers</u>, between ages 3 to 5, CSS use was much lower (40 to 50 percentage points across all sites and pre- and post-intervention phases) than for younger toddlers (ages 1 to 3). CSS use improved 8.8 percentage points and 8.9 percentage points in Tredyffrin and Haverford, respectively. (CSS use in Tredyffrin was about 10 percentage points higher than in Haverford during the pre-intervention phase.) Even though child restraint use showed no improvement in the comparison site (Abington), the impact of the intervention was not statistically significant (at the 95 percent level of confidence) perhaps due to the small sample sizes in the intervention site subgroups. Table 9 presents the CSS use results for young and older toddlers.

Infant Characteristic	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Ages birth up to 1	Т	97.8% (134)	99.0% (102)	+1.2
	н	98.1% (108)	99.3% (145)	+1.2
	A	99.1% (113)	97.6% (84)	-1.5
Less than 20 pounds	Т	98.6% (141)	99.0% (105)	+0.4
· .	Н	95.1% (122)	99.2% (131)	+4.1
	A	97.9% (96)	98.3% (60)	+0.4

 Table 8. Percentage of Child Safety Seat use by infants, by age and weight,

 before and after interventions, by site.

٦.

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford A-Abington (comparison site) NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the characteristic. (NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

Table 9.	Percentage	Child Safety	Seat use	by young	and older	toddler a	ige groups,
		before and	after inte	rventions,	by site.		

Toddler Age Group	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Young toddlers (ages 1 to 3)	T H A	91.4% (432) 85.4% (526) 88.7% (433)	95.0% (382) 92.8% (529) 90.5% (210)	+3.6 +7.4 +1.8
Older toddlers (ages 3 to 5)	T H A	40.6% (271) 30.5% (423) 38.7% (310)	49.4% (255) 39.4% (355) 38.6% (223)	+8.8 +8.9 -0.1

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford A-Abington (comparison site) NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the characteristic. (NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

Drivers were asked to estimate weight of children, as well as to report age. (According to the AAP, recommendations for forward facing, toddler, or convertible CSSs are based not only on age [1 to 4 or 5], but also on weight [20 to 40 pounds]. For this reason, data for these children were tabulated by driver-reported weight estimates.)

The results on CSS use for toddlers weighing between 20 and 40 pounds showed increases like those in the age category for toddlers from both test sites. <u>Significant improvement</u> was found only in Haverford when toddler CSS use was analyzed based on a weight definition. Table 10 compares CSS use by AAP recommended weight requirements for toddlers in CSSs.

Toddler Weight Group	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	[•] Percentage Point Difference
Toddlers	Т	78.1% (607)	80.6% (582)	+2.5
(20 to 40 pounds)	н	62.3% (904)	73.1% (860)	+10.8*
	Α	69.1% (732)	68.2% (421)	-0.9

Table 10. Percentage of Child Safety Seat use by toddlers (20 to 40 pounds),before and after interventions, by site.

T—TredyffrinH—HaverfordA—Abington (comparison site)NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the characteristic.(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Lack of any restraint use, whether CSS or SB, was also observed and recorded in the data collection effort. For <u>all toddlers</u> (ages 1 to 5), <u>statistically significant improvement</u> was found in Haverford when compared with the comparison site. There was an almost 10 percentage-point decrease in unrestrained toddlers in Haverford. Tredyffrin showed a slight improvement (0.7 percentage-point decrease in unrestrained toddlers); however, both sites had similar rates for nonuse of restraints (only 1.5 percentage-point difference) by the post-intervention period.

According to the AAP, recommendations for booster CSSs are based not only on age (over 4 or 5 to 7 or 8), but also on weight (40 to 70 pounds). For this reason, data for these children were tabulated by driver-reported weight estimates. Observations involved young children (primarily between age 5 and 9 and primarily over 40 pounds) in the vehicle. For these older children, Haverford showed significant improvement in relation to the comparison site. There was an almost 30 percentage-point decrease in unrestrained children in Haverford. Tredyffrin showed a small improvement (0.7 percentage-point decrease in nonuse of restraints); however, both sites showed only a 3.2 percentage-point difference in nonrestraints by the post-intervention period. For children over 40 pounds,¹⁵ Haverford showed statistically significant improvement when contrasted with the comparison site. There was a 25.8 percentage-point decrease in unrestrained children are non-strained children from pre- to post-intervention. Tredyffrin showed a slight decrease, 0.3 percentage-point. However, there was a 30 percentage-point decrease in nonuse of restraints (i.e., 30 percentage-point change from no restraint to some type of OR) for Haverford in the pre-intervention period.

Table 11 presents the nonuse of restraints for all toddlers (ages 1 to 5) and older children (ages 5 to 9 and over 40 pounds).

Compliance with OR Laws of Pennsylvania

The Commonwealth's OR laws apply to children from birth to age 4. The law provides no weight requirements. From observing restraint use and seat position in the vehicle and by knowing the age of these children, a "compliance" rate was determined for the law.

¹⁵ During the pre-intervention data collection phase, less than 5 percent of children over 40 pounds were less than age 5.
Age/Weight Characteristics	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Toddlers (Ages 1 to 5)	T H A	6.0% (703) 16.3% (949) 11.6% (743)	5.3% (637) 6.8% (884) 13.4% (433)	-0.7 -9.5* +1.8
Older children (Ages 5 and 9)	T H A	17.5% (114) 50.3% (183) 44.0% (209)	16.8% (137) 20.0% (175) 47.4% (137)	-0.7 -30.3* +3.4
Older children (Over 40 pounds)	T H A	14.4% (188) 44.5% (211) 36.6% (224)	14.7% (190) 18.7% (214) 38.7% (173)	+0.3 -25.8* +2.1

Table 11. Percentage of nonuse of restraints (safety belts or child safety seats) by toddlers and older children, before and after intervention by sites.

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford A-Abington (comparison site) NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the characteristic.

(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

For the most part, most drivers (lowest compliance rate in pre- and post-intervention periods was 80 percent in Haverford) with young children complied with Pennsylvania's OR laws. However, the CSS laws in the state are weak. Drivers can comply with the law even with toddlers (ages 1 to 4) restrained by a SB only in the back seats. (The AAP does not feel this is adequate "full protection." Project objectives were to promote full protection for toddlers, including proper CSS use even in the back seat. This "full protection" rate observed is reported next.)

Nevertheless, <u>significant improvement</u> (9.9 percentage points) in compliance with the law for toddlers (ages 1 to 4) was found in Haverford in contrast with the comparison site. Tredyffrin had a slight improvement, 1.9 percentage points. However, Tredyffrin's compliance with the law was 10 percentage points better than Haverford's in the pre-intervention phase. The comparison site, Abington, showed a slight decrease in compliance, 0.4 percentage point. Figure 10 shows the impact of the intervention on driver compliance with Pennsylvania's OR laws.

"Fully Protected" Young Children

A "fully protected" measure was computed from observation data collected on child restraint use and project-defined proper use (i.e., appropriate direction of CSS, harness down in place and attached to seat, CSS buckled to vehicle SB), seat position, and reported age of toddlers.

<u>All Toddlers (Ages 1 to 5)</u>. Significant improvements of "full protection" occurred in both test sites in contrast to the comparison site. Tredyffrin and Haverford improved 5.8 and 11.8 percentage points, respectively, after the intervention. In contrast to the comparison site, the impact was even greater, 10.1, and 16.1 percentage points in Tredyffrin and Haverford, respectively. Figure 11 shows the impact of the intervention for "fully protected" toddlers.

55



٦

(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

Demo Impact is the difference between each test township and the comparison site.

Figure 10. Percentage point change of driver compliance with occupant restraint laws of Pennsylvania for toddlers (ages 1 to 4), before and after intervention, by site.

Toddler Age (1 to 3. 3 to 5) and Weight (20 to 40 pounds) Categories. For young toddlers (ages 1 to 3) and older toddlers (ages 3 to 5), the "fully protected" measures improved for both test sites from pre- to post-intervention phases. Table 12 shows the percentage impact of the intervention for "fully protected" young toddlers (ages 1 to 3), older toddlers (ages 3 to 5), and toddlers between 20 and 40 pounds. For young toddlers. "fully protected." rates during pre- and post-intervention phases were all above 82 percent. Tredyffrin and Haverford improved 5.3 percentage points and 8.6 percentage points, respectively, from pre- to post-intervention phase. However, when compared with Abington (comparison site), only Haverford's improvement was significant. Both test sites showed 90 percent of the young toddlers "fully protected" after the intervention. For older toddlers, the "fully protected" rates were much lower (about 50 percentage points) than for the younger toddlers during the pre-intervention and post-intervention periods. This is probably related to the fact that many of the children ages 3 to 5 were wearing SBs and thus were not really "fully protected." Tredyffrin and Haverford improved 4.6 and 10.5 percentage points, respectively, from pre- to post-intervention phase. However, these improvements were not statistically significant when compared with those of Abington.



NN.N% is the observed incidence of the characteristic in the community during the time period. (NNN) is the number of observations or respondents. Demo impact is the difference between each test township and the comparison site.

Figure 11. Percentage point change of "fully protected" toddlers (ages 1 to 5), before and after intervention, by site.

Age/Weight Category	Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Young toddlers (Ages 1 to 3)	T H · A	86.1% (432) 82.1% (526) 85.0% (433)	91.4% (382) 90.7% (529) 86.2% (210)	+5.3 +8.6* +1.2
Older toddlers (Ages 3 to 5)	T H A	36.5% (271) 27.0% (423) 33.2% (310)	45.1% (255) 37.5% (355) 33.6% (223)	+8.6 +10.5 +0.4
Toddlers (20 to 40 pounds)	T H A	73.1% (607) 59.1% (904) 65.4% (732)	76.8% (582) 70.9% (860) 64.1% (421)	+3.7 +11.8* -1.3

Table 12. Change in "fully protected" rates of toddlers, by age and weight, before and after intervention, by site.

For <u>toddlers</u> between <u>20 and 40 pounds</u>, both test sites improved on their "fully protected" measure. Haverford's improvement (11.8 percentage points) was <u>significant</u>. Similar to other CSS use characteristics, Tredyffrin had a higher pre-intervention level, in this case, 14 percentage points.

Comparison of Driver SB Use and Toddler Restraint Use

A clear, direct relationship emerged from an analysis of driver belt use and restraint use by toddlers. As Figure 12 shows, belted drivers were much more likely to have restrained toddler passengers than were unbelted drivers. This positive relationship appeared across all sites and between intervention periods. When drivers were observed wearing shoulder belts, 73 percent of their child passengers ages 1 to 5 were in a CSS, 24 percent were belted, and only 3 percent were not in any restraint. When drivers were not wearing belts, only 53 percent of those ages 1 to 5 were in a CSS, 16 percent were belted, and 31 percent were not in any restraint. This finding is consistent with other studies (Cynecki and Goryl, 1984).



Figure 12. Driver shoulder belt use versus toddler restraint use. (Post-intervention data from all 3 sites)

QUERY RESPONSE DATA

Drivers with child passengers were queried on their knowledge of the OR laws in Pennsylvania, perception of community OR enforcement, attitudes about OR enforcement, self-reported proper CSS use behavior, and awareness of CSS issues. This section describes the levels and differences in driver responses to these queries during the pre- and post-intervention phase of data collection.

Knowledge of OR Laws

Drivers were asked about their knowledge of Pennsylvania's CSS and SB laws. CSS law queries related to (1) maximum age requirement for a child to be in a CSS in the front seat, and (2) back-seat restraint requirements for children up to age 4. Results showed only about half of the drivers (across sites and before and after intervention) knew the required age for a child to be in a CSS in the front seat. Results were much higher (about 90 percent) on drivers knowledge (across sites and before and after intervention) of the back-seat restraint requirements. (Maybe the "yes-no" type of response caused such a high rate.) No significant differences were found for response changes from before to after the intervention. Drivers did seem to be aware of the SB law in the Commonwealth. Over 90 percent of the drivers in the test and comparison sites (pre- and post-phases) knew that there was a law. Differences across site and phases were very small. Table 13 presents the results of this query.

Tabl.	13.	Change in driver-reported	knowledge of	occupant	restraint	laws in 2	Pennsyl	vania,
		before and after	intervention, b	oy site (p	ercentage)	•		

Up to what age does Pennsylvania's law require a child to be in a child safety seat when riding with you (the driver) in the front of a car?

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-Intervention	Percentage Point Difference
T	58.6% (459)	57.6% (523)	-1.0
н	55.3% (477)	57.9% (700)	+2.6
•	46.8% (485)	48.1% (366)	+1.3

Could you get a ticket if a child between the ages of 1 and 4 is in the back cost of your car and is not in a child safety cost and is not using a seat bek?

[1] Yan' [2] No

Site	Pre-intervention.	Post-Intervention	Percentage Point Difference
T	94.1% (581)	94.3% (599)	+0.2
н	95.2% (588)	93.5% (799)	-1.7
•	94.9% (570)	92.3% (429)	-2.6

Is it possible for you to get a ticket for not wearing a seat belt when you drive? [1] Yes ? [2] No

Site	Pre-lutervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Т	92.6% (591)	93.6% (606)	+1.0
н	93.6% (594)	93.2% (776)	-0.4
A	90.6% (576)	90.0% (431)	-0.6

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford

A-Abington (comparison site)

NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the response.

(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

*Correct response.

Perception of Enforcement

Drivers with young children were asked how they perceived the probability of getting a ticket in their community for violating the CSS or SB laws. (See Table 14.) Five categories of responses were suggested to drivers. Data were reported by comparing the "likely" responses (very likely, somewhat likely) with the "occasionally" or "unlikely" responses (somewhat unlikely, very unlikely responses). Drivers (based on responses) showed increased perception (very likely, somewhat likely) on enforcement of the CSS and SB law in both test communities. In addition, when contrasted with the comparison site, drivers at both test sites showed a <u>significant increase</u> in difference in perception on enforcement of the CSS law.

J

Table 14. Change in driver-reported perception of enforcement of occupant restraint laws, before and after intervention, by site.

CSS Law

How likely is it to get a ticket in your community for violating Pennsylvania's Child Safety Seat Law?

1' Very Likely 2] Somewhat Likely 3] Occasionally 4] Somewhat Unlikely 5] Very Unlikely

"Very Likely-Somewhat Likely" Responses

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
T	25.1% (585)	32.2% (605)	+7.1*
н	27.0% (570)	32.3% (777)	+5.3*
A	29.4% (537)	25.3% (391)	-4.1

SB Law

How likely is it to get a ticket in your community for violating Pennsylvania's Seat Belt Law?

1] Very Likely 2] Somewhat Likely 3] Occasionally 4] Somewhat Unlikely 5] Very Unlikely

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
т	23.5% (585)	30.2% (609)	+6.7
Ĥ	24.2% (567)	30.1% (774)	+5.9°
A	25.5% (556)	23.3 % (399)	-2.2

"Very Likely-Somewhat Likely" Responses

T-TredyffrinH-HaverfordA-Abington (comparison site)NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the response.(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Attitude on OR Enforcement

Drivers with young children were asked if they favored having the police enforce Pennsylvania's CSS and SB laws. (See Table 15.) Responses showed that over 90 percent of these drivers favor these laws. The test and comparison sites showed no significant response differences from before to after the intervention.

Ξ.

Table 15. Change in driver-reported attitude on enforcement of occupant restraint laws, before and after intervention, by site.

		CSS Law	· · ·	
How do you feel	about the police enforcing	g Pennsylvania's Child S	Safety Seat Law?	
Strongly in Favor [1]	Somewhat in Favor [2]	Undecided or Not Interested [3]	Somewhat Opposed [4]	Strongiy Opposed [5]
	"Strongly in Fa	vor-Somewhat in Favo	or" Responses	
Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Pr	int Difference

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
т	95.4% (611)	97.2% (573)	+1.8
н	97.2% (606)	98.5% (751)	+1.3
A .	95.6% (603)	97.0% (410)	+1.4

SB Law

How do you feel about the police enforcing Pennsylvania's Seat Belt Law?

Strongly in	Somewhat in	Undecided	Somewhat	Strongly
Favor	Favor	or Not	Opposed	Opposed
. [1]	[2]	Interested	[4]	[5]
		[3]		

"Strongly in Favor-Somewhat in Favor" Responses

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
T	91.8% (610)	93.7% (570)	+1.9
н	93.1% (605)	96.1% (744)	+3.0
A	88.5% (601)	91.7% (410)	+3.2

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford A-Abington (comparison site) NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the response. (NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.

Self-Reported Behavior on Proper CSS Use

Drivers were asked how often they put their children in CSSs properly. It seems that many drivers are already aware of the importance of "always" having young children properly installed in CSSs, but they still may not act on their knowledge. When contrasted with the comparison sites, both test sites showed <u>statistically significant improvements</u> in drivers responding "always," which should be the only "appropriate" response. Table 16 presents the responses to behavior and usage of CSSs.

Table 16. Change in driver-reported behavior on proper child safety seat use before and after intervention, by site.

Very few people know the proper way to install child safety seats, and few people properly secure their children in these seats all the time. How often are child safety seats properly installed and used in your car?

Always	Frequently	Sometimes	Infrequently	Never
[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
			•	

"Always" Response

Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference
Т	73.2% (549)	80.9% (540)	+7.7*
H	88.8% (563)	89.4% (695)	+0.6*
Α	86% (601)	72.9% (388)	-13.1

T-Tredyffrin H-Haverford A-Abington (comparison site) NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the response. (NNN) is the number of observations or respondents. *Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Awareness of CSS Issues

Drivers were asked whether they had been informed of CSS issues in the last few months (yes or no). Significant differences were found in Haverford Township when contrasted with the comparison group. (See Table 17.) In addition to responding "Yes" or "No" about whether they have seen or heard anything about CSSs, drivers were also asked where they saw or heard it. Only 249 drivers reported where they found out about CSS issues. The following categories of response were identified: (1) project activities—30%, (2) magazines or books—24%, (3) doctors' offices—26%, and (4) miscellaneous—20%.

(Yes-Response)					
Site	Pre-intervention	Post-intervention	Percentage Point Difference		
Т	52.8% (606)	50.0% (544)	-2.8		
H	43.6% (594)	56.4% (768)	+12.8*		
A	47.4% (601)	46.2% (400)	-1.2		

Table 17.	Change in driver-reported awareness of child safety seat	issues,
	before and after intervention, by site.	

T-TredyffrinH-HaverfordA-Abington (comparison site)NN.N% is the percentage of the observed incidence of the response.(NNN) is the number of observations or respondents.*Significant at 95% level of confidence.

Only 779 out of 1,712 drivers responded to what they remembered about the CSS messages. Responses matched the following categories: (1) messages used in program—47%, (2) general safety benefit—27%, (3) the 1991 "Florida case"¹⁶—9%, and (4) other legal issues—19%.

INTERPRETATION OF FINDINGS

This section presents an interpretation of the findings, as well as unique situations that may have influenced results. The following is covered: data collection methods and sampling technique, characteristics of sample population, observation data, query response data, and summary.

Data Collection Methods and Sampling Techniques

Observations and query responses were collected in community shopping centers at the test (Tredyffrin and Haverford) and comparison (Abington) sites. The goal was to collect data on every target driver and child passenger. However, because of the constraints imposed by the physical characteristics of the shopping center, the traffic flow into the parking area, project costs, the number of data collectors at each site, daylight hours, and some driver reluctance to interact, not every target driver who visited the shopping centers with young child passengers was observed or queried.

Repeat observations were made of some drivers (approximately 5 to 8 percent of the drivers in the three townships); however, these drivers were queried only the first time.

¹⁶ Parents were convicted of manslaughter for not having their child in a CSS. Unrestrained child died when thrown from the car during an accident.

63

Data were collected not only from township residents but also from surrounding township residents. The rationale was that police enforcement and public intervention and education (PI&E) projects spilled over into the surrounding communities; and local newspaper coverage, school projects, special events, and shopping activities reached audiences beyond the township boundaries. In addition, contract resources were not available to spend the time that it would take to collect information on only township residents.

¢,

Characteristics of Sample Population

As planned and implemented, the sample of drivers and their child passengers reached appropriate numbers in both the pre- and post-intervention phases to support statistically reasonable assumptions that the program was probably the reason for the increase in OR use and proper use of child restraints, as well as for the increase in drivers' perception of local police enforcement, self-reported proper CSS use behavior, and awareness of CSS issues.

Most of the drivers with child passengers, across test and comparison communities and during preand post-intervention phases, were women ages 30 to 39. These drivers were primarily mothers doing routine grocery and other shopping chores with their young children. Travel patterns to the shopping centers were also consistent across communities and phases. As aforementioned, most of the drivers traveled less than 10 minutes, were less than 3 miles from their last stop, and frequented the shopping centers more than once a week. Thus, most of the drivers probably lived near the community shopping centers, a characteristic that was sought in the sampling plan.

Observation Data Interpretation

The results of the analysis showed increases in SB use by both drivers with child passengers and general public (driver without child passenger), as well as increased CSS use and proper use among toddlers after the intervention program in both test sites. In addition, significant results were noted for SB use by the public and between key CSS use and proper use observation and query response measures in at least one site and, in some cases, both sites. The intervention projects showed an effect. The comparison site showed no significant improvement in any measure.

Restraint use by drivers with young children did improve in all sites after the intervention period. Results were not statistically significant and could simply reflect the national trend. However, statistically significant differences in shoulder belt use were noted for general public drivers at the test sites. In Tredyffrin and Haverford, drivers significantly improved (over 9 and 6 percentage points, respectively) from the pre- to post-intervention phase, whereas in Abington, the usage rate dropped by almost 3 percentage points. Differences in SB usage rate improvements in the test sites were greater than increases in the national shoulder belt usage rates for cities with SB laws. National shoulder belt usage rates slightly improved, from 54 percent to 55 percent, between the spring and fall of 1991 according to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), November 1991. In all likelihood, the intervention programs also increased SB use in the community.

For OR use by drivers with child passengers and the general public, SB use was much higher for drivers with young children than for the general public across all three sites and for both pre- and post-intervention phases. Drivers were more likely to wear SBs when children were in the vehicle. Results also showed that when drivers were belted, 97 percent of the toddlers were restrained (CSS-73 percent or SB-24 percent); and when drivers were not belted, only 69 percent of the toddlers were restrained (CSS or SB). (Data from Mississippi in 1991 showed the same figure for CSS use, 73 percent when the driver was belted [IACP, 1993].)

One of the main objectives of the intervention projects was to improve the use of CSSs for all toddlers (ages 1 to 5). The statistically significant improvements in both test sites (when compared with the control site) bring reasonable probability to the conclusion that both intervention projects increased the community CSS use.

Significant improvements were found in many CSS use and proper use measures in both sites. Haverford showed more improvements than Tredyffrin in the measures of restraint use by drivers with child passengers, CSS use and proper use for toddlers, and restraint use for older children. However, the pre-intervention restraint and child restraint use levels were much lower in Haverford, which suggests that this township has more "room for improvement."

Despite many similar intervention activities at each test site, there were also many differences. Tredyffrin offered higher levels of enforcement activities, more staff training, and more PI&E to the businesses and the community. However, Haverford conducted more press coverage, more community projects based around young children and teenagers, and hosted a CSS inspection clinic. The fact is that CSS use and proper use in both test sites improved (for some measures, significantly, based on comparison site data) despite different levels of enforcement and PI&E activities. Thus, interpreting the results of the data analysis was a complex process, but it did show that the intervention projects in both communities probably increased CSS use and proper use. Some of the key findings of the observation data and query responses are discussed next.

Since CSS use improved with the overall toddler group, the young (ages 1 to 3) and older (ages 3 to 5) toddler groups were also expected to improve; and they did. However, results were not statistically significant. As was expected, CSS use by older toddlers (ages 3 to 5) was much lower (pre- and post-intervention) than CSS use by the younger toddler group. Many older toddlers were in SBs. Haverford experienced a significant improvement (30 percentage points) in the number of young children (between ages 5 and 9 and over 40 pounds) wearing SBs. Haverford's project, which had more emphasis on PI&E activities than enforcement, probably reached all the township children in the schools and day-care centers. This approach may well have been responsible for the significant improvement in restraint use.

Another objective of the intervention project was to improve Tredyffrin's compliance with Pennsylvania's child passenger safety law, which allows belt use for children ages 1 to 4. This weakness was one of the reasons for focusing intervention on increasing "full protection" for toddlers (up to age 5), not only in the front seat but in the back seat as well. For toddlers in the age group identified in the law (ages 1 to 4), both test sites showed compliance rate improvements after the intervention project. Haverford's improvement was significant (90 percent compliance), and close to Tredyffrin's post-intervention level (92 percent). Tredyffrin's compliance with the laws was high before the project, so the enforcement conducted may not have been able to improve compliance beyond this level. Again, Haverford's approach may have been responsible for improved compliance with the CSS law.

Another objective of the intervention project was to improve the rate of "fully protected" toddlers in vehicles. For toddlers between ages 1 and 5, results showed significant improvements (12 to 13 percentage points) in the "fully protected" number of toddlers in both test sites after the intervention phase. Observation data revealed that in Tredyffrin and Haverford, 73 and 69 percent, respectively, of all toddlers observed were "fully protected," after the intervention. The combination of activities in each community was likely to have been responsible for these increases.

Query Data Interpretation

Other project objectives were to determine whether the intervention projects had an effect on drivers of child passengers in terms of their knowledge of Pennsylvania's OR laws, perception of enforcement of these laws, attitudes about enforcement, self-reported behavior concerning proper child restraint use, and awareness of CSS issues.

Ξ.,

Drivers' knowledge of the OR laws of Pennsylvania after the intervention project had changed very little. Over 90 percent of the drivers across sites and intervention phases acknowledged that they knew about the CSS and SB laws in the State. However, only about 50 percent of the sample across sites and intervention phases knew the age cutoff for children in the front seat to be in a CSS. Project material covered the law in details, but drivers probably skimmed the material. "Full protection" rates might increase if parents were better educated on the details of the CSS laws and the laws provided full protection in the front and back seats.

Drivers had increased perception about the local police enforcing the OR laws. Many more drivers at both test sites responded "very likely" or "somewhat likely" as the likelihood of getting a ticket in the community for violating the CSS or SB laws. Even though Tredyffrin had higher enforcement contact levels than Haverford, all of the press releases in both test communities mentioned the enforcement component and CSS laws; some mentioned counts on the numbers of tickets ar ! warnings given for OR violations. Thus, press coverage on enforcement may have been instrumental in increasing perception of enforcement in these communities, maybe even more important than the enforcement activities themselves.

Most of the queried drivers (88 to 99 percent) across all of the sites and during both phases were in favor ("strongly" or "somewhat") of the police enforcing the OR laws. The restraint use rate for these drivers was already about 20 to 30 percent higher than that of the general public (50 percent). Drivers who already comply with the law are probably more likely to respond favorably to OR enforcement.

Also of interest was finding out if the intervention projects changed the way drivers responded to how often they have their children in properly secured CSSs. After being made aware of the safety benefits of OR's, a driver would be expected to respond "always" to the OR question. Both test sites showed significant increases for the "always" response. It is not of critical concern that drivers might falsify their responses. If drivers are now aware of the need for always using child restraints, contact with one or more of the intervention activities may have educated them about this critically important concept and behavior.

Another measure of project effectiveness is knowing whether drivers were aware of CSS issues recently seen, read, or heard. The question was slightly misleading because the drivers asked may have been aware of CSS issues from information other than that developed through the intervention projects. However, the number of drivers who responded "yes" to seeing, hearing, or reading something about CSSs increased significantly in Haverford, but not in Tredyffrin. The higher level of press coverage in Haverford may have been the responsible factor.

Summary

Each test site demonstrated different levels of OR enforcement "contacts" and PI&E activities. (Tredyffrin had three times as many "contacts" and 10 times as many citations as Haverford. Haverford had twice as many newspaper articles, more public advertising (billboards, banners), and more public events than Tredyffrin. Haverford also held a CSS clinic and conducted a very comprehensive school/day-care education project). However, despite the different "mix" in each community, significant improvements were evident in the key measures of CSS use and "full protection" rates among toddlers and SB use of the general public. Also, significant results were found in the perception of enforcement of the OR laws and drivers acknowledging that they always use CSSs properly. Improvements also were noted with drivers' (with young children) SB use rate and their compliance with Pennsylvania's OR laws.

ŧ.

The results suggest that moderate and more intense levels of OR enforcement (which includes warnings) combined with a comprehensive PI&E project that includes frequent press (newspaper) coverage and public events (including CSS inspection clinics), projects for schools, day-care centers, and the civic and business community can improve and promote local CSS use, proper use, and OR belt use.

7. PROJECT ADMINISTRATIVE EVALUATION

ł

An administrative evaluation of the demonstration project looked at management direction, activities, and unique characteristics. Many "players" were involved, including local police, Statesupported groups, community groups, and businesses. Understanding their roles, their decisions, and the way that these decisions affected the results provides direction for police and other community organizations trying to promote and increase use and proper use of child safety seats (CSSs) and all occupant restraint (OR) use in communities.

The primary "players" were the police. The evaluation addresses the key elements that provided direction and motivation for police in enforcement and public information and education (PI&E) activities, including:

- Project management, leadership, and supervision.
- Model policies.
- Training.
- Enforcement.
- PI&E activities, publicity, and other events.

The State and community also played a significant role in the project. Activities by the Statesupported and private local and regional CSS or safety belt (SB) highway safety groups were instrumental in the success of the demonstration project. The evaluation examines the role of these groups and the ways that their efforts supplemented police activities. The community (e.g., local businesses, schools, libraries, department stores, and fast-food restaurants) also cooperated and assisted in Pl&E activities. The value of the community role is also examined.

The contractor and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) monitored the project and regularly interacted with the police, local and regional highway safety groups, and the community. Their role is evaluated.

The last section of the chapter briefly discusses general project issues, such as the elements of the demonstration project (e.g., level of police enforcement and policy decisions) and data collection effort (e.g., target group characteristics, sampling, and field observations) that could not be controlled by increased monitoring and project directives.

POLICE

The Tredyffrin and Haverford police departments may not have initially realized the level of commitment required to conduct an effective OR enforcement and PI&E program. However, both police departments clearly stated that they were willing to conduct the program if the effort would not hinder the level of support services normally given in their communities. This provision was accepted since one objective of this project was to show that an effective OR enforcement and PI&E project could be conducted in conjunction with routine operations and without "outside" funding for police salaries. It was suggested that OR enforcement "contacts" reach at least 10 to 20 percent of the police department's total number of citations. Neither department officially agreed to reach this level. Both departments emphasized that ticketing quotas were illegal in Pennsylvania. However, they stated that they would try to meet all of the project objectives, i.e., instituting employee directives and SB policy, training, and OR law enforcement as well as participating in PI&E activities.

Management, Leadership, and Supervision

-

In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, two superintendents were involved with the project. At the start of the project, the Superintendent delegated all project activities to the Community Relations Officer and the patrol sergeants responsible for traffic enforcement. For the most part, these officers were given autonomous control. During the first half of the project, the Superintendent played only a peripheral role rather than closely monitoring the project activities. This approach may have hindered reaching the expected level of OR enforcement in the first half of the project. However, the patrol sergeants blamed manpower shortages (e.g., summer vacations, retirements) and the officers' perception of unduly high costs associated with the secondary citation of the SB violation.

Midway through the project, the Superintendent retired and was replaced by the captain, who had over 20 years of experience at Tredyffrin. The captain was very familiar with the project and strongly advocated the safety benefits of occupant protection. When NHTSA and contractor staff visited, bringing along a police lieutenant (from a jurisdiction with high levels of OR enforcement), the need for more OR enforcement was stressed. The captain (now Superintendent) agreed that OR enforcement was important and immediately intensified the enforcement activity. The new Superintendent assigned a lieutenant to oversee the effort. The lieutenant reinforced OR enforcement directives, conducted and assisted in refresher training, and took time during roll calls to remind the patrol sergeants and patrolmen that they must enforce the OR laws and wear SBs.

A dramatic increase in OR "contacts" occurred. The Superintendent and lieutenant appeared to be working together to assure officer commitment. They frequently checked with staff about activities associated with the enforcement and PI&E projects. The records' staff of the department had to give the Chief and lieutenant monthly updates of OR enforcement "contacts." This strong commitment from the Superintendent and regular feedback between the lieutenant and the officers conducting the OR activities was instrumental in improving OR enforcement and maintaining PI&E activities.

In <u>Haverford</u>, the Chief delegated the project activities to the lieutenant in command of the patrol division and highway safety unit. Under the lieutenant's command, enforcement directives were issued to the patrol staff. In addition, PI&E activities were delegated to the highway safety unit's senior officer, whose regular duties already included community relations activities, training, special projects, and routine traffic patrol. This officer was also the Occupant Protection, Usage, and Enforcement (OPUE) instructor. Even though the Chief felt strongly about occupant protection, especially after he was involved in a serious car accident at the beginning of the project, he did not follow the progress of the project closely enough to monitor or note the low level of OR enforcement, and he did not keep track of other activities. He primarily relied on the lieutenant to manage the program.

When NHTSA and contractor staff as well as the aforementioned police lieutenant held a midproject meeting with the Haverford police department to promote greater OR enforcement, the Chief and lieutenant acknowledged that more OR enforcement would increase the probability of project success, but did not commit to the OR enforcement levels suggested. They cited the secondary enforcement aspect of the law (which is discussed later in this chapter) and the manpower shortage. Although this shortage would reduce the number of citations if all patrol officers were committed to OR enforcement, the citations would still have been regularly issued—and they were not. The contrast in project management styles between and within the two police departments demonstrated what style was effective in promoting OR enforcement. The top-ranking officers needed to show frequent and strong interest in and commitment to enforcement of the OR law. A "hands-on" style of senior management, which regularly monitored the enforcement, assisted on training and roll-call reminders, and personally recognized a good enforcement effort was needed to promote active OR enforcement.

Model Policy Guidelines

NHTSA and contractor staff suggested to the police that a successful OR enforcement and PI&E project would depend on following elements of the model enforcement policies being promoted by the International Association of Chiefs of Police (IACP), NHTSA, and the California Safety Belt Task Force (CSBTF). The IACP/NHTSA model enforcement project for occupant protection encompasses a set of broad activities for police, including:

- SB use by police.
- Training, which covers OR safety benefits and the need for enforcement.
- Guidelines for OR enforcement.
- OR enforcement programs and strategies.
- Comprehensive PI&E projects, which cover enforcement activities.
- Reward projects for officers.
- Reward projects for motorists complying with OR laws.

The CSBTF model enforcement project is very similar to the IACP/NHTSA model in stressing patrolmen training, SB use by police, and enforcement goals. However, the CSBTF model also provides guidelines for incorporating more specific elements into OR enforcement projects and strategies (SB citation considered a hazardous citation, citation information card, and citation number printed on the citation form) along with PI&E programs (public information and SB usage emphasized in crash reporting).

Both Tredyffrin and Haverford police found it relatively easy to follow most elements of the IACP/NHTSA model project, including training, SB use recommendations, enforcement projects and strategies, and PI&E (internal and community) activities. In the CSBTF model, the police were readily able to follow suggestions about the citation information card, the public information card, and the report on SB usage at crash scenes. Both police departments thought adding a category for OR citation on the standard traffic citation form would help reinforce the project. However, forms could not be developed in time for the intervention projects. Haverford developed its own OR warning form, as a way to remind the patrol officers to make OR "contacts." Neither department followed the policy decision to promote the enforcement effort by marking SB violation citations as "hazardous." They stated that it was up to Pennsylvania Department of Transportation to change the law and make the SB violation primary.

The next topic headings represent the areas chosen for evaluating the effectiveness of the key model elements: SB use policy for police, police training, enforcement, and PI&E activities.

<u>SB Use Policy</u>. Both departments followed the statement, purpose, and procedures of the model SB use policies required for police department employees, with the exception of IACP/NHTSA's guidelines that call for restraint of all prisoners. Both departments put an exemption in their policies and let officers decide whether to use SBs on a person under arrest, especially if the person is violent or combative and places the safety of the officer in peril.

Officers were given department SB use policies during training and frequently reminded about the policy's intent during subsequent roll calls. The policies set the groundwork for police employees, reinforcing the notion that officers are community role models and must set an example by wearing belts themselves if they are going to enforce the OR laws. The police chiefs were very receptive to this reason for having a department SB policy. Observations on four occasions found that compliance with the policy was 100 percent in Tredyffrin and 87 percent in Haverford. The majority of the officers seemed to accept the policies and follow them. Specific sanctions for officers not following policy were never clearly identified. Tredyffrin mentioned giving suspensions. The police probably handle each incident on a case-by-case basis.

٤.

<u>Training</u>. Both police departments participated in a state-organized and taught NHTSA OPUE training project and conducted in-house training using the NHTSA OPUE curriculum. Three certified police instructors attended a 2 1/2 day NHTSA OPUE training course prior to the intervention projects.

<u>NHTSA/OPUE Workshop</u>. The three instructors from Tredyffrin and Haverford provided their opinions on the NHTSA OPUE training project. On a positive note, the officers stated that the workshop thoroughly explained the unique features of Pennsylvania's SB and CSS laws, especially the secondary enforcement aspect of the SB law and the fact that children (age 1 to 4) may legally be restrained with an SB in the back seat. They thought that the workshop provided the basic information and instruction necessary for training their staff, and they agreed that the companion videotapes were excellent. On the negative side, the instructors wanted more detection techniques for identifying violators of the OR laws, more time to practice the instruction exercises, more training on how to instruct fellow officers, more coverage on the costs associated with a secondary violation, and more coverage on CSS types, identification of the Federally approved seats, and more specific issues, such as appropriate ages for each type of seat. Their criticisms of the training might explain some of the resistance to higher levels of SB ticketing.

<u>In-House Training</u>. The training conducted at each police department was evaluated by questioning the training officers and observing a training session. The evaluation covers content of the training material, scheduling, and effects of the training on enforcement activities.

Both departments' instructors followed the NHTSA OPUE training course content and material. Accompanying each chapter of the <u>Participant Manual</u> were related video segments. Instructors stated that the most important aspect of the training involved educating the officers on how to look for SB and CSS violations (e.g., position of the SBs and CSS harness not over child's head). Since both departments were not regularly enforcing the OR laws, the instructors felt that the patrolmen needed this guidance. Instructors expressed more willingness to conduct the training, given the proper resources and tools. The instructors felt that training the officers and having an adequate supply of instructional materials, education aids (e.g., audiovisual slides, videotapes), and handouts (e.g., the <u>Participant Manual</u>) facilitated and helped deliver a more effective training program. They strongly believed that the training reinforced policy directives and other "motivational" information provided to the officers. For instance, in <u>Tredyffrin</u>, officers learned during training that baseline results showed the majority of the community in favor of the OR laws.

Throughout each year, both departments conducted frequent training sessions (in-house and at the police training sites) on all aspects of police work, including enforcement techniques and specific community problems. By the beginning of the project, the police departments had prescheduled other training sessions and thus could not accommodate OR enforcement training immediately. Fortunately, Tredyffrin was able to fit in the OPUE training within 2 months after the instructor had gone to the

72

workshop. <u>Haverford</u> had already committed to other training, firearms practice, vacation, and community programs, so they were unable to schedule OR training for most patrol officers until a few months after PI&E activities.

Ì,

Once training was scheduled and conducted, the patrol staff was given the order to implement OR enforcement "contacts" (written warnings and citations). Increases in OR enforcement "contacts" appeared in the month following Tredyffrin's training (March 1991) and the month during Haverford's training (July 1991). This result was anticipated, even expected. In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, training did not adequately address the ticket-cost issue. The patrol officers initially gave mostly citations; but after 2 months, the court administrators informed the department that the officers charged only the \$10 fine—not the additional \$41.50 in State costs—for SB violators. This cost issue affected the direction of the enforcement project in that officers were more reluctant to give SB citations than written SB warnings. By the summer, OR enforcement "contacts" had dropped. Many reasons were cited (as explained later in this chapter).

By early fall, with a new stronger executive direction, the officers received additional refresher training; and OR enforcement "contacts" increased dramatically. Refresher training was apparently instrumental in improving OR enforcement "contacts." Even though many "contacts" were written warnings (probably due to directives integrated into training), by the end of refresher training, the level of OR "contacts" exceeded 20 percent of total citations. In <u>Haverford</u>, the training program emphasized that the choice between a citation and a written warning would be at the discretion of the officer. There was no push for citations. The direction from the top leaned toward warnings, with the department even implementing a customized warning form. With this form in place, the OR enforcement "contacts" did dramatically increase immediately after training. The instructor conceded that refresher training should have been conducted from the middle to the end of the project to improve the "contacts" level, which had dropped. In Haverford's situation, the training schedule had to be determined almost 6 months in advance of project start-up, because of unforeseen training and schedule commitments that had appeared in the interim.

Enforcement

Both police departments acknowledged that enforcing SB and CSS laws would increase CSS use (and proper use) and general occupant protection. Issues affecting the enforcement effort by both departments are evaluated here; they include the effects of the State law, enforcement methods, OR "contacts" (citation vs. warning), and motivation techniques.

State Laws. The police expressed several concerns or problems with enforcement and ability to write a high level of tickets on Pennsylvania's primary CSS law. First, only limited opportunities are available to cite violators since drivers with young children usually drive during the day—often only between 9 a.m. and 4 p.m. Second, the police were able to identify only gross misuse, such as a toddler standing up in a seat. It was highly unlikely that CSS misuses obstructed from view would be noticed during routine patrol. Third, the law is vague in guidance on the proper methods of restraining children in CSSs. The law mentions that drivers need to put children in "appropriate restraint systems" (infant or toddler/convertible seat?), an "approved CSS" (Federal standards?), and "seat in any seating position equipped with an SB in the vehicle" (driver will attach CSS to SB?). The law does not mention the harness being in place or the child facing the proper direction, nor does it offer that the CSS needs to be attached to the vehicle's SB with correct routing. Thus, the law does not really provide enough guidance for proper use of CSSs in addition to no clearly established guidelines for enforcing the law. Finally, the weak structure of the law, which allows children (ages

73

1 to 4) to be restrained by an SB in the back seat is not conducive to detecting CSS law violators. If the law required children (ages 1 to 4) to be in a CSS in the back seat, officers on routine patrol would be more likely to detect young children (birth to age 4) not restrained in CSSs.

From the beginning of the project, the police expressed concern that the secondary enforcement status of Pennsylvania's SB law would inhibit its enforcement. Numerous discussions that the contractor and NHTSA officials held with both police departments emphasized that secondary SB laws are enforceable and effective, by citing California and Maryland State police activities. Nonetheless, the departments were convinced that the secondary nature of the law made it weak, and this belief would be a factor in reaching suggested project enforcement levels (20 percent of all citations). The police felt that two factors inhibited higher enforcement levels during the project: (1) the secondary law and (2) the additional costs associated with the secondary law. First, the ranking officers felt that a primary SB law should be established. The law inhibits high levels of SB ticketing due to the need to stop the driver for a primary violation, first. This situation reduces the opportunities to cite a large number of violators for the SB law, especially in a community setting as opposed to turnpikes or interstate roads. The message relayed to the officers from their superiors stressed the importance of enforcing the laws for the community's benefit. The superiors stated that the State diminishes the SB law's importance by (1) making it a secondary law, (2) making the actual fine (\$10) too low, and (3) not making it a moving violation. For all three reasons, their officers have mixed feelings about enforcing the SB law. The superiors need to convince the officers of the importance of enforcing the SB law for their community's safety benefit, despite the State's "message." In addition, the superiors strongly felt that the additional costs (\$40) associated with the SB citation fine inhibited higher enforcement levels. Many patrol officers were reluctant to issue SB citations because of the extra costs associated with the fine, especially after they had given a motorist a citation for a primary violation with its own fine and costs.

One of the departments firmly stated that the total cost associated with an SB citation was a major reason why patrolman gave out more warnings than citations. One patrol sergeant stated that his officers did not like to include the extra citation (about \$50) while giving the motorist a primary citation costing about \$85 to \$150. He added that more citations would have been written if there were not additional costs associated with the fine. The extra cost attached to an SB citation was a sensitive issue with both police departments. One patrol sergeant suggested that the police might enforce the law with all the extra charges if the additional money went to a law enforcement fund instead of emergency medical service (EMS), insurance, and court funds, which do not directly affect them.

Enforcement Techniques. Both police departments utilized routine patrol and selective enforcement during the project. On routine patrol, both departments used only 5 to 10 patrol vehicles on the road (and only 1 or 2 specifically assigned to traffic enforcement) on each shift. This relatively small number of patrol units does reduce the opportunity to enforce the OR laws, since many patrol officers are involved with community calls that take them away from the traffic environment. In small communities, OR enforcement using only routine patrols may not be enough. Dedicated traffic patrol units and selective enforcement are probably needed to increase OR law ticketing.

Both departments believed that selective enforcement was also needed to complement routine patrol efforts. With each department already participating in selective enforcement, it was easy for them to integrate OR enforcement into their current selective enforcement project, to reduce speeding and DUI violators in their community. Selective enforcement efforts focus on specific violations. If OR enforcement is a part of this focus, use of manpower resources is more efficient and the intensity of the OR enforcement activity expands.

٩.

Type of Enforcement "Contact". Written warnings for SB and CSS violators played a major part of both departments' OR enforcement effort. In fact, over 60 percent and 90 percent of all OR enforcement "contacts" were written warnings in Tredyffrin and Haverford, respectively. Stronger directives from the top command might have increased the ratio of citations to warnings. However, top command offered many reasons why the directives did not emphasize citations over warnings—or enforcement goals, for that matter. For <u>Tredyffrin</u>, it was very important that officers had complete discretion as to the type of OR enforcement "contact" they gave. In <u>Haverford</u>, the police wanted to start the project with a warning period, which probably motivated officers to give out more warnings. (As evident in the results, Haverford never really moved into a citation phase on the project.) Both departments were also very firm about not asking the officers to reach particular enforcement goals. They cited legal and practical issues. Local courts have declared enforcement "quotas" illegal. From a practical issue, the police kept mentioning that they did not want to "persecute" motorists with multiple citations or to write tickets for the sake of ticketing.

The intent of the warning system (to compensate for officer reluctance to give citations) was never fully implemented during the intervention period. Both departments envisioned a system of giving a motorist a citation on the second SB warning. However, police never formally adopted protocols to computerize or check the warning files. It would have been interesting to evaluate the effectiveness of this method. Maybe the ratio of SB citations to SB warnings would have been higher. The intervention period would probably have to feature more aggressive warnings and be longer (2 to 3. years) to assess the effectiveness of this method.

Motivation Techniques. Training, roll-call reminders, computer mail messages, citation information cards, and easy-to-use customized warning-notice pads were used to promote the enforcement effort of the project. During roll call, patrol commanders were easily able to give verbal reminders about the enforcement effort to their officers and use the video segments from NHTSA's 1991 "Operation Buckle Down Roll Call" program. The videos provided good promotion of OR enforcement without the reminder coming directly from the patrol commanders all the time. Tredyffrin also used a computer (E-Mail) message system to remind patrol officers to enforce the OR laws. Each officer started a shift at the station checking for messages on a computer. This was a quick and effective way to reach every patrol officer regardless of shift.

Both departments also used the citation information cards (developed by Keystone Safety Belt Network [KSBN]) which were given out at training. Most officers put these cards under the visors of their patrol cars or in the briefcases they carried on patrol. The patrol commanders were in favor of the card system because it provided them with easy access to information needed to write up an OR citation. How often each officer referred to the card was not documented. Nevertheless, both departments certainly wanted the cards and received enough for all the police and new recruits throughout the project year.

Another motivation technique was the customized OR warning notice pad printed in Haverford. Each officer received a pad to carry on patrol, with the intent that warnings could easily be written for both SB and CSS violators. With the warning pad in place, a higher level of warning was anticipated, but never achieved. Certainly, if officers had more commitment to conduct even these warnings, the warning pads would facilitate OR warning "contacts."

Project and Events

Both police departments participated in many PI&E activities throughout the course of the project. Both departments found it easy to conduct these activities since they were able to integrate CSS and SB issues into their regular community safety programs. (Since both departments had very active highway safety programs, they were probably receptive to participating in this project in the first place, as well as to conducting programs specific to CSS use and proper use educational objectives.) Both departments had a good relationship with the community businesses, civic organizations, libraries, and schools; and this partnership facilitated obtaining the use of sites for projects, advertising, and other project-related activities (e.g., distributing literature and obtaining sites for CSS inspection clinics).

Ý

Both departments were easily able to conduct press conferences, and then provide press releases and newspaper coverage, information booths at health and safety fairs and at sidewalk sale events, distribution of educational material at events and programs, programs at schools, day-care centers, community centers, and businesses.¹⁷ They were accustomed to using these PI&E activities for other community relations and safety programs. Both police departments received assistance from local and regional highway safety groups in the form of education and promotional material, press releases, lectures at school/day-care programs, and CSS inspection clinics on proper use. Without their external assistance, newspaper coverage and the number of program activities would probably have ber : less frequent, since the police tend to schedule many of their regular activities during the spring and fall (probably when manpower is at its peak), leaving inactive stretches of time over the summer and winter. To increase the probability of public awareness of enforcement and higher OR use and proper use, it was important to conduct activities and provide press coverage fairly regularly—at least once a month.

The police were quite willing to review, revise, and submit ready-made press releases to the local newspapers. They were not eager to write the original releases themselves, but gladly received press releases from contractor, NHTSA, and PennDOT. However, they were eager to participate in media photo sessions, which did seem to increase the probability of newspaper coverage. During the course of the project, local newspapers printed over 80 percent of the press releases that the police gave them. It is not surprising that many State and Federal OR programs contain press kits and sample press releases to use for "Child Passenger Safety" or "Buckle Up America" weeks, knowing that the police have a higher probability of submitting press releases when given a draft copy. Also, the press probably prints more press releases given to them by police than by other safety groups.

Both police departments also incorporated elements of NHTSA's 1991 "Avoid the Summertime Blues" program and the 1991/1992 "Operation Buckle Down" program. The police were willing to incorporate selected elements of these national campaign activities into the project. They might have incorporated more of the elements if program packets had been provided earlier (6-month lead time).

The police departments are pro-active about highway safety programs and thus receptive to integrating OR programs into their regular PI&E activities. Departments with these programs in place usually have a seasonal schedule when they do school and community programs, holiday events, sidewalk sales, and health and safety fairs. In addition, businesses and schools schedule these

¹⁷ For the most part, regional TV coverage was not used in the project because of its potential influence on the comparison site. All of the sites were located within the greater metropolitan Philadelphia broadcasting area.

programs at the same time every year. If a department has a regular community program already in place, then additional manpower is probably not an issue for integrating an OR program. However, it may be unrealistic to expect the police to conduct an intense PI&E OR effort without some State, or local and regional, highway safety groups' support (such as assisting in programs and providing press releases) and resources (e.g., providing them with primarily educational material and promotional items).

STATE AND COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

1

State Resources

Of great importance to the police was the availability of the State's educational materials (e.g., CSS brochures and posters) and promotional items (e.g., "Buckle Baby Right" stickers and "We Love You: Buckle Up" teddy bears). The police thrived on this material, distributing it during presentations. For the most part, both police departments were already aware of the resource material available from the State. As part of their ongoing community responsibilities, the regional comprehensive highway safety groups had made efforts to inform both police departments of available PI&E material to use in their highway safety projects. When the project started, the regional groups, who were eager to cooperate, provided an almost unlimited supply of the State's CSS and SB educati nal and promotional material.

Community Resources

Throughout the project, community groups were willing to help the police by participating in the project when asked. The police did not expect them to take a more active role, and the project did not determine how involved these groups could have become, given their own limited time, resources, and agendas. The project was not able to find community volunteer groups willing to take the lead in the community PI&E effort. The police primarily conducted all of the PI&E activities and called on community groups for their assistance as needed. The project demonstrated that the police needed some state/community asistance to conduct the PI&E component of the OR enforcement project and took advantage of community assistance.

The contractor's discussions with ranking officers from both police departments brought out that support from local government officials and judges was important, but these officers did not feel that it was a critical issue. Both department chiefs were given full decision-making authority in terms of enforcement methods for the benefit of the community.

To gain support for the project, the Chief and Superintendent of each department presented the scope of the project to the commissioners at township board meetings. They described the safety benefits for the community, and the project was accepted by the commissioners. Discussions with the police affirm that the commissioners have very rarely, if ever, refused to support police projects focused on protecting the health and welfare of residents.

In the beginning of the project, the police did not actively pursue efforts to gain support from the judges. In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, the judge was already active in the area of occupant protection and had previously participated in many promotional events supporting OR protection. In fact, he was one of the first judges in the State to initiate the passing of Pennsylvania's CSS enforcement law in the early 1980's. With this fact in mind, the police did not feel the need to confer with him at the start of the project. Examining the disposition of OR citations, the police learned that less than 10 percent of the

citations were dismissed. Thus, it appeared that the court was not visibly opposed to the enforcement effort. (In many cases, violators paid the SB fine and still pleaded not guilty to the primary offense. These motorists apparently do not know that the OR law dismisses the SB violation if the motorist is not guilty of the primary offense.) In <u>Haverford</u>, the command officers felt that it was unnecessary to seek support from the judges. They felt that their job was to enforce the law and write citations, regardless of the position of the judges. Because of the limited number of citations written, the project was not able to demonstrate the effect of this police position in the courts.

<

CONTRACT SUPPORT

The contractor monitored, evaluated, and provided technical assistance to the police in the demonstration project. Assistance, especially for PI&E activities, was given throughout the course of the project—when the contractor perceived that the public needed more exposure to the project. NHTSA's project manager and offices of Police Traffic Services and Traffic Safety Programs also provided technical assistance in the areas of training, site selection, field surveys, scheduling, PI&E messages, distribution of promotional campaign material, and meetings with police to promote the enforcement aspects of the project. It was strongly felt by the contractor that the police would not have reached the level of intensity with PI&E activities or enforcement without regular persistence by a project "facilitator."

Mic' vay through the project, the NHTSA project manager and a law enforcement officer on loan from NHTSA's Police Traffic Services visited the police to promote the project and motivate both police departments to increase their level of ticketing. The meeting may have had an almost immediate effect on at least one of the departments. OR citations and warnings improved dramatically. In the month following the meeting, OR enforcement "contacts" rose to over 20 percent of all citations and over 70 percent of all "moving" citations. In addition, this level was maintained throughout the remainder of the intervention period. Using experienced law officers to promote OR enforcement to other police departments might be one of the strongest influences in getting community police department commitment to conduct OR enforcement programs.

GENERAL PROJECT ISSUES

This section discusses uncontrollable elements of the intervention activities and data collection effort that might have reduced the desired intensity level of the project, possible effectiveness of CSS use/proper use and driver SB use, as well as the optimum conditions for conducting observations and driver interviews.

Intervention Activities

The relatively high level of enforcement anticipated for the project was not reached, despite efforts by the contractor and NHTSA to give clear direction about project objectives, provide instruction and training resources, and recommend levels of OR enforcement for changing CSS use and proper use and SB use. Several uncontrollable reasons for not reaching the level of enforcement sought were (1) aspects of police management, (2) weak state OR laws/statewide activity, (3) level of training, and (4) exposure in the community. Management styles of police departments are different, so it was difficult to ascertain how well OR enforcement objectives would be carried out. Based on project results, strong commitment from the top command appears necessary, including regular directives and monitoring enforcement activities, in order to maintain expected OR enforcement levels. Top command also gave the patrol officers total discretion in deciding whether to write warnings or citations for OR violators. If officers were already reluctant to give OR citations (despite training messages on the importance of OR enforcement), the directive that gave them a choice may have influenced them to opt for warnings more often than citations, which was the case. In addition, both police departments felt strongly that all OR enforcement "contacts" (whether warnings or citations) relayed a message to the community: The police believe that OR use is important. This philosophy prevailed in both departments. Finally, an unexpected change in leadership also occurred in one of the departments. The retiring Superintendent was probably so busy with other issues during the transitional period that the OR project was not his top priority. As shown by the results, the new command was much more committed to OR enforcement.

÷,

The weak OR laws also contributed to a lower than expected level of OR enforcement. The contractor was unaware of how secondary enforcement or the additional costs associated with it would affect enforcement. In addition, without any other strong police OR enforcement activities occurring statewide, no case studies could be followed. Many officers expressed reluctance to give SB citations because of the extra costs associated with the fine. One of the command officers cited this factor as the key reason why police gave more SB warnings than citations.

Training sessions may not have provided enough emphasis on giving out citations. This situation _ was not anticipated. Training instructors probably included discussions on the option of warnings because top command gave them directives. A stronger emphasis on citations was needed.

In the area of exposure, the community police may not have had the opportunity to write a lot of OR citations. As observed during the project, among the police on routine patrol, only a few patrols are assigned to traffic enforcement. This situation certainly reduces the opportunities for writing a lot of OR citations. Comparing local community police OR enforcement expectations with the results achieved by State police does not work because State police are devoting more time to traffic enforcement and are not really influenced by the community.

Site Selection

Selecting communities for the project was a difficult task, with all types of uncertainties. Project success depended on police and community willingness to participate and commit to many intervention activities without the promise of financial assistance. The contractor had to request this commitment even though neither the contractor nor the police could know what would occur during the course of the project, for example, manpower shortages and other unexpected reductions in resources, which could affect OR project activities. The effort had to be supported by local community resources and cooperative shopping centers (for observation sites). There was no way to know CSS and SB use before baseline, yet finding three sites with similar OR compliance levels was highly desirable. Proximity to the contractor was also important because frequent visits would be essential.

79

Target Group Characteristics

Changes in CSS use and proper use plus OR use were likely to have been associated with the intervention project, not with extraneous variables related to nonlocal population groups or socioeconomic differences. The project carefully documented similar characteristics (e.g., driver residency, trip behavior) of the target population observed in the shopping centers, across sites and intervention phases, and the sociodemographic characteristics of all three communities.

The chance of observing a target vehicle in a shopping center was always random. Because the sites were community shopping centers and not big malls, the probability of local shoppers was anticipated to be high, and it was. Not being able to observe every target driver and child passenger at the shopping center probably did not influence the study results. Observations were not conducted at night, and contract funding limited "blanketing" the shopping centers with data collectors in an effort to observe every target vehicle.

Post-Intervention Activities

Since the end of the project, OR enforcement and PI&E activities have continued, and even increased, in both communities. The police department in the comparison site (Abington) has also started an OR enforcement project. Their effort involves giving first-time violators the chance to pay the fine c go to a highway safety class. In <u>Tredyffrin</u>, OR enforcement "contacts" alone almost doubled the entire number of "contacts" during the intervention period. In addition, the police have implemented a traffic safety unit (with specially marked patrol vehicles) which conducts traffic enforcement only. PennDOT and NHTSA have recognized its efforts, and the department has received NHTSA's 70% Plus Honor Roll Award, two enforcement awards from PennDOT, and NHTSA's "Buckle Up America" enforcement award, which was presented at the 1992 Governor's Highway Safety Conference. In <u>Haverford</u>, the police have continued with CSS PI&E efforts. They have stopped cars, passed out buckle-up bears to toddlers in CSSs, given warnings to drivers violating the OR law, and published local newspaper articles concerning the effort. In addition, the police have been very active in promoting CSS use through area libraries and day-care centers, where they have conducted numerous programs. The police department has received NHTSA's 70% Plus Honor Roll Award and accepted two OR education awards at the 1992 Governor's Highway Safety Conference.

Pennsylvania strengthened its CSS law in October 1993. The law requires children from birth to age 4 to be in a CSS always, whether they are in the front or back seat. The law also makes all drivers, including non state residents, responsible for all vehicle occupants under the age of 18.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

÷

This chapter presents recommendations for State agencies, community-based police departments, and other community groups (e.g., civic, school, business) interested in promoting public compliance with occupant restraint (OR) laws requiring child safety seat (CSS) use, full protection for young children, and safety belt (SB) use. The recommendations are also aimed at promoting OR enforcement and public information and education (PI&E) about enforcement efforts and CSS issues. The basis for these recommendations is the observed effectiveness of several intervention elements used by the police, State-supported highway safety groups, and the community during the demonstration project. Other recommendations emerged from consultations with other police officials, government agencies, nonproject-related private and State-supported highway safety groups, and researchers.

STATE AND STATE-SUPPORTED HIGHWAY SAFETY GROUPS (LOCAL AND REGIONAL)

As the demonstration project showed, State agencies and State-supported highway safety groups can play a significant role in supporting OR enforcement projects at the community level. Their guidance and assistance encourage and motivate the local police not only to see the value of OR enforce nent projects but also to realize that these projects can be easily conducted within the resources of the department and community. State groups can assist the police in at least the following ways: consultation, participation, funding support, evaluation, and recognition. Before contacting community police, State agencies should be knowledgeable about OR use rates and accident data in the community, as well as State OR laws and their shortcomings, be aware of and be able to coordinate Federal or State-operated OR training workshops in their State, be aware of State associations (of police and judges, for example) that can assist and cooperate in OR projects, and be able to provide PI&E material and toll-free hotline numbers.

Consultation

To promote OR enforcement projects, State and law enforcement officials should start by visits with local police departments. The Chief and ranking officers responsible for traffic enforcement should attend. At a minimum, the meeting should cover commitment, model projects, enforcement and PI&E strategies, assistance, and project evaluation.

<u>Commitment</u>. At the beginning of the meeting, officials must emphasize that the key to an OR enforcement effort (as in other traffic law enforcement efforts) is an ongoing commitment by the Chief and top ranking officers. The police must believe in the safety benefits of ORs and must agree to enforce the OR laws. Their commitment manifests itself by delivering internal directives or memos to the officers, establishing and implementing recommended model OR enforcement project guidelines, incorporating extensive OR training into the officers' overall training project, conducting periodic reminders, evaluating the enforcement effort and its safety consequences, and recognizing enforcement, compliance, and safety achievements by the department.

<u>Model Internal Programs</u>. The State groups should encourage adoption of model OR enforcement policy guidelines developed by well-recognized law enforcement associations. These guidelines can help to direct the activities and policies that make OR enforcement successful in the community. At a minimum, the model policy should include guidelines for directives, in-house SB policies and compliance checks, training, establishment and implementation of OR enforcement goals and strategies, enforcement reminders and tools to encourage enforcement, an active PI&E program plan that publicizes enforcement, periodic evaluation of the OR enforcement effort, public perceptions, OR compliance, and safety consequences.

Enforcement/PI&E Strategies. The meeting should focus on determining realistic OR enforcement goals for the police department. The State groups should back up these suggestions with documented case studies of successful OR enforcement and safety efforts in communities similar to the ones in the project. The case studies need to demonstrate that similar communities have reached OR enforcement goals and safety benefits. Descriptive information should include socioeconomic and demographic characteristics of a community and its traffic patterns, size of patrol and dedicated traffic enforcement units, and level of effort and enforcement techniques. The results of the demonstration project certainly suggest that community-based police departments can achieve OR enforcement "contact" (citations and warnings) levels above 10 percent of all citations given, with department staff resources (i.e., no overtime hours).

<u>Technical Assistance</u>. The police need increased awareness of the support and resources available to them at State, regional, and local levels. Available State-provided services might include police trainers, speakers, PI&E resource material, mini-grants and application assistance, and CSS inspection clinics.

<u>Ev</u> <u>luation</u>. Periodic evaluation of the OR enforcement effort should also be available to the police. The evaluations of citation levels, convictions, public opinion, compliance levels, and safety benefits give the police more motivation to conduct the OR enforcement project. From conversations _ during the demonstration project, investigators learned that the police were very interested in the evaluation. They reported that they rarely learn about the effectiveness of their projects.

State Participation

State and State-supported (local and regional) highway safety groups can actively promote OR enforcement projects by local police. For example, they might help with program development, resource gathering, preparation of press releases, and distribution of education and other resource material; participate in PI&E activities and special community events; and assist in project evaluation measures.

<u>Program Development</u>. Police need guidance on the suggested level of OR enforcement, press coverage, and community outreach effort (necessary to maintain awareness in the community), as well as the frequency of project activities to be conducted during the project. The State groups can help police tearn how routine and selective OR enforcement projects and PI&E activities can be integrated into their current traffic enforcement and community safety projects. State officials should allow 6 to 12 months for OR enforcement and PI&E projects to become fully integrated into routine police department projects.

<u>Resources</u>. If police are willing to be involved in OR projects, they will probably be eager to distribute press releases, literature, brochures, and other free promotional items. On their own, the police would probably write only a few original press releases. To increase the probability of media exposure for any OR enforcement effort, State officials should provide a series of prepared press releases, even tie in coverage about seasonal and national or State OR projects, which is currently done in some states during Child Passenger Safety Week and national "Buckle Up for Safety" Week. The police are willing to edit the copy to localize it, match it with their policies, and report their enforcement and safety achievements.

The police like to complement enforcement programs with educational material, which they can distribute at schools and day-care centers, display or exhibit booths at safety fairs, and other special events. The State can help by informing the police about available resources, the locations of supplies, and expected delivery time. Some States offer toll-free telephone lines to order supplies.

The State can also inform the police, in advance, about special promotional items relating to "National Child Passenger Safety" or "Buckle-Up America" weeks and holiday seasons. Police need to receive advance notice (6 months) of these events so that they can integrate this material into their QR program and the State's OR activities at these times.

Activities

States need to make police departments aware of opportunities to participate in applying for national and State recognition awards related to OR safety programs and enforcement efforts. . Local and regional State-supported groups should also assist their police departments in PI&E activities. Activities that primarily deal with child passenger protection might involve child passenger safety experts from State-supported highway safety groups in conducting CSS inspection clinics and responding to specific parental concerns. The police cannot be expected to know the specific details on CSS models and the fine elements of all the proper use measures. The presence of CSS experts at these police-sponsored events provides support that also motivates the police.

Funding Support

States should help the police to compete for the State Highway Safety Office's available funds. They can use this funding for PI&E materials, televisions and VCRs (to show educational videos at public events), and display props (e.g., CSSs) to promote the OR effort. States should help strengthen competitive applications for limited funds and encourage the routine enforcement of OR without extra manpower funding.

Evaluation

The States are unlikely to have adequate resources for full-scale evaluation of OR enforcement efforts at the community level. However, when States conduct SB observations, they should provide the police with available data from their communities or nearby areas of the county. This information can give the police some idea of the current OR use trend in their communities and can provide target compliance levels or ongoing ways to measure the local project's success. States could also offer police and interested local groups the training to conduct and evaluate their own surveys of OR use and community attitudes, awareness, and knowledge.

The States should periodically contact police departments to monitor the progress and status of the OR enforcement effort. This contact can be as simple as a telephone call or letter requesting the number of OR enforcement citations and warnings over a determined time period. This monitoring not only gives the State a better idea of OR enforcement levels around the State, but also promotes OR enforcement by periodically reinforcing its importance at the community level.

Recognition

States need to make police departments aware of opportunities to participate in applying for national and State recognition awards related to OR safety programs and enforcement efforts. The police take these awards seriously and can use them to motivate future efforts in the OR enforcement area.

83

Future State Directions

At the State level, numerous ways are available to improve OR enforcement efforts and benefit local police, for example:

Implement stronger SB enforcement programs.

The probability of a child being properly restrained is much higher when the parents/drivers are in SBs.

• Establish primary SB laws.

Police appear more willing to enforce SB laws when they are primary. However, until State primary SB law is passed, states can improve SB enforcement training; make ticketing a prerequisite for grant funding on corridor safety projects, blitz projects, and other selective enforcement programs; and encourage local jurisdictions to enforce SB laws under municipal ordinance.

• Establish stronger fines for SB and CSS laws.

If the fines are higher, the police and drivers will perceive the OR violation as a more serious offense. States with secondary SB laws need to implement fine-only costs. In the project, the police were reluctant to enforce the secondary SB law because of the additional state costs (catastrophic auto insurance [CAT] fund, emergency medical service [EMS], and judicial computer program funds).

- <u>E courage secondary enforcement for all vehicle stops, not just for moving violations</u>. This promotes higher levels of OR enforcement.
- Identify and publicize positive enforcement examples and techniques from other States or in-State jurisdictions.

These examples can be given to police as examples of what can be done in similar communities without external funding resources.

- <u>Print the OR law citation number on the standard traffic citation form</u>. Develop ticket-processing procedures that allow OR citation using the same ticket form as the non-OR citation. Police are more apt to enforce OR laws if the citation codes are printed on the ticket form for easy checkoff.
- <u>Implement stronger occupant protection laws for toddlers</u>. Full protection for children under age 4 (or under 40 pounds) can only become a reality through a properly written CSS law, which covers full protection for children. Many States have weak CSS laws (e.g., toddlers may be restrained in SBs in rear seats).
- <u>Raise the standards for recognition of OR enforcement efforts</u>. Awards for OR enforcement efforts should acknowledge police who have reached or surpassed recommended levels of enforcement citations. Programs of PI&E activities or warnings should receive awards only if they achieved very high compliance or safety benefits.
- Inform the public about OR enforcement programs, proper use, and "full protection." The general public should become aware of the provisions of SB and CSS laws (including costs), OR enforcement efforts in the community, proper SB and CSS use, and "full protection" that exceeds State laws.

POLICE

Local police departments must integrate management and patrol officer commitment, training and motivational techniques, enforcement and PI&E strategies, evaluation and recognition, and long-term program planning, in order to have successful OR projects in their communities.

Commitment by Management and Officers

è

Commitment from top-ranking police officials and officers is essential. The police must be willing to undertake and sustain an enforcement and PI&E effort that goes beyond a one-time event. Model OR program elements should be followed. This commitment sends a clear message to the patrol officers about the seriousness and intent of the OR enforcement.

Training and Motivational Techniques

Many police enforce the OR laws infrequently and know few effective ways of detecting or dealing with violators. Thus, police who do not regularly enforce OR laws need training in this area. One of the first steps in planning for an OR enforcement effort is to set up the training schedule. The police have a regular training agenda that oftentimes is already in place, sometimes 3 to 6 months in advance. In the planning of OR enforcement projects, training should be one of the first elements established and scheduled. NHTSA's Occupant Protection Usage and Enforcement (OPUE) training curriculum should be used for instructing police trainers on how to conduct training for the patrol officers. The curriculum provides all of the necessary training program materials. (Curriculum is described in Chapter 7.) Local/regional CSS experts should be involved in training to enhance child passenger safety issues covered. Initial training sessions should take 4 hours, and refresher training for all officers should be required 1 month after the initial training (2-hour session) and then once or twice a ear (1- to 2-hour session). Refresher sessions should be given in periods of lower-than-expected levels of enforcement.

Police departments should use motivational techniques to promote and maintain a high level of OR enforcement among the patrol officers. These techniques can be as simple as periodic (once-a-month) roll-call reminders, memos and messages put in staff mail bins or on computer E-mail systems, videotape segments of case studies or demonstration of enforcement techniques, and use of police citation information cards (simple instructions for the officer who is writing up an OR violation).

Enforcement Strategies, with Public Information and Education

An OR enforcement program should follow a multiple-strategy plan that implements several enforcement techniques (e.g., routine and selective checkpoints) and PI&E activities (e.g., newspaper coverage, safety-fair displays, school and day-care presentations, and CSS inspection clinics).

<u>Enforcement</u>. Despite the possibility that citation quotas are illegal, top command officers should provide directives suggesting reasonable goal levels. For community-based police, OR enforcement citations should make up at least 10 to 20 percent of all traffic citations given out during a period, if the police expect to increase CSS and SB use in the community.

The enforcement effort should involve more than routine patrol stops. Selective enforcement and periodic checkpoints should also be part of the program and should occur on a regular basis—at least once or twice a month, around holiday weekend periods (especially the summer holidays of Memorial Day, Fourth of July, and Labor Day), and during the first week of the new school year in September. Selective techniques usually center around enforcement of a specific violation, such as speeding and other hazardous moving violations on high-accident roadways. Incorporating OR enforcement in the "enforcement blitz" effort should require only minimal additional time. Checkpoints just to detect CSS and SB violators are also highly important. As the project demonstrated, checkpoints can be placed near exits of shopping centers. Violators of OR laws can be stopped as they are leaving the shopping center.

Enforcement efforts that include written warning activities need to identify and cite the secondtime violators (i.e., those given a prior warning). Some police departments have traffic citation and written warning records on computer file. Patrol officers can be given a printout (names, license numbers, and dates of warning) that can be carried with them in the field, or they could call the computer file clerk at the station and check whether the violator was given a previous warning.

2

PI&E Strategies. OR enforcement activity should be complemented by strong PI&E to promote awareness of the OR enforcement effort, not just the benefits of OR. Media events and press releases should take place regularly throughout the year and possibly coincide with school programs and holiday events, health and community fair schedules, national and state Child Passenger Safety and Buckle-Up Weeks, and selective enforcement efforts. Police departments need to schedule special activities at least 3 to 6 months in advance, allowing enough time to develop presentations and other activities, acquire material and promotional items, adjust staff schedules, and prepare the media for upcoming events.

Media coverage of OR enforcement activities is vital to the success of the project. The police need to keep newspaper, radio, and TV reporters informed about events that they will be conducting and invite these reporters to attend. The media is usually very interested in any special enforcement effort. Police should meet with editors and producers to discuss each effort and ongoing program and to stress the importance of the enforcement effort and overall program. Press releases and articles about pr gram activities should be submitted, with photographs, to the newspapers at least once a month—before, during, and after short-term initiatives. Periodically, articles should appear about unrestrained crash victims; interviews with their affected families or testimonials by restrained drivers, police, paramedics, and others should also be considered.

Police need to use available resources to make the PI&E effort effective. An abundance of PI&E material on CSSs and occupant protection is geared for audiences of all types (mothers with young children, pregnant women, teenagers, adults, senior citizens, and others). This material is available through Federal, State, and local sources, and for the most part is free. The police should take advantage of this material for presentations (such as those at schools and day-care centers) and display-booth activities (such as those at health fairs). Material should also be given to drivers who are stopped for traffic violations, especially violators of the OR laws. On occasion, the police should also give educational and promotional items (such as "Buckle Up" teddy bears) to motorists and children who <u>are properly restrained</u>, as positive reinforcement. A public information card, such as the "Officers Love Kids Too" card described earlier, is a good example of an item that can be easily handed out to drivers during routine traffic enforcement activities in the community. The police should also develop their own PI&E materials for emphasizing the current enforcement effort. This material should emphasize the State OR laws, reasons for the laws, costs involved with ticketing, and ongoing enforcement activities.

The police should also be aware of and use organizations that serve the target audience groups. For instance, local chapters of the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) exist in practically every State, provide PI&E material appropriate for drivers of young children, and assist in project activities, such as CSS "proper-use" inspection clinics. Their services are usually free, and staff are eager to help the police conduct activities which focus on their common goals, that is, the safety and wellbeing of all children.

Child passenger safety program material should include the following elements: safety benefits of properly restraining young children and all occupants in vehicles, identification of CSS types, approximate age and weight requirements for each type of child restraint and safety seat, common

misuse characteristics, proper use characteristics, numerous suggestions on keeping toddlers restrained, child passenger and occupant protection laws and their associated fines and costs, enforcement efforts in the local community, and telephone numbers for obtaining additional information.

ş

Program material comes in all forms, shapes, and sizes—from fact sheets and brochures to posters, stickers, pins, coloring books, teddy bears with "buckle-up" messages, bumper stickers, and other promotional items. All of this material should be utilized in spreading the message of CSS use and proper use. Police should allocate adequate storage space for material and keep at least a 6month supply of material available. Once school and day-care centers are aware that the police conduct child passenger safety presentations, they will request presentations from the police.

Evaluation of Enforcement and Recognition

Despite limited resources to conduct comprehensive evaluations, most community-based police departments can participate in select evaluation measures. For instance, two or three patrolmen can conduct SB and CSS use surveys in about 1 hour during routine patrol. Observations of 100 drivers per site could take place at key locations (representative of community-traveled roads) every few months during the same time of day and day of the week. OR use records could also be made during selective enforcement programs. From these observations, the police can get a general idea of the impact of the program.

In addition, police departments should ensure that OR enforcement "contacts" come from more than just a few of the officers. Top command needs to make certain that all patrol officers are involved with the OR enforcement effort, as this practice will promote more OR enforcement.

Police department supervisors should also recognize patrol officers who regularly enforce the OR laws, especially by giving citations and taking steps to foster proper SB and CSS use. In-house and public recognition (such as in local newspapers) should be considered. Positive reinforcement for good effort motivates employees to maintain good performance.

Long-Term Program Planning

Long-term plans should start once OR enforcement has been integrated into the routine patrol duties; in this way, an expected level of OR enforcement "contacts" can continue. The plan should include a schedule for the following: training periods (refresher and new-hire sessions), periodic and seasonal selective enforcement events, press coverage to coincide with enforcement events, annually scheduled school and day-care as well as community and business programs, plus PI&E activities at community holiday and safety events.

COMMUNITY

Community groups interested in OR protection can work with police in developing and conducting program activities. Initially, community groups might conduct OR surveys, lend support for SB and CSS law enforcement, and secure community officials' endorsements. These groups can promote resident awareness by disseminating information about the OR laws, drafting press releases and articles about project activities, and even photographing events. Information and related PI&E activities should be routed through and reviewed by the police, who contact the media and submit cleared material to newspapers and broadcasters.

Other ways in which community groups and businesses can assist the police include providing free advertisements in the media and on billboards and message boards, donating giveaway prizes and CSSs for highway safety events, volunteering time for field surveys, assisting the police at special events, and permitting OR activities in commercial or organization parking lots.

In addition, community safety volunteers and advocates need to take a leadership role in police OR projects to facilitate PI&E activities and promote the need for active enforcement activities. It is unrealistic to expect every community-based police department to be able or willing to manage all of the project elements along with their other police commitments.

FUTURE RESEARCH/PROGRAM DIRECTION

٩,

Following many of the officially recommended guidelines for "effective" OR enforcement programs has contributed to the overall effort. Combinations of enforcement and PI&E activities were successful in increasing restraint use for toddlers and overall community SB use. However, because different levels of enforcement "contacts" (citations and warnings) and PI&E activities were implemented by each test community, it was difficult to assess which community's program was <u>more</u> "successful." Future demonstration programs should be directed toward determining which combinations are most effective for enforcement and PI&E activities.

Other research should be directed toward comparing the differences in OR enforcement program effort among community-based police from States which have primary versus secondary SB laws and states with strong CSS laws (i.e., they require full protection for toddlers in front and back seats of vehicle) versus states with weak CSS laws (i.e., toddlers can wear SBs in the back seats of vehicles). Police initiating OR enforcement programs in states with secondary SB enforcement laws may be more inclined to incorporate warnings in their programs. A future study could seek to better understand the long-term effectiveness of incorporating written warnings into an OR program (beyond initial implementation). Another study could evaluate effects of warnings-only versus citations-only OR enforcement programs.

Future programs need to consider what level of effort can realistically be expected from community-based police departments who are willing to conduct OR enforcement programs that integrate recommended high levels of PI&E activities. Can police be expected to submit frequent press releases and schedule frequent CSS clinics and other education programs without outside assistance and direction? The answer to this question and others may be linked to socioeconomic characteristics of the communities. Studies can compare community-based police OR enforcement rates with community characteristics (e.g., population, traffic patterns, OR laws, income, number of young children, residential-commercial makeup, traffic enforcement activity). The level of police effort devoted to OR enforcement programs may be associated with one or more of these community characteristics.

More research also needs to concentrate on the motivational aspects that affect police willingness to enforce OR laws. What are the underlying factors that are inhibiting community-based police departments from conducting strong OR enforcement programs? Are they related to characteristics of the laws, management structure, daily duties, training scheduling, aspects of routine enforcement, nature of detecting OR violators, or community influence? Even CSS law enforcement techniques need to be better understood. Can police be expected to enforce CSS laws beyond gross misuse detection (e.g., child not in a car seat)? Many CSS experts can cite more than a dozen misuse characteristics; however, is it reasonable to expect the police to detect and enforce the law on all types of misuse of which may not really harm child in some crash types. National CSS usage data needs to be collected periodically. Identifying yearly trends, as well as comparing CSS usage (and proper usage) rates—between regions or states which have primary and secondary SB laws, as well as between states which have strong and weak CSS laws—may provide insight on how legal provisions affect enforcement and CSS usage/proper usage.

Surveys should also be conducted to identify the public's knowledge about its CSS and SB laws. From results of the project, it was learned that most violators of the SB law were unaware that they did not have to pay the fine until the primary offense was pleaded guilty. Also many parents or drivers were probably not aware of all the subtleties of the CSS law (e.g., age requirements and reduced fine with proof of car seat purchase). Survey results could show how well states are promoting OR use and enforcement efforts.

Other surveys or programs can investigate how older toddler (ages 3 to 5) passenger protection rates can be improved. Despite improvement (10 percent increase) in CSS use among older toddlers (ages 3 to 5) after the intervention programs, usage rate was still only 40 to 50 percent. How can these rates be elevated to the rates for infants and young toddlers (70 to 90 percent)? Can groups develop and evaluate better educational material and programs that deal with promoting full protection for older toddlers (ages 3 to 5)? This issue may be beyond the boundaries of enforcement efforts.

Finally, additional analysis is required on the data collected in this project. Further analysis needs to be conducted to determine the relationships of driver's SB usage behavior, demographic/travel characteristics, and responses to knowledge, perception of law, attitude, self-reported OR behavior, and awareness versus CSS misuse characteristics, as well as the relationship of CSS use and misuse with vehicle seat position, type of vehicle, age, weight, number of child passengers with CSS misuse and non-use and other CSS use characteristics (type of seat).

Answering these research questions can help provide NHTSA with the information and knowledge they need to promote more effective and worthwhile CSS programs that will reduce the unnecessary deaths and injuries of young children due to improper CSS use or lack of CSSs in general.

9. REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

£

(References noted by boldface)

- Agent, K.R., "Child Safety Seat Usage in Kentucky after Enactment of a Mandatory Usage Law." UKTRP-83-18, Kentucky Transportation Research Program, 1983.
- Agran, Phylis F., Debora E. Dunkle, and Diane G. Winn, <u>The Effects of Safety Seat Legislation</u> on Pediatric Trauma, USDOT, DTRS-5683-C-00027, 1986.
- Alceff, M., "Physicians' Attitudes and Counseling Practices for the Use of Infant Restraint Systems in Automobiles," <u>The Ouarterly Journal of the American Association of Automotive Medicine</u>, April 1981.
- American Academy of Pediatrics, <u>1991 Shopping Guide for Car Seats</u>, NHTSA, DOT HS 807, 567, February 1991.
- "Automobile Transportation Car Seats, Wheelchair Carriers, and Van Lifts." <u>Exceptional Parent</u>, 28-33, May/June 1989.
- Bowman, B.L., and D.A. Rounds, <u>Restraint System Usage in the Traffic Population 1988</u> <u>Annual Report</u>, DTNH22-87-C-07081, June 1989.
- Bulger, Debbie, and Ann Eckert, "A Hospital-Based Child Passenger Restraining Program," Journal of Traffic Safety Education, 1983.
- Bull, M.J., K.B. Stroup, and C. Alley, "Child Safety Seats: Proper Use and Selection," Indiana Medicine, 775-779, October 1984.
- Bull, M.J., K.B. Stroup, and S. Gerhart, "Misuse of Car Safety Seats," <u>Pediatrics</u> 98-101, January 1988.
- California Safety Belt Task Force "70 X 90", <u>7 Reasons Why Police Agencies Should Have a 3-Point</u> Safety Belt Policy, 1991.
- Chang, A., C.D. Hearey. K.D. Gallagher, P.D., English, and P.C. Chang, "Promoting Child Passenger Safety in Children Served by a Health Maintenance Organization," <u>Patient</u> <u>Education and Counseling</u> 13: 297-307, 1989.
- Chicher, William G., and Jeffery M. Silver, "Effective Use of Restraint Systems in Passenger Cars," Society of Automotive Engineers, 1968.
- Child Passenger Safety Symposium: Ways to Increase Use and Decrease Misuse of Child Restraints, National Transportation Safety Board, 1985.
- Children in Crashes, Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Washington, D.C., 1985.
- Cooley, Peter, "Effectiveness of Child Safety Seats in Automobile Collisions," <u>UMTRI Research</u> <u>Review</u>, 15, 8-10, July/August 1984.

REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

Culler, Carol Jane, <u>Compliance With the Child Passenger Protection Act</u>: <u>Effects of a Loaner</u> <u>Program for Low-Income Mothers</u>, DOT HS-7-01730, October 1980.

ł,

Cunningham, Jo Lynn, Factors Affecting Consumer Usage and Acceptance of Child Restraint, University of Tennessee, DTNH22-80-C-07379, December 1981.

Cynecki, M.J., and M.E. Goryl, <u>The Incidence and Factors Associated with Child Safety Seat</u> <u>Misuse</u>, Goodell-Grivas, Inc., NHTSA, DTNH22-82-C-07126, 1984.

Cynecki, M.J., and M.E. Goryl, "Study of Child Safety Seat Misuse," <u>Transportation Research</u> <u>Record</u> 1059, 49-57, 1986.

Depue, Leanna, Passenger Vehicle Child Restraint Systems: Factors Influencing Their Usage and Nonusage, Dissertation, Southern Illinois University, 1983.

Derby, Adele, "Safety Belt Use: Where We've Been and Where We Must Go," <u>National</u> <u>Leasership Conference on Increasing Safety Belt Use in the U.S. 70/92 Proceedings</u>, NHTSA/American Coalition for Traffic Safety, 17-21, January 10-12, 1991.

Eriksen, Michael, and A.C. Gielen, "The Application of Health Education Principles to Automobile Child Restraint Programs," <u>Health Education Ouarterly</u>, August 1982.

"A Family Guide To Infant/Child Automobile Restraints," <u>The Ouarterly Journal of the American</u> <u>Association for Automotive Medicine</u>, 5 (4), October 1983.

Fernan, J., "Wisconsin Launches Childsafe Program," Traffic Safety, 75 (3), 22-4, 1975.

Foss, Robert D., "Psychosocial Factors in Child Safety Restraint Use," Journal of Applied Social Psychology, West Virginia University, Morgantown, 15, 269-284, 1985.

Gardner, N. Garry, and Steven N. Sheldon, <u>Hospital Based Child Passenger Safety Activities: A</u> <u>Statewide Survey</u>, Loyola University and Rush Medical College, January 1984.

Gielen, A.C., M.P. Eriksen, L.H. Daltroy, and K. Rost, "Factors Associated With the Use of Child Restraint Devices," <u>Health Education Ouarterly</u>, 11 (2), 195-206, 1984.

Goebel, B., T.J. Copps, and R.F. Sulayman, <u>Infant Car Seat Usage</u>. <u>Effectiveness of a Postpartum</u> <u>Educational Program</u>, Philadelphia, J.B. Lippincott, 1984.

Greenburg, L.W., and A.B. Coleman, "A Prenatal and Postpartum Safety Education Program: Influence on Parental Use of Infant Car Restraints," <u>Journal of Developmental and Behavioral</u> <u>Pediatrics</u>, 3 (1), 32-34, March 1982.

Guerin, Diana, and David P. MacKinnon, "An Assessment of the California Child Passenger Restraint Requirement," <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, February 1985.
- Guild, Ann, Thomas Healey, and Janet A. Holden, "Observed CSS Use and Reported Knowledge and Use of CSSs Seatbelts in a Chicago Sample," <u>The Quarterly Journal of the American Association</u> of Automotive Medicine, 7, 21-25, October 1985.
- Gunnip, A., C. Roberson, J. Meredith, M.J. Bull, K.B. Stroup, and M.K. Branson, "Car Seats: Helping Parents Do It Right?," Journal Pediatric Health Care, 190-5, July-August 1987.
- Hall, W.L., <u>Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Child Restraints</u>, University of North Carolina, Highway Safety Research Center, NHTSA, DTNH22-85-C-07225, March 1987.
- Hall, W.L., <u>Guide to Conducting a Safety Seat Installation Clinic</u>, University of North Carolina, Highway Safety Research Center, HSRC-PR156, September 1983.
- Hall, W.L., B.T. Orr, F.M. Council, A.M. Trinkoff, R.B. Daniel, and A.E. Waller, <u>Progress</u> <u>Report on Increasing Child Restraint Usage Through Local Education and Distribution Programs</u>, North Carolina University Highway Safety Research Center, Chapel Hill, 1981.
- Hall, W.L., and Forrest M. Council, <u>Effects of Pediatric Education on the Use of Child</u> <u>Restraint Devices in North Carolina</u>, University of North Carolina, American Association for Automotive Medicine, 1979.
- Haseltine, P.W., "Child Restraint Programs and the Driver Educator," Journal of Traffic Safety Education, 28 (1), 12-13, October 1980.
- Hatfield, Nancy, W. Hinshaw, N. Bunch, R. Bremer, and A. Waller, <u>Observed Child Restraint</u> <u>Use in 12 Texas Cities Before and After Child Passenger Safety Legislation</u>, (College Station) Texas A&M University, TARE 69, 1986.
- Heathington, K.W., John W. Philpot, and Randy L. Perry, <u>Impact of Legislation and Public</u> <u>Information and Education on Child Passenger Safety</u>, Transportation Research Board, University of Tennessee and Tennessee Technological Institute, 1982.
- Henke, A.W., D.H. Robbins, and V.L. Roberts, <u>Child Seat and Restraint Systems Test Results</u>, Appendix D, Voi. 1, 2, and 3, Michigan University, NTIS, 1970.
- "Hertz Safety Seat Loans Make It Click for Youngest Rent-A-Car Passengers," <u>Traffic Safety</u>, 83 (4), 1983.
- Hletko, P.J., and Hletko, J.D., <u>The Effect of the Michigan Child Restraint Device Law on</u> <u>Correct Observed Use</u>, Borgess Medical Center, 1983.
- Hletko, P.J., S.S. Robin, J.D. Hletko, and M. Stone, "Infant Safety Seat Use: Reaching the Hard to Reach," American Journal of Disabled Children, 14 (12), 1301-4, 1987.

- Hletko, P.J., et al., "The Effect of a Toddler/Child Restraint Device Rental Program on Observed Correct Use," <u>The Ouarterly Journal of the American Association for Automotive</u> <u>Medicine</u>, 115-125, 1983.
- Hunter, W., et al., <u>Overrepresentation of Seat Belt Non-Users in Traffic Crashes</u>, University of North Carolina, NHTSA, DTNH22-2-86-07392, 1988.

Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Facts 1992 Edition, July 1992.

Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, IIHS Status Report 21 (6), May 17, 1986.

- International Association of Chiefs of Police, "Survey Results Reflect Double Benefits of Buckling Up," <u>Operation Buckle Down Dispatch</u>, 11, No. 5, April 1993.
- Kahane, C.J., Evaluation of Child Passenger Safety: The Effectiveness and Benefits of Safety Seats, Summary, NHTSA, 1986.
- Kahane, C.J., J. Kossar, and G.Y.H. Chi, <u>Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Child Safety Seats in</u> <u>Actual Use</u>, NHTSA, 1983.
- Kernish, R., and L. London, <u>Strategies to Increase the Use of Child Safety Seats</u>. NHTSA: <u>An</u> <u>Assessment of Current Knowledge</u>: DOT HS 807 116, December 1986; and <u>Volume I</u> DOT HS 807 118, January 1987.
- Kielhorn, T.G., and J. Westphal, <u>A Study of The Use and Non-Use of Child Restraint Devices in</u> <u>Metropolitan Oklahoma</u>, Oklahoma Highway Safety Office, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, 1979.
- Knoop, Jim C., Kayla Costenoble, John T. Ball, and Gaylord M. Northrop, <u>Statistical Evaluation of</u> the Effectiveness of Child Restraints, Center for the Environment and Man, Inc., Hartford, CT, 1980.
- Lawless, E.W., For the First Trip Home-How Many Infants Ride Restrained? National Safety Council, 1983.

Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, Safety Belt Checkpoint, 1991.

- Margolis, L.H., A.C. Wagenaar, and L.J. Molnar, "Recognizing the Common Problem of Child Automobile Restraint Misuse," <u>Pediatrics</u>, 81, (5), 717-719, May 1988.
- McNabb, S.D., and R.L. Dueker, <u>Development and Test of Motivational Approaches for Increasing</u> <u>Use of Restraints</u>, Applied Science Associates, Inc., 1982.
- Melvin, John W., "Child Restraint Systems and Public Policy," <u>HSRI Research Review</u>, 9, 6-11, November/December 1978.

e,

- Montague, R.B., <u>Introduction of Child Safety Seat Legislation in Virginia: Types and Levels of</u> <u>Community Response and Effects on Automobile Accident Statistics</u>, Final Report, Hampton Institute Bureau of Business and Economic Research, 1984.
- Mounce, N.H., R.Q. Brackett, and K.N. Womack, <u>Evaluation of Six Occupant Protection</u> <u>Selective Traffic Enforcement Programs in Texas</u>, DTNH22-89-C-05192, September 1990.
- Orr, Beverly T., William L. Hall, Lauren M. Marchetti, and Donna T. Suzzles, <u>Comprehensive</u> <u>Program for Increasing Use of Safety Seats and Safety Belts for Children and Youths</u>, University of North Carolina Highway Safety Research Center, HSRC-PR160, October 1988.
- Partyka, Susan C., Papers on Child Restraints-Effectiveness and Use, National Center for Statistics and Analysis, DOT-HS-807-286, June 1988.
- Peltier, Charles, "Law Enforcement's Role in Occupant Protection," <u>The Police Chief</u>, July 1990.
- Pennsylvania State Data Center, Institute of State and Regional Affairs, U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1988 Population and 1987 Per Capita Income Estimates: Pennsylvania, PSDC 88-19-90, January 1990.
- Perry, Randy L., et al., <u>The Impact of a Child Passenger Restraint Law and a Public Information</u> and Education Program on Child Passenger Safety in Tennessee, NHTSA, DOT HS-805 640, 1980.
- Phillips, Benjamin M., <u>I. Safety Belt Usage Among Drivers.</u> II. Use of Child Restraint Devices. Passenger Safety Belts and Position of Passengers in Cars. III. Motorcycle Helmet Usage, Opinion Research Corporation, NHTSA, 1980.
- Philpot, John W., et al., <u>Use of Telephone Surveys to Determine Awareness of Tennessee's Child</u> <u>Passenger Protection Law</u>, Transportation Center, The University of Tennessee, USNHTSA, 1980.
- Post, Michael S., "Child Passenger Safety: A Law Enforcement Perspective," Journal of California Law, Winter 1984.
- Post, Michael S., <u>Child Passenger Safety Education Project</u>, Final Report, City of Glendale (CA) Police, California Office of Traffic Safety Project No. OP8505, January 31, 1986.
- Prism Corporation, <u>Evaluation of Child Safety Seat Enforcement Strategies</u>, DTNH22-87-C-07312, USDOT/NHTSA, September 1989.
- "Putting Aids in Their Place (Child Restraints Made Available Through Rental Programs)," Journal of American Insurance, 55 (1), 1979.

- "Recognizing the Common Problem of Child Automobile Restraint Misuse," <u>Pediatrics</u>, 81 (5), 717-720, 1988.
- Reisinger, K.S., and Williams, A.F., "Evaluation of Programs Designed to Increase the Protection of Infants in Cars," <u>Pediatrics</u>, 62, 280-287, 1978.

ę

- Reisinger, K.S., et al., "Effect of Pediatricians' Counseling on Infant Restraint Use," <u>Pediatrics</u>, 67 (2), 201-204, February 1981.
- "Restraint Options for the Older Children," <u>Directions</u>, Newsletter of the University of North Carolina Highway Safety Research Center, 1 (2), 12-14, Winter 1988.
- Ringwalt C.L., B.M. DeVellis, C.W. Runyan, R.F. DeVellis, and J.E. Wittenbraker, "Parental Beliefs Associated with the Use of Child Restraint Devices," <u>Health Education Research</u>, 263-71, December 1986.
- Roberts, M.C., and D.A. Layfield, "Promoting Child Passenger Safety: A Comparison of Two Positive Methods," Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 12 (2), 257-271, 1987.
- Roberts, M.C., and D.S. Turner, <u>Preventing Death and Injury in Childhood: A Synthesis of Child</u> Safety Seat Efforts, Alabama University, John Wiley and Sons, 1984.
- Robertson, Leon S., and Allan F. Williams, <u>Some International Comparisons of the Effects of Motor</u> <u>Vehicle Seat Belt Use and Child Restraint Laws</u>, Child Passenger Safety Conference, Institute for Highway Safety, 1978.
- Rood, D., P. Kraichy, and A. McCartt, <u>Evaluation of New York State's Mandatory Occupant</u> <u>Restraint Law: Vol. 3-Observational Surveys of Safety Restraint Use by Children in New</u> <u>Vork State</u>, DOT HS 806 972, February 1986; <u>Vol. 4-Enforcement and Adjudication of</u> <u>Violations of the Law</u>, DOT HS 807 077, January 1987; <u>Vol. 6-Final Summary Report</u>, DOT HS 807 079, February 1987.
- Russell, Julie, and Robert Brackbill, "The Effect of Adult Belt Laws and Other Factors on Restraint Use for Children Under Age 11," <u>36th Annual Proceedings for the Association for the</u> <u>Advancement of Automotive Medicine</u>, 175-189, October 5-7, 1992.
- Saalberg, J.H., and A.J. Morrison, <u>Evaluation of the League General Insurance Company Child</u> <u>Safety Seat Distribution Program</u>, League General Insurance Company, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 1982.
- Sanders, Robert S., "How Tennessee Pediatricians Led the Fight for Child Restraint Legislation," Traffic Safety, December 1977.
- Seekins, T., et. al., "Experimental Evaluation of Public Policy: The Case of State Legislation for Child Passenger Safety," <u>Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis</u>, 21 (3), 233-243, November 3, 1988.

- Shaw, C.E., and D.M. Fluke, "A Proposed Campaign to Increase the Use of Restraint Systems for Young Children Who Ride in Cars," <u>Public Health Reports</u>, 98 (5), 502-507, Sept. 1983.
- Shelness, A., and J. Jewett, <u>Observed Misuse of Child Restraints</u>, Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., Warrendale, PA, October 1983.
- Simpkins, S.W., et al., <u>Increasing Correct Use of Child Safety Seats</u>, Walker A. Williams and Co., Chevy Chase, MD, NHTSA, DOT-HS-806-952, 1986.
- Smith, Michael F., <u>Research Notes: Evaluation of Child Safety Seat Enforcement Strategies</u>, USDOT/NHTSA, 1989.
- Smith, Michael F. and Bernie Moran, Recommended Child Safety Seat Enforcement Guidelines, NHTSA Reports, DOT-HS-807-491, October 1989.
- Sontag, D.B., K.W. Heathington, and M. Lo, <u>Enforcement of the Child Passenger Protection Law</u>, Univ rsity of Tennessee, Transportation Center, USDOT/NHTSA, DOT-HS-7-01730.
- Sontag, D.B., et al., <u>Organizational Networks for Promoting Child Passenger Safety</u>, Transportation Center, The University of Tennessee, USDOT/NHTSA, 1980.
- Sovers-Hoag, Karen M., Bruce A. Thyer, and Jon S. Bailey, "Promoting Automobile Safety Belt Use by Young Children," Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis, Florida State University, 1987.
- Stokes, Charles B., A Survey of Child Safety Seat and Safety Belt Use in Virginia: The 1987 Update, Virginia Transportation Research Council, 1988.
- Stout, J.D., M.J. Bull, and K.B. Stroup, "Safe Transportation for Children with Disabilities," <u>The American Journal of Occupational Therapy</u>, January 1989, 43 (1), 31-36.

Streff, F.M., and L.J. Molnar, <u>Direct Observation of Safety Belt Use in Michigan-Spring 1990</u>, UMTRI-90-93, August 1990.

- Streff, F.M., L.J. Molnar, and C. Christoff, "Increasing Safety Belt Use in a Secondary Enforcement State: Evaluation of a Three County Special Enforcement Program," <u>Accident Analysis and</u> <u>Prevention</u>, 24 (4), 369-384, August 1992.
- Stroup, K.B., M.J. Bull, C. Alley, and J.L. Williams, "Safety Seat Use in Indiana Prior to Mandatory Legislation, <u>Indiana Medicine</u>, 866-869, November 1984.
- Stulginskas, J.F., and I.B. Plese, "Effects of a Seat Belt Law on Child Restraint Use", <u>American</u> Journal of Diseases of Children, 137, 582-585, June 1983.
- Stulginskas, J.F., Rene Verreault, and I. Barry Plese, "A Comparison of Observed and Reported Restraint Use by Children and Adults," <u>Accident Analysis and Prevention</u>, October 1985.

<u>A Success Story: Iowa's Infant/Child Restraint Campaign</u>, Iowa Department of Transportation Office of Safety Programs, Lucas, State Office Buillding, Des Moines, Iowa, pp. 9, October 1983.

Sukley, B., "Buckling Up Baby," Children, February 1989, pp. 34-36.

Tietge, Nancy S., Stephen J. Bender, and Douglas F. Scutchfield, "Influence of Teaching Techniques on Infant Car Seat Use", <u>Patient Education and Counseling</u>, 9, pp. 167-175, April 1987.

- Tombrello, Stephanie M., "A Practical Curriculum for Child Passenger Safety," Journal of Traffic Safety Education, Vol 29 (1), 1981.
- Turner, Daniel S., Michael C. Roberts, and William J. Whalen, Jr., <u>Restraint Usage at Child Care</u> <u>Centers</u>, Transportation Research Record, University of Alabama, 1985.

USDOT/NHTSA, Buckle Up: Avoid the Summertime Blues, program packet, 1991.

- USDOT. NHTSA, Buckle Up for Love! Child Passenger Safety Awareness Week, February 10-16, 1991, DT HS 807 650, program material, September 1990.
- USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Crime vs. Traffic, "Looking Beyond the Traffic Ticket," Examples: I-75 Alive</u> Operation Co-Flame, etc., 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Costs to Police, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Easy Rider Fact Book. 1979.

USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Enforcing Child Passenger Safety Laws-Eight Community Strategies</u>, DOT HS 807 631, September 1990, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Fact Sheets, A Collection of Facts and Figures Related to Enforcement Issues, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Fatal Accident Reporting System, 1990.

- USDOT/NHTSA, Get it Together. Safety Belt and Child Safety Seat Education Program. Leader's Guide and Resource Materials, 1982.
- USDOT/NHTSA, <u>A Guide to Audiovisual and Print Materials on Safety Belts and Child Car Safety</u> Seats, 1983.

USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Idea Sampler-Buckle Up America-May 20-27, 1991</u>, DOT HS 807 670, January 1991, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, International Association of Chiefs of Police/National Highway Traffic Safety Administration Model Enforcement Program, 1991.

- USDOT/NHTSA, Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, <u>Safety Belt Checkpoint</u>, program material, 1991.
- USDOT/NHTSA, Most Asked Child Seat Ouestions, Traffic Safety Newsletter, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 1984.

USDOT/NHTSA, Myths and Facts. Police Officer Views, program material, 1991.

3

USDOT/NHTSA, Occupant Protection Systems and Trends For Police Managers, DOT HS 807 461, August 1989, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Occupant Protection Trends in 19 Cities-November 1990 and 1991.

- USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Public Information Program Planning Guide</u>, Region 9, 1991, program material, 1991.
- USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Resolutions of Support Related to Enforcement of Occupant Protection Laws</u>, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Reward & Recognition for Police Officers, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Sample Presentation Outline. Compliments of: Eric Moran Region IV</u>, program material, 1991.

USDOT/NHTSA, Survivors Clubs for the General Public, program material, 1991.

- USDOT/NHTSA, Traffic Safety Now, Inc., <u>Operation Buckle Down</u>, program packet, 1991, program material, 1991.
- USDOT/NHTSA, <u>Training/Occupant Protection Usage and Enforcement (OPUE)/Police Fleet</u> <u>Safety Seminar/POST Certification Project</u>, OPUE Certified Instructors, program material, 1991.
- USDOT/NHTSA, What You Can Do. A Presentation of Information Related to Specific Actions Police Agencies Can Take, program material, 1991.
- Vazey, B.A., D.C. Herbert, J.M. Wyllie, R.G. Vaughan, and V. Leitis, <u>Evaluation of Australian</u> <u>Child Restraints</u>, New South Wales Dept. of Motor Transport, Sidney, New York, 1973.
- Wagenaar, A.C., "Effect of Michigan's Child Restraint Law," Michigan University, Ann Arbor Transportation Research Institute, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 1984.
- Wagenaar, A.C., Effects of the Michigan Mandatory Child Restraint Law, UMTRI research review, March/April 1984.

- Wagenaar, A.C., "Mandatory Child Restraint Laws: Impact on Childhood Injuries Due to Traffic Crashes," Journal of Safety Research, 16 (1), 9-21, 1985.
- Wagenaar, A.C., L.J. Molnar, and L.H. Margolis, "Characteristics of Child Safety Seat Users," Accident Analysis and Prevention, 20, 311-322, 1988.
- Wakshlag, J., and W. Gantz, <u>Selecting and Assessing Messages for Indiana Child Safety Seat</u> <u>Campaigns</u>, Indiana University, Bloomington Institute for Communication Research & Department of Telecommunications, Bloomington Indiana, 1984.
- Waller, P.F., and L.K. Li, <u>Low Cost Strategies for Increasing Safety Belt Usage</u>, North Carolina University, Highway Safety Research Center, 1982.
- Webb, G.R., J.A. Bowman, and F.W. Sanson-Fisher, "Studies of Child Safety Restraint Use in Motor Vehicles-Some Methodological Considerations," <u>Accident and Analysis Prevention</u>, University of Newcastle, April 1988.
- Williams, Allan F., and JoAnn K. Wells, "Evaluation of the Rhode Island Child Restraint Law," <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, July 1981.
- Williams, Allan F., and Paul Zador, "Injuries to Children in Automobiles in Relation to Seating Location and Restraint Use," Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, <u>Accident Analysis and</u> <u>Prevention</u>, Vol. 9 (1), 1977.
- Wyrick, Dewey A., Dianne B. Sontag, and K. W. Heathington, <u>Development of Materials and Public</u> <u>Relations Efforts to Promote Child Passenger Safety</u>, University of Tennessee, NHTSA, 1980.
- Ziegler, Peter N., <u>Guidelines for Conducting a Survey of the Use of Safety Belts and Child Safety</u> <u>Seats</u>, NHTSA, 1983.
- Ziegler, Peter N., <u>Guidelines for Observing Child Safety Seat Use</u>, NHTSA, DOT HS 807 128, June 1987.

Ziegler, Peter N., The Use of Child Safety Seats, NHTSA, 1989.

Zogby, J.J., T.E. Bryer, and J. Tenaglia, "Pennsylvania Corridor Highway Safety Improvement Program," <u>Transportation Research News</u> 154, 11-12, May-June 1991.

United States Department of Transportation National Highway Traffic Safety Administration

October 1993

Final Report

APPENDIX A

'n,

١

SAMPLING AND STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY

The statistical analysis in the project involved computation of the proportion, the difference in proportions, and the associated confidence intervals. Accordingly, the following applications were considered in selecting an appropriate sample size:

Application

1.

3.

Statistic

P₁

Estimate the proportion during an observation period at an evaluation site.

2. Estimate the difference in proportions between two observation periods at an evaluation site (e.g., 2 represents a postintervention period and 1 represents a pre-intervention period).

Estimate the impact of an intervention as a double difference between two observation periods and between the intervention and comparison sites (e.g., T represents observations at the intervention site, and C represents observations at the comparison site).

 $\Delta_1 = P_2 - P_1$

 $\Delta_2 = (P_{2T} - P_{1T}) - (P_{2C} - P_{1C})$

If the sample size in an observation period at a site is n, the corresponding standard error of the statistics is as follows:



A-1

A 95 percent confidence interval about the statistic centers on the value of the statistic and extends from 2 standard errors below to 2 standard errors above the value. In order to assess the effect of sample size on the width of the confidence interval, the researchers made assumptions about the values of the P's and Δ 's and computed tables of confidence intervals of the sample statistics for various values of P and n.

2

:

Based on a review of the literature, expert opinion, and current use and proper use rates for CSSs, it was expected that the interventions would change the current levels of use. Ziegler (1989) estimated that 55.8 percent of the children in cars were fully protected. Prism (1989) identified a 6 percentage-point increase in correct use of CSSs after an enforcement and education program. Reisinger et al. (1981) identified a 6 percentage-point increase in correct use rates among toddlers after education and counseling session interventions. These figures indicated the baseline and intervention impact percentages to expect in the evaluation and, hence, the sample sizes to be used in the evaluation.

For the statistic P, a sample size of 300 was deemed adequate. For the estimate of intervention impact (i.e., statistic Δ_1 or Δ_2), the staff hoped to avoid a situation in which the confidence interval contained the value 0. If the situation occurs, 0 cannot be ruled out as a possible value with a reasonable level of confidence (i.e., 95 percent confidence). Therefore, for the statistic Δ_1 , a sample size of 500 was deemed generally adequate for an impact that was expected to be 0.06 or larger. For the statistic Δ_2 , a sample size of 500 was adequate only for impacts expected to be larger than 0.08.

If the number of required observations at a site was large compared to the number of drivers of young children available at the site, repeated observations of some drivers would be likely. The P was the estimated probability that a driver of young children was using and properly using a CSS on a trip. Thus, the analysis of confidence intervals and sample sizes presented previously would apply even when some drivers were observed more than once.

In addition, it was expected that the probability of using and properly using a CSS would vary in terms of the characteristics of the driver or child (e.g., age of driver or age of child). Thus, two options for analysis would be available:

- 1. The observed sample could be partitioned into categories based on their characteristics, then comparisons made between categories.
- 2. A multivariate model could be estimated using the entire sample to predict the probability of use and proper use as a function of characteristics.

The first analysis option was chosen because it provided a much simpler approach for determining significant differences of variables across test and comparison sites. The second analysis option was not feasible because it involved analyzing a voluminous number of comparisons, and it was uncertain whether the level of effort would be valuable in terms of time and resources expended on additional results.

A-2

APPENDIX B

ł

DATA COLLECTION FORMS

Chi i Bata	ld Bafery Seat	
Bate / /	, •	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	, · · · · ·	
first (merver	_ Least Conver	
Procipitation (1) bry (2) unt (5) Other	faquersture (Estimate) * f	
- nelle, us are doing a comparity project. May us and you are	arbi quastions that util only take a fee pirates?	
1. WAT ABEA BO TON LIVE 187		1
3. UNAT 15 TOLE HERE'S 21P CODE	· · · ·	
The Councily, the Councy Councils is Bighany Bafoty Projet		
Provention Project are comparating on this project, Please a and goiling it to up. Tour groups will be hold in confidence antimat. These who provide a full address will be clieffide		
to sold like to get you sale castion that relate circle, chest, or write in your response. Question	to the trip you appear when we gave you this form. Floose for a day, db, and da refer to the place when you received the form.	
4. MAT IS TOUR ARE CATERONY [1] Loss they 30	22) 30 to 39 [3] 48 and ever	
S. WAT ISLARD VILL CHILD(SED)'S ADE(S) LA VEAD AND AND		
	TEART (*) POLITION AND CATEGORY (*) * UNION CATEGORY (*)	ł
01her (1) (2) []] /rent sidele (1	13 C2 C3 Franc Alght (1) C2 C3 C3 C3 600 40 100	
An. NON LONG BID 17 TAGE TO BET TO THIS PLACE COMMENT THE SPEC		
40 WAT WAS THE DISTANCE FROM THAN LAST STOPT	si ic(s)	
7. UP TO UNAT AND DEES PERMITLUNDIA'S LAW DEBUTES & CHILD TO SAFETY SEAT UNES BID INS WITH YOU (THE DEIVER) IS THE PERMIT) BE IN A CHILD IT BEAT OF A CHITY years old	
8. COULD YOU GET A TIGERT 17 & COILD BETWEEN THE ADDS OF 1 AT SLAT OF YOUR CAR AND 15 SHT 10 & COILD BAYETY BEAT AND 15	MB 4 13 19 THE AACK 4 HDT 46148 A BLAT (HEAT) [13 Yes (23 He	
4. 15 17 POLSIBLE FOR YOU TO GET & TICKET FOR MIT VERSION & (MAT BELT WICH VELVET [1] Tes [2] Bo	{
TO. HOW LICELY IS IT TO BET & TICHET IN THIS COMPLETITY	very Bennudes Bannahet very Staniy Likaly Ganna i and i y Unit bety unit bety	
POR VIGLATIOS PERSONALA'S MAT OUT LANT	111E2E3 (4) 52 Attabuty Manufat Manufatian or Sumphar Streams	
12. HOW BO THE FEEL ABOUT THE BULGE SUPERCENS PENNETLYANIA'S CELLS SAFETT BEAT LANT	in fover in fover bot interdated Spaced Spaced	
13. NOV BO THE PEEL AMERT THE PELICE BUPERCIDE	(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)	1
IV. ALLA ALLA COLLEGE AND AND ANA AD INVERTIC		
SAFETT SEATS AN POR POR A PARTON THE AN ATTEND	Always Fragmanciy Semaclass Infragmanciy sever (1) + (2) (3) (4) (5)	
136. IF TES TO GUESTION TSo, UNDER DED TON SEE OF MAA 177	(1) TV (5) Billmord	
(Circle dare than one response if applicable.)	12) Badio (A) Lasturo/Talk (3) Bouquer/Reguline (7) Police	
15c. 1/ 175 19 44511(0) 16. 1011 00 101 001000000 40011 101		

B-1



B-2

· •·	***		-				 1] .				
1100 _	 '-		-					3				
Interv			Ciner:	····	•		aping Cantor		(2) Nores			
ef Pad	.'s Traffic	e inj. Prev			ng an this	project. Ap			tot will only t	the st. sec.		
1. jiha		yanı Live in	·			— , ¹	i, that is ye	r haar's sip o				
2. Uho	t termhip	de yeu liu	a tat (t	12 Trubyffri	6	Reverterd ((3) Abington	643 Other ,				
4. 100 5. 100	t 19 ymar (t 19(are) (nge estager Her skild:	1997)'s 2001 1977 - 11	i) Loos the Ka) Lé veer	n 397 (22) 6-01d anut	: 37 to 37 (vraier) and up)	(3) 40 and an attactors) its and and	tion in the out	•		
	eet	wig	At	-		wight	test	wight				
			2 0	Frant Bidd	= =		frunt Bight			1 Under 20 tan		
l est	t Left 💡	<u> </u>	20 50	-	•	m 20 50	Bank Right		ᆱᇑᆝᆣᅋ	i Beer 48 LED		
	Left	<u> </u>	2 0	van Ridake		(1) (2) (3)	Van Biger		8 69			
14. in er	the last (aty sames i	n this or	other taufal				a catip to 610	nti ons) , 011, 017s, 01	10 3		
7. Up aaf	to what ap sty apol u	e dans Parri Nati riding	in the PE	HAN PROMIT	a a shiisi a sar7	to be in a chi		ara eld			•	
8. Cau WA	lid your pert	a tisket i ser and is i	f a shiid Ant in a c			all 4 to to 1	ite GANE It Golt?	: (1) Te				
9. 10	It mental	e for you t	a get a ti	abot for no	t waring	a seat bait e	an yau drivat	(1) 7 0	. (2) 00			
18. m	w Likety 4	s it to get	a tisket	In your cell		Libely	Libely		Second at	Wery Uni Soly	•	
*• 11	r violotin u Libaiu -	. 11 10	nie's CBU		AT Lauf	[1]	- 63 m	D 0	(4)	(3)		
11. 10 fu	r violatin		nie's SLAI	BLT Last		576	· uld	e la				
176.	dince apri-	ng of this t		ning interne ander	urup urban 125 Alban	1	kr (akin na 13	Tishet		Vertei Vertig		
			91a (#11	MEAT BELT		2. 100	int f	100 (4)		te) ta)		
176.			4	r visistim	the	4	than 1 person ly (atin no 124	(2) 2	- Di) -1985	(s) 		
			(e	ITELS ALL TH	STAT Last at apply)	3. 200	nti may etao	(4) (4)	21	tet Let		
	•••••				*********	•	interest : man.	iai Waine Igini a	uil • Inivi et	ili Strucky	•	
12. m Pa	n die versifie Theyswertie	te Citta SA	HE BOLIGS	entersting " Las?		to favor [1]	in fever	Bot Incorast 233	41 (4)	City and City		
13. Na Pa	u da yan fi Tanyi yanin	eel ataart t 's SEAT BEL	he golies 1 Lauf	entercing		613		C 1)	863	61		
- 14, W	ry fee pee fety peets	and for an		AT to insta INT consta	ll shild Sheir	ALuma	Francesti	Baget Lam	() () () ()			
en ch	iteren in ite sefety	these sects	THE THE		ftin are at in this	[1]	(2)	(II)	841	51		
tilm. C	fal Long o	tten DJ	this year, simul the	ter often			i laitt (eireid				•	
1	6). ()7 160 (a) 16 (b) 1	ne driving ne driving	3] 10077 (a cor utti	eireie all automotie :	that apply test to			ery samplise a	f up ing toi to			
	(c) h	cord the pa	lies are	miereing in	e soot ter	1 Las (7) est	······				- .	
796. B	• 7962 Erani 96. []/ 72 •/ 200	sport shild \$7 \$1020 sp se shildron		n The ages - his year hav they do a		it Indial the prote . Of the anti-	(1) Tel Istian Line	5 EZ 10 (atip to 875a)			
-	fres a safety	sest beit	to a chili	yrs ald or	t, or by t 40 1307	inging then is		13 Yen 523	to (stip to t	190)		
	₩. [₩ [a] [b] =	n, undt daa aprovad CDB at a tjaker				r (eirele ali Ef) Loori I Eni hon-	i the apply) the data of a	y implify of	uning COD's			
	tel a	at a tisket		ig for not a	e ti Las		second also	not gat a tie	et er upring	fer net soing Si's		
16. S	in (e) Inter gent	and the pa-	nine ere i Ner, been	yan asar k	• CRI Lao ••••1. •• •	adit () saidtaa kaa	·	-	- (7) 78743		-	
1901.		NO OF BAS	1007 . 100 L.B. 400/0		haard, er 1 Pillipiel	read anything	dant SLAT OL	,1 100 (22) 00				
۲	562. [[F 10 Marro	ES to 013b1 did you La		itt [1]	Pailes Th Pailes Bé	action frame	Mi Madie	tere (Brashara)	Factolemet 2			
	(cire	to all that	(CAPLY)		Catalani ty	la implier		Talk (that Pai	100)	•		
1	5e. (17 78	8 10 8154 A		191 • 484 49 794		int the area		<u> </u>	,		-	
										·	-	
	pran tapcol	y has long.	did it tal	in to get to	this play	ne fran ynwr Li	at step (in a	(nates)7	einaa			

÷

APPENDIX C

Ż

ł

SAFETY BELT POLICIES OF POLICE

	1250-58-6 1221		
TREDYFFI	RIN TOWNSHIP POLICE DEPARTMENT		
973 (H.D I.AN	NCASTER ROAD + BERWYN, PENNSYLVANIA 19312	111.	PROCEDURES
	The mart I Har meter		
	f getann Fanit franspaker fr		All police person upon occupying de
1	f in who must		
	fbengbif, Berneger		All police person
	POLICY 2-00		transported, util
	USE OF SAPETY RESTRAINT DEVICES	1.	and/or made evails
			Exceptions
		1	
	I was hit amar	1	1. A member of
	superintendent of Police		functional s
-		1	there is no
	2/1/88	1	the Department
	Dete In Effect	1	
_			2. Officers or p
I.	· POLICY		explores, a manual constraints of the sectors
	Scope and Goals	1	utilize safe
	the second and the second state of the second states		from this pol
	face an ever increasing risk of suffering injury of		3. An exemption
	death due to on-duty involvement in motor vehicle		if the priso
	accidents.	- E - C - C - C - C - C - C - C - C - C	basardous to
	Tredyffrin Township Police Department will strive to	ł	
	reduce severity of injuries and hopefully eliminate		Employee's at
	vehicles through the required use of safety restraint	[the peptricity

PURPOSE 11.

<u>.</u>

The implementation of mandatory safety restraint usage will better enable police personnel to be more prepared to maintain control of the patrol unit during collision sequences, unexpected evasive maneuvers, emergency responses, pursuit driving and everyday driving conditions.

devices in petrol vehicles provided by the manufacturer

and maintained by the Department.

Mandatory compliance with this policy will reduce the incidence of injuries sustained in traffic accidents and lesson the severity of injuries which are sustained. Compliance will also serve as an excellent example to the motoring public and general population.

mel will use mafety restraint devices partment vehicles.

....

nel driving police vehicles will ccupasts (including prisoners) being ize safety restraint devices provided able, if evailable.

- the Department may drive or occupy a le witbout the availability of a afety restraint system as long as other replacement unit available in nt floot which has a functional safety sten.
- personnel producing written from a physician, indicating the edical inability (or physical) to ty restraint devices will be exempt lley.
- from this policy can also be granted mer(a) to be transported is/are bative, or otherwise would be soatbolt in the car.

tatus will be periodically reviewed by nt.

Under certain circumstances where the use of safety restraint devices and the police function and/or officer survival may not be competible.

Exemptions to this policy shall be granted in situations is which the officer believes the efficient culminetion of the police function and/or officer survival through a potentially high risk situation outweigh the benefits of the safety restraint device.

Policy 2-08

...*

NAVERFORD TOWNSHIP POLICE DEPARTMENT

PROCEDURAL DIRECTIVE #30

SUBJECT: SAFETY BELT USE POLICY

1. PURPOSE

To establish a policy to assure maximum operator and pessenger safety, thus minimizing the possibility of death or injury do a result of motor vehicle crashes. This policy will apply to all personnel operating or riding in Dopertment vehicles

Research clearly indicates that the use of safety belts has a significant effect in reducing the number of deaths and the severity of injuries resulting from traffic crashes. A lew enforcement effices's chance of being involved in a motor vehicle crash is approximately two to tas times greater than that of the general public. The use of safety restricts reduces this risk to death and seriess injury and assists officers is maintaining proper control of their vehicles is emergency high-speed operations.

II. POLICT

To assure the safety of all personnel, safety belts will be worn by drivers and pessengers in all vehicles owned, leased or rented by the department at all times. This also applies to the operation of privately owned or other vehicles if used on-duty.

III. PROCEDURES

- A. Department personnel will use the safety belts installed by the vehicle manufacturer properly adjusted and securely fastened when operating of riding in any vehicle se equipped if used while on-duty.
- B. Lap belts will be properly sedured in those vehicles equipped with automatic safety belt systems that require the lap portion of the belt be manually secured.
- C. The driver of the vehicle is responsible for issuring compliance by all occupents of the vehicle they are operating. Approved child safety restraints shall be used for all children of age, size, or weight for which such restraints are prescribed by law.

- D. No person will operate a Departmental vehicle in which any safety belt in the drivers seating position is inoperable. We person will be transported in a seating position in which the seatety restraint is inoperable.
- E. No person will modify, remove, deactivate or otherwise tamper with the vehicle safety belts except for vehicle maintenance and repair and sat without the express authorization of the Chief of Police.
- F. Personnel who discover an imperable restraint system shall report the defect to the appropriate supervisor. Prompt actions will be taken to replace or repair the system.
- G. Any person(s) under arrest and being transported in Department vehicle(s) are required to be secured in the vehicle by a safety belt in all easting positions for which safety belts are provided by the vehicle manufacturer. Caution: Prisoners that are handcuffed in front have the ability to release the handcuffed using the safety restraints latch plate.
- E. An officer operating is an undercover capacity may be around OULT if the officer believes the use of the safety belt will compromise their identity.
- I. When arriving at an emergency call or making a vehicle traffic stop, the operator may remove the safety restraint just prior to stopping for quick exit. Caution should be exercised to insure that during the traffic stop the violator is in fact going to stop.
- J. An exemption from this policy can also be granted if the prisoner(s) to be transported lefere violent, combetive, or otherwise would be henerdous to esetbelt in the car.

IV. DRIVER AND/OR PASSENGER NEGLIGENCE

If segligence or soncompliance with the requirements of this order is displayed, appropriate corrective or disciplinary action will be initiated as prescribed by Department policies.

BY ORDER OF THE CHIEF OF POLICE

ဂ္ပ

ABINGTON TOWNSHIP POLICE DEPARTMENT

GENERAL ORDER NO. 91-03

TO: All Members of the Department

FROM: William J. Kelly, Chief of Police

£

DATE: May 14, 1991

SUBJECT: Wearing of Seat Belts

Background

As you all know, police officers are often involved in dangerous motor vehicle accidents. Locally and nationwide, officers receive serious, even fatal injuries from on-duty auto accidents; but we have also seen that in many, many cases, seat belts have saved officers' lives or minimized their injuries. In fact, the evidence favoring seat belt usage is so compelling that Pennsylvania, like most other states, has made the required usage of seat belts a State law.

Therefore, to increase officer safety and to comply with the laws which we are sworn to enforce, the following Order is being put into effect.

Order

Effective June 1, 1991, all Abington Police Department employees will be required to wear seat belts whenever operating a Township vehicle. Violation of this Order will constitute disobeying an Official Departmental Order and may be disciplined accordingly.

Any officer requesting waiver of this Order due to medical condition, etc., must do so, in writing, prior to the effective date of this Order. Also, any "equipment problems" which prevent compliance with this Order should be addressed through Vehicle Maintenance Supt. Tom Falbo or Lt. Hasson prior to the Order's effective date.

Conclusion

I know that compliance with this Order will be difficult, at first, for many of us. However, since this Order will protect the safety of our officers and will insure our compliance with State law, I expect every member of the Department to demonstrate the professionalism and self-discipline to obey this Order.

By order of:

Nilliam #

William J. Keil Chief of Police

WJK/ml

C-3

APPENDIX D

÷

÷

CITATION INFORMATION CARD

SPEEDING FINE SCALE PaVC - Sec. 3362 Maximum Speed Limit

A-1 35 moh in Urban District Subsection A-2 55 mph in any other location

A-3 Any other maximum speed limit established

25 mph Zone	35 mph Zena	40 mph Zone	4 5 mph Zone	55 mph Zone
math Fine	math Fitne	mph Fire	mph Pro	mph Fine
35	45	54 \$45	55	05848
34	48	51	\$0\$47	66
37	47	\$2	\$7840	87
30891	40	\$3 \$51	56 \$51	608 51
39	48	\$4\$\$\$	BØ863	60 883
40	50	\$5 \$55	00 \$\$\$	70888
41	\$1	56 857	61	71
42	\$2	\$7 \$55	62	72\$\$\$
43 801	\$3	58 \$61	. 63	73801
44 883	\$4	50 803	64	74803
45	65	60 \$05		75\$84
48 847	54	61 907	66 \$67	70907
47 888	\$7	62	67	77
48 871	54	63	60 \$71	78671
48 873	\$4	64	ee	79
50	ee\$75	65 878	70978	00 976
41 477	41	64	71	01077
49 676	67 878	67	72979	62
43 581	C	68 \$01	78	83991
64 . 183	64	e0 \$03		B4883
44 184	45	70 \$0\$	78	65 685
44 887	66	71 \$07	70	66967
47 888	47	72	77	87\$89
	44	73	, 78	66
44 441	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	74 803	79	60 993
44 EBE	70	75	80895	90895

Pave - Sec. 6506 Sucharge (CAT)

•		
\$ 30.00	B46 \$10.00	
\$ 40.00	CUSIS \$17.34	
\$ 50.00	JCP \$ 1.50	•
\$150.00		
\$150.00	and the late Person Address	
\$ 30.00		
\$ 40.00	fi baler	
\$ 50.00		
\$ 50.00		
\$100.00		
\$200.00		
\$300.00		
	8 30.00 8 40.00 8 50.00 8 150.00 8 30.00 8 40.00 8 50.40 8 50.40 8 50.40 8 100.00 8 300.00	8 30.00 Bx8 \$10.00 5 40.00 CCBT3 \$17.50 5 50.00 JCP \$1.50 5 50.00 JCP \$1.50

PENNSYLVANIA **VEHICLE CODE SAFETY VIOLATIONS**

CHILD PASSENGER SAFETY LAW

PRIMARY ENFORCEMENT SECTION 4501 A1 CHILD RESTRAINTS

....

All drivers are responsible to secure children from birth to see four in the appropriate restraint.

- · Children from birth to age 1 must be in an approved car seat.
- · Children from 1 to 4 should be in an appreved car seat but legally can wear a salety belt in the back seel antr.
- . Children from birth to 4 can ride in the front seat of the car goby if they are in an approved car seat.

FINE: \$25.00 plus court costs or proof of car seet purchase.

SAFETY BELT USE LAW

SECONDARY ENFORCEMENT SECTION 4581 A2 SEAT BELT LAW

- Driver and all front seat passengers must be restrained.
 Drivers are responsible for themselves and for each passenger under age 18 riding in the trant seal.
- Examptions include carriers of medical or psychological excuses eigned by a physician, rural latter carriers, deliverers of goods or service vehicle operators driving at speeds less than 15 mph and making frequent stops, drivers of extemplates manufactured before July 1, 1966.

FINE: \$10.00 if convicted of primary offense.

Pa VC - Sec. 3326 Construction Areas

Fines double for violation of the following

sections if violated in construction areas:

3102	3302	3304	3323	3702
3111	3303	3307	3320	3714
3112	3304	3301	3361	3715
5114	3305	3310	3362	3731

INFORMATION: 1-800-CAR-BELT

PRINTED BY KEYBTONE BAFETY BELT NETWORK, INC., 717-230-0180

Å

APPENDIX E

٠.

E-MAIL MESSAGE ENFORCEMENT REMINDERS

F60maiervon Tue Apr 30 11:23:27 1991 Subject: SEAT BELT ENFORCEMENT Date: Tue Apr 30 11:23:23 1991

R,

APF. 2 MONTHS AGO, THIS DEPT. INSTITUTED A SEATBELT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM. DURING THIS TIME PERDID, 61 CITATIONS MAVE BEEN ISSUED. 1990 STATEWIDE STATISTICS MAVE REFLECTED A DECLINE IN TRAFFIC FATALITIES, IN PART DUE TO INCREASED DUI ENFORCEMENT AND SEATBELT USAGE. I BELIEVE THAT THIS DEPT. CAN CAN INCREASE THE ENFORCEMENT AND THERE BY REDUCE INJURIES AND DEATHS. PLEASE REVIEW SECTION 4581 AND ISSUE CITATIONS UNDER SUBSECTION A AND B WHENEVER FOSSIBLE. PLEASE INDICATE UNDER REMARKS THE ORIGINAL VIOLATION FOR WHICH THE DRIVER WAS STOPPED AND CITED. THIS IS ONE INCIDENT WHERE YOU CAN MAKE THE DIFFERENCE.

SGT. LANYON

۰.

From lanyon Thu Nay 16 00:47:52 1991 To: all Subject: OPERATION BUCKLE DOWN AND BUCKLE UP AMERICA WEEK Cc: lanyon Date: Thu May 16 00:47:40 1991

THIS DEPT. HAS COMMITTED IT'S PARTICIPATION TO THIS PROJECT DURING THE WEEK OF MAT 20 - 27. WE HAVE RECEIVED 100 BEARS AND CERTIFICATES WHICH ARE TO BE GIVEN TO CHILDREN AND MOTORIST WHO ARE OBSERVED USING CHILD RESTRAINT DEVICES AND SEATBELTS. THESE BEARS AND CERTIFICATES WILL BK FLACED IN THE SQUAD ROOM.

ALL SGTS. AND SHIFT SUPERVISORS ARE TO SEE THAT EACH OFFICER RECEIVES APP. 3 - 5 BEARS AND CERTIFICATES AND THAT THEY ISSUE THEM. THE TRAFFIC SQUAD WILL

ALSO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ISSUING THESE ITEMS. SGTS. AND SUPERVISORS WILL SUBMIT A LIST, INCLUDING NAMES AND REGISTRATION NUMBERS OF THOSE PEOPLE WHO RECEIVED THE BEARS.

THIS PROJECT WILL ONLY WORK IF WE RECEIVE 100% COOPERATION FROM THE ENTIRE PATROL DIVISION. IT MAY PROVE AN EXCELLANT OPPROTUNITY TO WIN A FEW FRIENDS FOR THE DEPT. AND IMPROVE THE IMAGE OF POLICE OFFICERS IN GENERAL.

THANK YOU IN ADVANCE FOR YOUR COOPERATION

From Lanyon Mon Jun 16 14:27:23 1991 To: all Subject: CITATIONS FOR SEATBELTS Cc: Lanyon Date: Mon Jun 10 14:27:20 1991

€.,

WHEN CITING SECTION 4581 (A) (2) YOU MUST INCLUDE THE SIG FINE, SIG EMS AND 530 CAT FUND. EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY, AS PER JUDGE AULTS ORDER, CITATIONS NOT CONTAINING THIS INFO WILL BE RETURNED.

I MAVE REVIEWED OUR STATS AND IT APPEARS THAT WE MAVE MADE A LOT OF PROGRESS IN THE AREA OF SEATBELT ENFORCEMENT, (38 IN MAY) PLEASE IF YOU MAVE BEEN ENFORCING IT, KEEP UP THE GOOD WORK AND IF YOU MAVEN'T, LETSGET WITH THE PROGRAM. THEY DO SAVE LIVES AND THATS WHAT WE'RE ALL ABOUT.

SGT LANYON

:

From carbo Wed Aug 14 31:40:51 1991 To: all Subject: Seatbelt Enforcement Cc: carbo Date: Wed Aug 14 11:40:40 1991

This date 1 had a conversation with Mr.Larry DeCina who is the representative for the NTSH sponsored Seatbel Enforcement Frogram. He reported that there were 1a citations issued for the month of July. 1 am aware of the fact that many officers are reluctant to issue multiple violations. He informed me that we will receive just as much credit for a written warning. I encourage you to write these warnings. We have agreed to participate in the program and it is the responsibility of all of us to do our best to improve the safety of the aptering public.

> Respectfully: J.A.Carbo, Jr. Set Lts. Office

From lanyon Fri Oct 11 11:29:11 1991 To: ell Subject: SEATBELT VIOLATIONS Date: Fri Oct 11 11:29:00 1991 IF YOU CHARGE A SEATBELT VIOLATION ON A CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, (DUI, MAR ETC.) PLEASE SEND AN E MAIL MESSAGE TO JIM BOYLE SO THAT HE IS SURE TO CATCH IT. PRESENTLY, MANY OF THESE VIOLATIONS ARE NOT GOING INTO THE MONTHLY STATS. THANK YOU LT. LANYON From disting The Oct 31 07:28:43 1991 To: All Subject: SEAT BELT ENFORCEMENT Date: Thu Oct 31 07:20:42 1991 Remember to enforce the SEAT BELT LAW. SEAT BELTS save lives. We have a duty to enforce the laws. Thank you. Respectfully, Sergeant Stephen Dinting

ł

E-3

Eron 118 Tue Dec 17 18:44:44 1991 Date: Tue Dec 17 18:44:43 1991 ***** 11 AN . ** . . -. *** ×. ***** ***** . --**** . -. **60 m** *** ****** . . . -..... 888888

.

4

Frem edannell Fri Nov 29 18:20:11 1991 Toi jio Gobjeri: 6007 80.7 Cer edannell Date: Fri Nov 29 18:20:10 1991

JIN JUST TO NEEP UP OUR STATE, I FILED & RESTRAINT SYSTEM CITATION ON & CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, IT IS IN REFERENCE TO ACCIDENT 09167622, THREE BOB

E-4

APPENDIX F

.

DIRECTIVES FROM CHIEF OF POLICE

MEMORANDUM

Ŋ,

, DATE: 11 July 1991

TO: ALL PERSONNEL

FROM: CHIEF HOWARD WALTON

SUBJELT: CHILD SAFETY SEAT AND SEAT BELT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM.

The Department is participating in a special program from the National Highway Traffic and Safety Administration in Conjunction with Kentron Inc for child safety seat and seat belt usage.

All Officers are to be concerned with safety seat and seat belt violations during their normal patrol and routine traffic stops.

Officers have the option to issue traffic citations or departmental warning cards when they observe a violation. We have had a new type of warning card printed for just seat belt and child safety seat violations. This card is very brief on the needed information but will enable us to keep track of the different contacts for this type of violation. When issuing this card officers should give the operator the top sheet and turn the hard copy into records.

It is the department's policy to strongly enforce the above regulations either with citations or the warning cards. Officers should also give the operator the two informational reports concerning seat belts and child safety seats.

All Officers should contact Sergeant Hoover or the Highway Safety Officer on duty for their issue of warning cards and informational sheets. The program will also be outlined for all officers at this time.

Chief Howard Walton

F-1

APPENDIX G

POLICE WARNING NOTICES FOR OCCUPANT RESTRAINT VIOLATIONS

			999 - A.	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
W	He Driver's License	r Equipment Data	Time	
	He Registration Card Hale	Inspection Required		
WARNING NOTICE	Traffic Violation			
Name of Driver	Briver Humber/Blain	Data at Birth Class	Rastfattan Cada	
			[`	
	· ·			
Registration Hember	State Vanishe Make and Type .	Vin .		
	I			
	·		· · ·	
Queser's Address				
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	1			
ITTEME REQUIRENCE.		Driver'e Bignature		
REPAIN, REPLACEMENT		- x		
Resultion of Pallon Officer	Badyo No.	Sullen	Cede	
Equipment noted above to in visit examples part B of the reverse si	alien of the Vehicle Code. If an afficial Blais inspe ide. Vertikation of convection must be made with	cean àr rismapaction is nat requires, a roune Chicar any vers n 6 days al the data of this wurning. Mail ar dailvar this card, (property contilled to	•
Insure concellation of the compl	land. Failure to comply will bring penalities as pr	scotted by Mar.		
•	, ,			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			، السيسينين	
		_		
	•	•		

- ·

•

<u>Ģ</u>

A ANDI NOT	HAVERFORD TOW RESTRAINT S	NSHIP POLIC	E DEPARTME NG NOTICE		
ternit OF ORIVER	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	QL M		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
REGIETRATION		BTATE .	-		<u>.</u>
TI'	TLE 75 - PENNSY	LVANIA MOTO	R VEHICLE C	ODE	
[] 4581 a 1 (CHILD UNDER THE A VEHICLE SHALL BE F PASSENGER RESTRA	GE OF FOUR (4) ASTENED SECU INT SYSTEM.	YEARS ANYWH RELY IN A CHIL	IERE IN THE D	
🗆 4581 a 2 i	DRIVER AND FRONT WEAR A PROPERLY A	SEAT OCCUPAN DJUSTED AND I	T OF A VEHICL	E SHALL ETY SEAT	
	DEEL OTOTEM.				
VIOLATIONS AND COSTS	S OF THESE SECTION TOTALING \$66.50.	IS CAN RESULT	IN A CITATION	WITH FINES	
VIOLATIONS AND COSTS	3 OF THESE SECTION TOTALING \$66.50.	IS CAN RESULT	IN A CITATION	WITH FINES	
VIOLATIONS AND COSTS	S OF THESE SECTION TOTALING \$66.50.	IS CAN RESULT	IN A CITATION	WITH FINES	

G-2

APPENDIX H

÷

÷

PUBLIC INFORMATION & EDUCATION MATERIAL USED IN PROJECT

TREDYFFRIN TOWNSHIP POLICE CHILD SAFETY SEAT AND SAFETY BELT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM

- The Tredyffrin Township Police Department has begun an ongoing enforcement effort of two Pennsylvania traffic laws:
 - (1) The Child Passenger Safety Law requires all drivers are responsible to secure children from birth to age 4 in the appropriate restraint
 - Children from birdit to age 1 must be in an approved car seat.

÷.

- Children from 1 to 4 should be in an approved car seat but legally can wear a lap beit in the back seat only.
- Children from birth to 4 can ride in the front seat of the car only if they are in an approved car seat.
- (2) The Safety Belt Law requires that drivers and all front sest passengers must be restrained. Drivers are responsible for themselves and for each passenger under age 18 riding in the front sest.
- Recent community observation and survey studies revealed:
 - Only 48% of all drivers were buckled.
 - Then percent (15%) of drivers carrying children were not buckled up.
 - The percentage of young children restrained in child safety seats dropped dramatically after one year of age. Only 41% of toddlers, ages 3 to 4, were observed in child safety seats.
 - About 25% of surveyed drivers revealed that they do not <u>aiways</u> properly restrain their young child passengers.
 - Only 9% of the drivers thought it was likely that the police would ticket them for child safety seat or safety belt violations.
 - Over 80% of the drivers were <u>strongly in favor</u> of the police enforcing these laws.
- Nationwide studies have shown that 75% of serious and fatal traffic injuries occur less than 25 miles from the home.
- The Tradyfirin Police are committed to enforcing these occupant restraint laws, promoting child restraint use on all trips, and educating community residents on the safety benefits of properly using child safety seats and safety belts.
- Remember, a full child safety seat provides maximum protection for your children up to 4 years of age or at 40 pounds or 40 inches tall. When your toddler outgrows a toddler seat, use a booster seat that can be secured with a lap-shoulder belt combination, until your child reaches 60 pounds.

For more information on available materials, films, speaker's network, curriculum, etc. - which are free to Pennsylvania citizens - call or write;

PA Chapter - American Academy of Pediatrics PA Traffic injury Prevention Project 610 Old Lancaster Road #220 Bryn Mawr, PA 19010 1-800-CARBELT

H-1

HAVERFORD TOWNSHIP POLICE CHILD SAFETY SEAT AND SAFETY BELT ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM

- The Haverford Township Police Department has begun an ongoing enforcement effort of two Pennsylvania traffic laws:
 - (1) The Child Passenger Safety Law requires all drivers are responsible to secure children from birth to age 4 in the appropriate restraint
 - Children from birth to age 1 must be in an approved car seat.
 - Children from 1 to 4 should be in an approved car seat but legally can wear a lap belt in the back seat only.
 - Children from birth to 4 can ride in the front seat of the car only if they are in an approved car seat.
 - (2) The Safety Belt Law requires that drivers and all front seat passengers must be restrained. Drivers are responsible for themselves and for each passenger under age 18 riding in the front seat.
- Recent community observation and survey studies revealed:
 - Only 44% of all drivers were buckled.

•

- Twenty-nine percent (29%) of drivers carrying children were not buckled up.
- The percentage of young children restrained in child safety seats dropped dramatically after one year of age. Only 41% of toddlers, ages 3 to 4, were observed in child safety seats.
- About 25% of surveyed drivers revealed that they do not always properly restrain their young child passengers.
- Only 9% of the drivers thought it was likely that the police would ticket them for child safety seat or safety belt violations.
- Over 80% of the drivers were strongly in favor of the police enforcing these laws.
- Nationwide studies have shown that 75% of serious and fatal traffic injuries occur less than 25 miles from the home.
- The Haverford Police are committed to enforcing these occupant restraint laws, promoting child restraint use on all trips, and educating community residents on the safety benefits of properly using child safety seats and safety belts.
- Remember, a full child safety seat provides maximum protection for your children up to 4 years of age or at 40 pounds or 40 inches tall. When your toddler outgrows a toddler seat, use a booster seat that can be secured with a lap-shoulder belt combination, until your child reaches 60 pounds.

For more information on available materials, films, speaker's network, curriculum, etc. - which are free to Pennsylvania citizens - call or write:

PA Chapter - American Academy of Pediatrics PA Traffic Injury Prevention Project 610 Old Lancaster Road #220 Bryn Mawr, PA 19010 1-800-CARBELT

H-2

SUMMARY OF CHILD PASSENGER PROTECTION ACT

1. All drivers transporting children from birth to age 4 are responsible to restrain those children in the appropriate restraint system.

2. Infants from birth to age 1 must be in an approved child safety seat. The seat may be in any seating position equipped with a seat belt in the vehicle. (However, for maximum protection, the back seat is preferable.)

3. Children from 1 to 4 may be in a child safety sent anywhere in the vehicle or in a sent belt in the back sent only.

4. Violators may be fined up to \$25.00, plus \$17.50 court costs, \$30.00 CAT Fund and \$10.00 EMS Fund. The fine may be waived by showing proof of purchase and possession of a child safety seat at the time of court appearance.

5. Violators may be stopped as a primary offense for non-compliance of the Child Passenger Protection Act.

6. Fines collected will be placed in a fund used to purchase child safety seats for car seat loaner programs.

7. Civil immunity for lenders of car seats has been granted. No person or organization who lends car seats shall be liable for any civil damages resulting from any acts or omission, except any act or omissio- intentionally designed to harm or any grossly negligent act or omission resulting in harm to another.

8. Hospitals are required to notify parents of the PA car sent law and also the location of car sent loan programs in the community.

9. An education program shall be conducted to insure maximum distribution of information about the law.

SUMMARY OF PENNSYLVANIA SEAT BELT LAW

1. Each driver and front seat passenger operating a passenger car, class I and II truck or motor home in the State of Pennsylvania shall wear a property adjusted and fastened safety belt.

2. The driver of a passenger automobile shall secure or cause to be secured with a safety belt any child over the age of four and under the age of 18 riding in the front seat.

5. Violators, if convicted of the primary offense for which the vehicle was stopped, are liable to pay a \$10 fine for the seat belt violation.

4. Exceptions to the Law are made for (1) those with medical or psychological diagnoses that makes them unable to wear a safety belt (written verification must be produced); (2) occupants of cars manufactured before july 1, 1966; (3) specific occupational designations.

FOR CLARIFICATION, OTHER DETAILS OR A COMPLETE COPY OF THE LAW:

1-800-CAR BELT PA Child Passenger Safety Project 610 Old Lancaster Road, Suite 220 Bryn Mawr, PA 19010 215-520-9124

3/90



2

That's why up the to any train rating in cars or trucks with ever bets and car state. Car charaos tel and injure more charaon than my desease. A sudam, unexpected step can huri an unextruned passenger rate the destaceast or though a undefinited. Do your part. . Asso everyone tuckte up

Car Salety Same and Same Balls. It's the Law

Al annora must assure that children from laft. In faut years are buched up:

- With to are your must be in a car a
- one to four years should be in a for shell but may be in a seat ball, but only in the back seat.
- all drivers and light sees passengers must
- dress are responsible by best said
- passangers 0 to 18.

OFFICER DENNIS ANDERSON WITH NEPHEW PATRICK Havenford Township Police Department LOVE KIDS TOO

That's why we like to see them rising in ours or Thatis with sent being and liter states.

Car creates all and injure more children than any desease. A sublen, unexpected step can hull an unvestmened personnyer step

the dearboard or through a windshield. Do year part, . Jeans everyone builds up everytime!

Car Sainty Sugar and Sugar Subs. It's the Los

- All drivers must assure that anishen from targto fair years are buckled up;
- bith to one your must be in a our past
 one to four yours should be in a our past
 bit may be in a past ball, but only in the block and
- · di divers and bert solt pessangers must
- divers all responsible for bort and planningers 0 to 10.

CAR SAFETY SEATS AND SEAT BELTS SAVE LIVES.

The Pennsylvania Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics Prescribes Car Safety Seats and Seat Belts for Pleasant Safer Driving. Once chieren get waat in norig hustoo up tray ere ollen heter tenarret and exace bes deresten, there superprisely, twy ere eder. See trac all passargers in your volvele are in a approved ar east or set bet. For mare volumeten en othet passarger eder, bigging, sched huse or passarum eder, dirty air deter or ad




TIPS FOR RESTRAINING 2 TO 4 YEAR OLDS IN YOUR CAR

- . Remain adamant about child safety seat use as your child outgrows the infant seat.
- Full child safety seats provide maximum protection, lap belts should only be used if a child safety seat is unavailable.
- When your toddler outgrows a full safety seat (at 40 pounds or 40 inches tall), use a booster seat that can be secured in your car with a lap-shoulder belt combination, until your child reaches 60 pounds.
- Tips for parents who cannot keep children in child safety seats:
 - Alladults in cars and other vehicles should set a good example and wear safety belts.
 - Remember to be consistent- <u>never</u> let a fussy child out of the car seat-it will make it harder to keep him or her in the seat on the next ride.
 - Take along special toys (that stay in the car) or cuddlies for all age children. For young children, attach toys to the car seat with very short strings, so the toy cannot be thrown.
 - When children get restless, sing songs, give them a headset, so that they can play a favorite tape, or play games like looking for farm animals, school buses, signs, etc. Along the roadway.
 - 2 and 3 year olds will enjoy personalizing their seats with decorations, and may find it comforting to buckle up a favorite teddy or doll, in or out of the car. Talk about how safe teddy is riding in his seat.
 - Encourage 3 and 4 year olds to imagine themselves as astronauts or race car drivers, who also buckle up.
 - Preschoolers will model your "grown-up" buckling behavior and can be models for younger toddlers. Three and 4 year olds can understand why it is important to buckle up. Tell them, "in case we need to stop the car suddenly, your seat will keep you from bumping your head."

For more information on available materials, films, speaker's network, curriculum, etc. - which are free to Pennsylvania citizens - call or write:

PA Chapter - American Academy of Pediatrics PA Traffic Injury Prevention Project 610 Old Lancaster Road #220 Bryn Mawr, PA 19010 1-800-CARBELT

Children And Car Safety: Making Friends With A Safety Seat

American Academy of Pediatrics

H-J



Your child's car safety seat cn^{-1} be a lifesaver. But to protect your child, the seat must be used consistently and property. Most children accept the use of car seats and seat betts as a routine necessity; however, at various times, all children need special attention to keep them well protected.

> Your stillude towards safety belts and child safety seets is of prime importance.

If you treat buckling up as a normal part of living--something to be done sutomatically--your children, generally, will follow your lead.



ALWAYS use the safety seat, and use it correctly. If you're not sure, read the manufacturer's instructions. No exceptions—after all it's the law in all 50 states.

Allow NO exceptions for older kids and adults. Everyone buckles up! If adults ride unprotected, the child quickly decides that safety is just kidstuff.

Give frequent praise for appropriate behavior in the car.

Remember that a borad child can become a descriptive one. Keep a supply of favorite, soft toys and munchles on hand. NEVER let a fussy child out of the car seat or safety belt while the car is in motion. If the child needs a break, STOP the car. Don't reward complaints by allowing your child to ride unprotected. That's a disastrous decision, and one that will make it harder to keep him or her in the seat on the next ride.

Remember make your message consistent-the child is always buckled up.

If a child tries to get out of the seat, stop the car and firmly, but calmly, explain that the car won't go until he or she is back in place buckled in the car seat.

Make a vinyl seat pad more comfortable in hot weather by covering it with a cloth pad.

Some children hit rough spots that discourage car seat and seat belt use at certain ages. Here are some useful tips:



Start the use of safety seats on the first ride home from the hospital, and keep on using them for every ride.

Keep a newborn comfortable by padding the sides of the seat with rolled towels to prevent slouching.

Place a small rolled lowel between the crotch strap and the small infant to prevent slouching in seats that have long seat back to crotch strap distances.

-23 Months: Resiless Toddlers

Kids this age love to climb, so yours may resist the safety seat for the first time. Be patient: it's only a phase. Keep a positive attitude and a calm but stern voice. Remember to be consistent. You're protecting your baby and it's worth the extra effort.

Attach soft or chewy toys to the salety seal" with very short strings. Not only do children this age love to throw things, but unattached toys roll under seats and can go flying in sudden stops.

Talk with your toddler or sing a song. Work at keeping your child entertained, but don't let yoursell get distracted from your own driving.



Let kids personalize their seats with stickers, names, racing stripes. You should help, but let them choose their own decor. The shall should be their "special seal."

Talk about what they see along the roadside: signe, bridges, firetrucks, cows. Make driving with your child an educational expenence.

Encourage voungsters to buckle up their favorite teddy, in or out of the car. Talk about how sale teddy is riding in his car seat or salety bell.



This child is ready to be a role model for any vounger children.

Talk about safety as "grown-up" behavior and praise proper use.

Encourage your child to count how many children are in car seats.

Encourage imagination When your child rides buckled up, is she an astronaut? A race car driver?

Now's the time to explain in more detail WHY buckling up is so important. "In case we have to stop suddenly, your salety seal keeps you from bumping your head."

Use books and pictures with safety messaces.

Make sure all kids buckle up on school trips and other outings.

Remember to always buckle up yourself.



Elementary School Children: Graduating to Seat Belts

Explain how safety belts save lives.

Use dashboard stickers to remind them and their friends of your seet belt policy.

Help them practice how they would respond if friends or friends' parents contradict good salety habits. Your child could say, "My mom and dad have a rule that I always buckle up."



Plan for frequent stops, and try to stop before the kids get restless. Cuddle young children and let older children snack, and run around for 10-15 minutes.

When there are two adults in the car, try switching positions so the child has a seat companion and isn't left out of the conversabon.

Δ.

Have a "surprise bag" in the car. Bring out toys and treats one at a time.

Play the radio and tapes, or sing songs. If more than one adult is present, read short stones aloud.

Try observation games. Preschoolers can spot cars of different colors. Older children can find vehicles from ten different states, or try to identify certain models of automobiles on the road, or count people wearing seat belts in passing cars.

Remember to always be consistent: you and your child are always buckled up, and the car seat is used correctly. If you believe in what you're doing, eventually your child will also.

Supported by an educational grant from Exxon Corporation with the cooperation of the National Highway Traffic Salety Administration.



Act was signed into law in 1983, many people have purchased or borrowed safety seats. Surveys show that many parents buy toprated, federally approved safety seats, but misuse them.

Some parents don't anchor the child seat to the vehicle's seat with the lap belt. Or they don't use the child seat's harness to hold the child in the seat. And some parents face the child the wrong direction.

Why are so many seats misused? Usually parents just don't read the manufacturer's instructions. Sometimes, parents don't realize the terrible danger they have created for their child by misusing the seat.

It's easy to use a child seat correctly if your follow three simple ateps . . .

> 1. Sit Right. 2. Seat Right. 3. Belt Right.

1. Sit Right



Face The Child the Right Direction.

Child Safety Seats are designed to hold the child in place and absorb the impact of a crash by spreading the forces over the stronger parts of a child's body. For these reasons, it's critical that your child is sitting correctly in a safety seat that is focing the right direction. To do it right, follow these simple rules...

Infant Seats -- Face the seat backwards. Baby rides in a semi-reclining position facing the rear of the car.

<u>Toddler and Booster Seats</u> – Face the seat forward. The child sits upright facing the front of the car.

<u>Convertible Seats</u> — In the infant position, the seat reclines and faces rearward. In the toddier position, face the seat forward with the child upright.



Secure The Child In The Safety Seat.

Your child must be secured within the sent itself by the harness and/or straps. If not, he could be thrown from the sent during a crash and hit the car's interior surfaces. He could even be ejected from the car. Here are some important points to remember ...

<u>All Sents</u> – Always snugly and completely fasten the harness. In most sents, the harness goes over the child's shoulders and through the legs.

<u>Toddler Sent</u> - Don't be fooled by models that have a U-shaped, padded armrest. This is only a cosmetic feature. Always fasten the harness.

<u>Convertible Seat</u> – Thread the harness differently for the infant and the toddler positions. The manufacturer's instructions explain how.

Booster Seal - This seat comes with its own harness or uses the car's lap/shoulder belt. In either case, always secure the child with an upper body restraint.

3. Belt Right

۰.



Properly Secure the Child Seat to the Car.

Failing to correctly anchor the seat in the car as recommended by the manufacturer has resulted in seats tipping over, sliding sideways or being ejected from the car completely. It also resulted in many children being hurt or killed. Anchoring the car seat properly is critical to the seat's performance in a crash.

Convertible and booster seats require extra attention since the car's seat belt is routed differently in each position. Older seats sometimes require a tether strap attached to the top of the seat and the frame of the car. If you are unsure of the directions for anchoring your car seat, call 1-800-CAR-BELT to receive those instructions.

Always Remember...

- Never hold a child in your lap while riding in either the front or back seat.
- All indents and toddlers under four caust, according to Permaylvania law, travel in approved car seata, except for older children (between one and four) who may use the car's seat belt in the back seat only.
- Always follow the manufacturer's instructions for correct installation.
- The center rear seat is the safest place in the car.
- Remember, infants ince backward. Toddlers ince forward.
- Always use the car's seat belt to anchor the seat to the car.
- Make sure the sent's homean fits anughy (two finger widths of slack only).
- Use a tether strap if the sent requires it.
- Set a good example by using your sent belt everytinet you travel. All front sent passengers must use a sent belt in Pennsylvania. It's the law.
- Studies show that when children are correctly buckled up they are better behaved, feel more secure, fail adapp sooner and are less likely to be injured in the car.

Per sure information on solity auto check with your polistrician or contact:

Child Passenger Safety Project 121 Coulter Avenue #5 Ardmore, PA 19003

Toll Free 1-800-CAR-BELT

CORRECT USE OF CHILD SAFETY SEATS

ARE YOU MAKING THESE MISTAKES ?

BUNDLING YOUR CHILD IN BLANKETS BEFORE PLACING IN THE CAR SEAT?

This makes correct positioning of shoulder harness and erotch strap impossible.

• FACING YOUR CAR SEAT IN THE WRONG DIRECTION?

Baby must ride backwards until he or she can sit up well and is over 12 months old. The back seat is usually safer than the front seat. If the driver must supervise the infant, place the seat in the front seat facing the rear. A forward facing, upright toddler seat is used after the child weighs 20 pounds and is over 1 year old.

• RECLINING THE CAR SEAT TOO MUCH?

This could permit the child to be forced out head first by frontal impact. Check manufacturer's instructions for safe degree of tilt.

• FAILING TO SECURE THE CAR SEAT WITH AUTO SEAT BELT?

If lap belt does not fit around or through its frame as directed, try another seating position in the car.A seat belt extender can lengthen the belt. If these do not work, use a different model car seat, which should be fitted in the car before purchase. DO NOT PUT SEAT BELT IN A DIF-FERENT POSITION OTHER THAN THAT RECOM-MENDED BY MANUFACTURER.

• NEGLECTING TO USE THE HARNESS, SHIELD OR COMBINATION OF THE TWO, AS SPECIFIED IN THE MANUFACTURER'S IN-STRUCTIONS?

This could allow child to be thrown out of seat.

• FAILING TO USE THE HARNESS ON A CAR SEAT WITH A PADDED ARMREST?

The armrest is a comfort feature and will not protect your child in any way. The harness must be used at all times.

• IS THE HARNESS TOO LOOSE?

This allows the child to experience a very severe jok during a collision, because webbing is not stretched to absorb impact.

 NEGLECTING TO FASTEN TOP TETHER STRAP:

Some older model car seats require a top tether strap. When not used the seat pivots forward in a frontal crash. Check your car seat directions. If you are not sure whether your car seat needs one call 1-800-CARBELT.

• ALLOWING YOUK CHILD TO RIDE LOOSE IF HE/SHE COMPLAINS OR CLIMBS OUT OF THE CAR SEAT?

This commonly happens when children are between 9 and 24 months, when they are becoming mobile and resist being confined. They can and must be taught that the car seat is their place in the car. For most children, the parent can accomplish this in a few days or weeks by stopping the car whenever their behavior is intolerable and letting them know that the car won't start again until they are secured in their car seat. Being firm and explaining that everyone else in the car is also buckled up will help. Letting the child ride loose a few times will only make buckling up harder the acut time. Be reassured that your child can and will learn to accept the car seat and that this resistance is a passing phase. Making frequent stops during long trips and providing simple entertainment will help. (see other side for suggestions)

• RECLINING A FORWARD-FACING SEAT FOR YOUR TODDLER?

Convertible seats for toddlers are built to be used in the upright forward-facing position. Children quickly learn to sleep in an upright car seat very easily.

sleep in an upright car seat very easily. • FAILING TO DOUBLE STRAPS BACK THROUGH THE BUCKLE WHEN ADJUST-ING THE HARNESS?

The harness straps must be secured by doubling them back through the buckles. When incompletely threaded the harness could pull out unnoticed.

• REPLACING YOUR CAR SEAT IF IT HAS BEEN THROUGH AN ACCIDENT?.

Always replace car seats and safety beks after an accident.

MOVING YOUR CHILD TO A BOOSTER SEAT TOO SOON?

Manufacturers claim that children who weigh as little as 20 pounds can safely ride in a booster seat. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends keeping your child in the car seat until he or she weighs 40 pounds. Your young child needs the additional support provided by the full harness in the car seat.

• FAILING TO USE A LOCKING CLIP TO SECURE THE SEAT BELT?

Many new cars require the use of a locking clip to secure the car seat within the belt. A continuous loop belt (when it's secured, you can pull on the lap portion and it will expand) will not keep the car seat intact. Call 1-800-CAR BELT to determine if you will need a locking clip. Your car's manual can also give you this information.

For more information on available materials, films, speaker's network, curriculum, etc. -- which are free to PA citizens -- call or write;

PA Chapter - American Academy of Podiatrics PA Traffic Injury Prevention Project 610 Old Lancaster Read. #220

Bryn Mawr, PA 19010

1-800-CARBELT



1991 Shopping Guide to Car Seats All products listed meet Federal Motor Vehicle Standard 213

A child safety seat that is installed and used correctly will provide very effective crash protection for your child, incorrect use of a chid safety sear can drastically reduce its effectiveness. Carefully read and follow the instructions that come with the chid safety seat. Also, read the car owner's manual for installation instructions.

resonance or transportation nal Highway Traffic Salety

2

NOTE: Occasionally, child safety seats are recalled by the manufacturer to correct safety method problems. Prone the Auto Safety Hottine at 1-800-424-9383 to find if your new or used child salety seat has been recalled.

€.

To be sure that you can be reached, send the manufacturer a postcard manufact "CHILD

SAFETY SEAT REGISTRATION "- with your name, address and the model number and production date of your child astery set.

of Pi

Size and weight guide for child safety easts provided on reverse side.

Manufacturer/Name	Harness Type	Herness Adjustment	Special Nature	Price Reage
intent Seats				
Century 560, 565	Straps only	One-step	Tilt-indicator, fits in shopping cart.	\$25-35
Century 580, 590	Straps only	580 - Manual 580 - One-stee	Tilt-indicator: \$90 - separate base stays in car;	\$45-45
Cosco Dream Ride	Straps only	One-step	To 17 lbs: use flat as car bed. or semi-reclined.	\$59-49
Conco TI C	Strane main	Manual	The second	\$29-35
Evende Dem C. Mite	Strans only	Manual	Shoulder helt wrans around front of seat.	\$29.34
Evenilo Joy Ride	Straps only	Manual	Shoulder belt wraps around front of seat; "Jovride Convertible" model is for infants only.	\$36-60
Evenilo Travel Tandem	Straps only	Manual	Separate base stays belted in car: seat can be used in second car without base; locks in shopping cart.	\$62-79
Fisher-Price Infant Car Seat	Straps/T-shield	Manual	No locking clip; leveling line; locks in shopping cart.	\$50
Kolcraft Rock 'N Ride	Straps only	Manual	No harness height adjustment.	\$29-50
Convertible Seats				
Bathhood Mig. Baby Sitter	Straps only	Manuai	Previously called "Wonds Chair."	\$89
Century 1000 STE	Straps only	One-stap	2 crutch strap positions.	\$50-60
Century 2000 STE	Straps/T-shield	One-step	2 crotch strap positions.	\$55-70
Century 3000 STE. 3500 STE Premier	Straps-unde shield	One-step	2 crotch strap positions.	\$80-90
Century 5000 STE.	Straps/wide shield	One-step	2 crotch strap positions; multi-position shield;	\$90-120
\$500 STE Premier			back pads for infant support.	
Cosco S-Pt	Straps only	One-step	Back pads for infant support.	\$\$5-59
Cosco Luzury S-Pt	Strass only	One-step	Back pads for infant support.	\$69-89
Casco Com/ort Ride	Straps/wide shield	One-step	Back pads for infant support.	\$75-89
Cosco Soft Shield	Strans/T-shield	One-step	Back pads for infant support.	\$79
	Strans/T-shield	Automatic	Back ands for infant support	680
Eventio One-Sten	Stranst-ride shield	Mamual		154.00
Engle Chamin	Strando shield	Cone-stan	Smaller lighter than other Examin models	\$76.90
Eventie Come Vest Cas Seat	Strange wide shield	One-step	Commits to bootton (see Fundle Research)	6110.110
Eventie Ultara I, II. V	Straps/shield:	One-step	Wide shield (I); T-shield (II); back pads for	\$90-126
Fisher-Price Car Seat	Strane/T-shield	Automatic -	No locking clip provided	\$78
	Street T-shield	Automatic	Harman Jacks on impact	155.85
Celemit Auto-Mata	Strang (Lebiold	One-stan	None above for "This. A.F.t. *	46.76
	Surapport encoded			4 A E 9E
ADICTUR I TUDELET TUU	Strapp where should	Other-step	Not fee simes to use	343-13
NUMAN INTERVENIE SAVERY SEAT	SCREW I -SAMAG			3100
layskool Carsest (By Noicrait)	SCIENCE STREET	Une-step	providence page support our control.	3/0-90
Renoluz CT 2000	Straps entry	PLACE AND A	think has done to shall have "	300-00
Renoluz GT 5000	Strain only	Menual	High headnest remote control regime feature	\$180-20
Nerholds CT 7000	adding only			
Little Cargo Auto Safety West	Straps only	Manual	Padded shoulder, hip and crotch straps; auto lap	\$40
E-Z-On Vest (several sizes)	Straps only	Manual	Tether strap must be installed in vehicle.	\$62
				Price
Boaster Seets	Bell Paulles	Special Notes		Tempe
Century Commander"	Wrap-around	Not for aircraft	use.	\$20-30
Century CR-3*	Wrap-around	Belt-positioning beaster for inproboulder belt use: shield to add for lap belt use: not for ancraft use.		\$30-40
Cosco Explorer	Wrap-around	2 seat heights.		\$25-29
Eventio Booster Car Seat	Wrap-around or through base	Split shield open in middle; belt through base for short child; internal crotch strap.		546-55
Evenflo Sightseer	Wrap-around			\$29-34
Cerry DoubleGuard	Wrap-around: through base with lap belt	Bolt-positioning booster for inprobouider belt use: shinld to add for inp bett use.		\$45-60
Kolcraft Tot Rider Ouik State	Wrap-around	Cretch post: u	weld priots down on for access to seat.	213-22



WHAT IS A LOCKING CLIP? DO I NEED ONE IN MY CAR?

A properly installed and used car seat provides optimum crash protection for your child. If the car seat you own does not fit easily in your car, don't try to 'make' it work through make-shift measures. Incorrect use of your car seat can drastically reduce its ability to function in a crash.

To be sure you have installed the car seat correctly, first check the instructions provided by the manufacturer of the car seat. Then check the owner's manual for your particular car to be sure the seat belts provided in your car are safe to use with a car seat. <u>SOME SEAT BELTS CANNOT BE USED</u> WITH CAR SEATS UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCE.

Some seat belts require the use of a locking dip to secure a car seat. If your seat belt has a continuous loop or sliding latchplats (see diagram on back of page) you will have to use a locking dip to hold your car seat tightly in place. Pictures of several different types of seat belts are on this page. Check your vehicle owner's manual to determine which type of seat belts you have in your vehicle. It is NOT unusual to have several different types of seat belts in one vehicle. Front seat belts are often different from back seat belts and the middle of the back seat may have yet another type of belt. Before placing your car seat in any seating position, you must test the seat belt to be sure it will hold a car seat.

Test your seat belt by installing your car seat according to the manufacturer's instructions. Once the seat is attached by the seat belt, give a hearty tug on the seat. Does it move freely from side to side? Front to back? Tug on the lap portion of the belt. Does the belt pull loose in your hand? If you answered yes to these questions, you may need a locking clip to secure your car seat. Again, the locking clip may not be able to correct this situation depending on the type of seat belt installed in your vehicle.

To attach a locking dip:

1. Buckle the seat belt around or through the car seat according to the manufacturer's instructions. 2. Tighten, as stugy as possible, the lap portion of the belt by pulling on the shoulder portion and feeding the ercens into the retractor. It is helpful to place your knee in the child safety seat and press it down into the car seat while tightening the belt.

3. When the belt is tight, pinch the webbing together behind the sliding latchplate and unbuckle the belt while still holding the webbing together so it says tight.

4. Thread the belt webbing onto the locking dip, one side at a time. Keep the dip does to the sliding latchplate (no farther than 1/2). See diagram below.

5. Rethread the seat belt correctly around or through the car seat and fasten the buckle. Pull the lap portion and the shoulder portion separately to be sure the clip is safely in place. Tug the seat forward and side to side. If seat is still not secure, remove clip and repeat process. If car seat continues to move loosely, try another seating position in the vehicle to see if another seat belt is more compatible with the car seat.

The locking clip will remain on the belt until you remove it. If the sent is removed, the clip should be removed for passengers using the belt. The clip should be reinstalled each time the car sent is placed back in the vehicle.

LOCKING CLIP





÷

FACT: TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS CAN HAPPEN TO YOU

In your lifetime, you have a 50 percent chance of being in a serious accident and a 1 in 50 chance of being killed in a traffic accident. Ask the experts...it can happen to you.

Why risk it? Your best protection against death and injury in your car is your safety belt. There are no good reasons for not buckling up. It's easy. Just reach over - click - and you're set.

. .JUST ASK THE EXPERTS.

Vince and Larry, the test crash dummies, are convinced that safety belts work. But you may not be.

You hear many stories told about safety belts that just aren't true...just ask the experts. These Pennsylvanians learned from experience that safety belts save lives.

MYTH: BELTS CAUSE INJURIES

"In my accident, I hit an object on the road and my car rolled over. Afterwards, I had some soreness in my chest, probably caused by my safety belt. But I shudder to think of what type injuries I would have suffered If I wasn't wearing my belt."

> Thomas Wolfendale Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

There have been reports of injuries caused by safety belts. In these rare cases, however, the belt was either worn incorrectly or the crash was so severe that the occupants would have been seriously injured or killed if not belted. Also, a belt-induced injury occurs to a strong part of the body, such as the chest, which can better withstand the force of the crash.

MYTH: PREGNANT WOMEN SHOULDN'T WEAR SAFETY BELTS

"During my pregnancy, I was a little uneasy about wearing my safety belt because I was afraid the pressure from the belt would hurt my baby. But my doctor reassured me that my baby would be much safer if I were protected by a belt in an accident. And, I proved him right. If I hadn't been buckled up on that winter night when our car slid on the ice, I'm positive that my daughter would never have been born."

Cheryl Porter Middletown, Pennsylvania

The best way to protect an unborn child is to protect the mother. For pregnant women, as for anyone, the key to making safety belts effective is knowing how to wear them properly. When pregnant, place the iap belt under your abdomen as low on the hips as possible. Never place the belt above your abdomen - this could cause injuries in an accident. Place the shoulder belt between your breasts. Then adjust both belts to fit as snugly and comfortably as possible.

MYTH: IT'S BETTER TO BE THROWN CLEAR OF THE CAR

"I not only believe that my safety belt saved my life, but I have long lamented that I didn't insist that my friend wear a safety belt that night. We were hit head-on and my friend was thrown through the windshield. I survived, but she was dead on arrival at the hospital. Had she had her belt on, I know she'd be alive today."

> Richard Johnson Melrose Park, Pennsylvania

You are about 25 times more likely to be fatally injured if ejected from the vehicle. It's better to be buckled inside the car. Ejection

THE HUMAN COLLISION

in an accident, there are really two different collisions. The first is the car's accident in which the car hits something, buckles and bends, and then comes to a stop.

The second, and more important collision, is the "human collision." This happens when a person hits some part of the car, such as the steering column, dashboard, or windshield. How hard is the impact? If the car is going only 30 mph, the passengers will hit the car interior with the same force as a fall from a three-story building.

The second collision doesn't have to happen. Safety belts help you "ride down" the force of the crash (first collision) by holding you in place, and they prevent contact with either the car's interior or with other passengers (second collision).



can result, not only in landing on unforgiving pavement, but also on other lethal objects, scraping along the ground, or being crushed by another vehicle.

MYTH: GOOD DRIVERS DON'T CAUSE ACCIDENTS

"I always considered myself a good driver. I never thought an accident would happen to me. But one night, while responding to an emergency call in an ambulance weighing more than four tons, the vehicle hit a patch of ice and began sliding. My safety belt kept me in place so I kept some control of the ambulance and managed to hit a cement wall rather than another car."

> James Bente Washington, Pennsylvania

Most people feel that accidents happen to other people. Every day, hundreds of careful, law-abiding drivers become traffic victims. The primary purpose of the safety belt is to protect against injury after the crash, when everyons is vulnerable. When belted, you have more control over the vehicle in emergencies. If unbelted, you may lose control and cause death and injury to others, including those not involved in the initial collision.

MYTH: I CAN BRACE MYSELF IN A CRASH

"I always thought I could hold myself back if I was ever in an accident. But when a truck hit my car in the rear, I couldn't even think because everything happened so fast. I remember being thrown forward and watching the ash tray being dislodged by the force. Suddenly, my safety belt pulled me back from the dashboard, while the ash tray crashed through the windshield. I remember thinking 'that could have been me'. "

Maureen Hoepfer Girardville, Pennsylvania

The forces involved in even a low-speed crash make it impossible for anyone to avoid contact with the inside of the car or other occupants, which ultimately results in injury. For example, the force of a 30-mph crash is equal to a fall from a three-story building.

MYTH: MY SAFETY IS MY BUSINESS

"After my accident, all I could think of was 'what would have happened to my husband and children if I had been killed'."

> Kathy Werling Glenshaw, Pennsylvania

Safety on the highways is not personal. It's everyone's business. Traffic accidents don't happen on your personal streets and highways. And, it's your tax money that provides the emergency services required after collisions and pays for the health and welfare services needed by accident victims.

The emotional and financial toll traffic accidents have on a family can be devastating. Each highway death, for example, costs more than \$300,000. On an average, medical expenses for serious injuries resulting from traffic accidents amount to \$208,400. More importantly, what about the grief and loss inflicted on families when a father, mother, son, daughter, brother, or sister are needlessly killed or disabled in an accident because they weren't buckled up?

Safety belts work. ...that's a fact!

HOW SAFETY BELTS WORK

٦.

Since the shoulder belt is designed to allow freedom under normal driving conditions, some people question whether it would restrain them in a collision. But, don't worry. Your belt will automatically lock and hold you if your car makes a sudden stop or crashes. Here's how your belt works.

NORMAL

Under normal conditions, the pendulum and bar are in the rest positions. The reel,

which holds the belt, is free to rotate. As you lean against your belt, it "gives" or unreels.



BEI

ACCIDENT

Under accident conditions, such as a collision, the pendulum tilts toward the force

PEND

of the impact, causing the bar to engage the ratchet. The reel and safety belt now lock, restraining you.

OTHER MYTHS AND FACTS

MYTH: "I never drive fast or travel far from home so I don't need safety belts."

FACT: Eighty percent of serious and fatal injuries occur in cars traveling less than 40 mph. Seventy-five percent of serious and fatal traffic injuries occur less than 25 miles from home.

MYTH: "What if my car catches fire or goes under water? I'll be trapped in my car if I'm buckled up."

FACT: Less than one-half of one percent of all injury producing accidents involve fire or submersion. When they do, safety belts can prevent you from hitting your head or losing consciousness, making it possible for you to escape.

MYTH: "I have air bags in my car. I don't need to wear my safety belt."

FACT: Air bags alone can reduce the chance of fatality in crashes by 20 to 40 percent. But air bags in combination with safety belts reduce your chances of being killed in an accident by 45 to 55 percent. Safety belts are still your best protection in rear, side, and roll over crashes.

MYTH: "I can protect my baby by holding him."

FACT: On the contrary, a baby may weigh very little, but in an accident, your baby becomes a human projectile. In a crash as slow as 10 mph, a 12-pound baby exerts a force of 120 pounds. You can't possibly hold on. And, if you're unbelted and a collision occurs, you may crush your baby between your body and the dashboard as you're violently pushed forward by the crash forces. The best protection for your child is a child safety seat. In fact, Pennsylvania law mandates that children under four be buckled up when riding in the car.

FOR MORE INFORMATION:

Robert P. Casi

loward Yoryasiim, P.E. crotory of Transportation



"Steer clear of trouble."



s,

"Avoid ring around the collar."



"And don't do windows"

TOO .A.L FOR O "YANL MAR GUNY





Hi! We're "Vince and Larry" and we've been on the road for a long time trying to convince humans about the importance of safety belts and air bags. We're crash dummies for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, but we're smarter than you think.

Vince: I've been in the business for more than 20 years. I graduated from the 3chool of Hard Knocks with very high marks—skid marks. Larry is fresh out of Notre Dumb where he was a Road Scholar.

We love our job of going through windshields and eating dashboards to demonstrate how safety belts and air bags make a difference. We'd give an arm and



a leg (and usually do) to convince even one person to buckle up.

Since many of you don't know about safety belts, air bogs and automatic belts, let us give you a "crash course." Here are five important lessons to learn:

Lesson One:

Motor vehicle crashes are the number one killer of Americans under the age of 34. Every 22 minutes someone is killed in a crash and every 2 minutes a crash injures someone severely enough to require hospital treatment.

Lesson Two:

Use safety belts on every trip. If your car has an air bag,



you get added protection. The best way to protect yourself is to have an air bag and use your safety belts—the winning combination.

Lesson Three:

People who ride unrestrained will be tossed around inside the vehicle or ejected during a crash. At 30 mph, a 150-pound person who is not buckled in will crash into the steering wheel or dashboard with a force of more than two tons. But, when you use your safety belts properly, you significantly improve your chances of escaping injury or death.

Lesson Four:

Safety belts and air bags absorb some crash forces and spread the remaining ones over the relatively strong portions of the body. The safety belts also keep you inside the vehicle, which improves your chance of remaining conscious and in control during a crash.

Lesson Five:



Belts and air bags are so effective, the government requires all new cars sold in the United States after Sept. 1, 1989, to be equipped with automatic crash protection—either air bags or automatic safety belts—for front-seat occupants.

SAFETY BELTS

LARRY: Hey Vince, do you realize that thousands of lives have been saved by safety belts?

VINCE: I'd hope so Larry.— I'd hate to think we've been beatin' our heads against the wall for all those years for nothin'!

Wearing a safety belt and driving a car with an air bag can reduce your chance of fatality by 45 to 55 percent.

VINCE AND LARRY: There's a right way and wrong way to wear a safety beit. So don't be a dummy!

Wear the lap belt low and snug across your hips. Be sure not to tuck the shoulder belt under your arm or behind your back. The belts are designed so the impact of a crash is absorbed in the strongest areas of your body—the bones of your hips and shoulders.

VINCE AND LARRY: Buckle up no matter what kind of belt it is.

For cars that don't have automatic belts, it's important to buckle the manual safety belts. The moment it takes to buckle a safety belt can help save a life or prevent an injury. And don't forget to fasten the manual lap belt in cars where only the shoulder belt is automatic. VINCE: Don't let satety take a back seat. Make sure everyone's buckled in.

Everyone in the vehicle should be buckled up. Even in the back seat. Young children need to be buckled into a child safety seat that's installed and used properly. Older children and adults should buckle themselves in no matter where they are sitting. Don't drive off until everyone is buckled up. If you make that a habit, you'll have a better chance of reaching your destination safely.



AIR BAGS

VINCE AND LARRY: Hey Vince, how do air begs work? And do they really taste like marshmallows?

Air bags work great in frontal or near-frontal collisions. In these types of crashes, sensors in the front of the car send a signal that inflates the air bag in less than one-tenth of a second and then quickly deflates. The bag then provides a cushion to keep the driver from crashing into the steering wheel, dashboard and windshield. Air bags reduce the chance of injury to the head, face. neck and chest—the parts of the body that are most likely to receive serious injuries in a crash.

VINCE: Remember Larry—If someone tells you that you don't have to buckle up if your car has an air bog, tell

them they're full of het air! Air bags are only added protection. You must wear your safety belt so you're in place for the air bag's protection. It's



important, too, to always buckle up since air bags inflate only in head-on crashes. Without your safety belt fastened, you might be injured in a side, rear or rollover crash.

LARRY: Tell me more Vincel How do the sensors work? The air bag is hidden in the steering wheel or dashboard until it is needed. When a crash sets off the sensors, an inflation cycle produces harmless nitrogen gas that inflates the bag. It all happens faster than the blink of an eye. When an air bag inflates, you'll see a lot of white powder that may appear to be smoke. This is a cornstarch-based talcum used to lubricate the bag so it releases smoothly. It is harmless and quickly disappears.

VINCE: Do air bags have a proven track record?

They are extremely reliable and have worked as designed in thousands of serious frantal crashes and have logged more than 10 billion highway miles. Unexpected inflations almost never accur, and even if one did the small size of the bag and its quick inflation and deflation cycle enable the driver to safely stop the car.



VINCE AND LARRY: Air bogs are easy to take care of 'cause they're usually good for the life of your car. Most air, bog

systems require no maintenance. They are designed to last the life of the car. But once the air bag is used, it must be replaced. Most insurance policies cover the replacement cost.

VINCE AND LARRY: Can an air bag hurt me?

The air bag inflation cycle necessarily must be very quick to get the bag in place in time to protect you. There is a loud noise when it inflates, but not so loud that it causes hearing damage. The bag itself may cause slight chafing (similar to a rug burn) on exposed skin on the face, neck and arms. But these injuries are rare and minor compared to the serious injuries that are likely without an air bag.

VINCE AND LARRY: How

about child safety seats? Where's the safest place for one in an air bag-equipped car?

The safest place for a child safety seat in any vehicle (with air bag or not) is the rear seat. If the car has a passenger-side air bag, a forward-facing child safety seat



may be used in the right front passenger seat. The safety seat must still be secured by a safety belt.

AUTOMATIC BELTS

VINCE: Hey Larry, these newfangled automatic belts are a snap aren't they? Automatic safety belts come in a variety of styles, but there are basically two types: motorized and non-motorized. They all move into place automatically when the car door is closed.

VINCE AND LARRY: What's a motorized belt?

Motorized belts are shoulder belts anchored to small electric motors in the door frame; when you turn on the ignition, these motors move the belts into place. All motorized safety belts have manual lap belts. These lap belts must be buckled to provide the best protection possible and prevent the occupant from "submarining" (sliding out of the shoulder harness).

VINCE AND LARRY: What's a non-motorized belt?

Non-motorized automatic belts are anchored to the car door. When you close the door, the belt automatically moves into position around you. Many non-motorized automatic belts are combination shoulder and lap belts, but some manufacturers have automatic shoulder belts with manual lap belts. The lap belt must be fastened to provide maximum safety.

If you have any more questions about occupant protection, write to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, NAD-51, 400 Seventh Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20590, or call the toll-free Auto Safety Hotline at (800) 424-9393.

> Air bag photo countery of insurance installs for Highway Safety



be holidays would not be the same without you.

Please buckle up and don't drink and drive.

Season's Greetings from your Police Department and the Keystone Safety Belt Network.





APPENDIX I

PUBLISHED NEWSPAPER ARTICLES ABOUT PROJECT

In Tredyffrin, buckle up or else

BY JIM McCAFFREY Suburban Staff Writer

Nothing is more tragic than the sudden and proventable death of a child. With that in mind, Tredyf-frin police will begin pulling ever and ticketing drivers wha do not aboy the Pennsylvania child safety seat law, as well as its adult seat belt law.

The Tredyfirin program is being menitored by the National High-way Traffic Bality Administration ever the next year. NHTSA, noting the millions spent elecating people to get them to wear seat bolts, now bolloves it is time to start enforcing the laws requiring people to w ment belts.

Prensylvania law requires children birth to age 1 to be strapped in an NHTEA approved car seat. Children ages 1-4 used only be in a top belt in the back seat (although experts recommend car seats). But children from birth to 4 who ride in the frent seat of a car must be in a car seat. Pennsylvania police may pull over a car and cite the driver for violating these requirements. The cust of that ticket is \$64, or the defendant can bring the proof of purchase of a car seat to court and the case will be dismissed.

Police also will enforce seat belt lows applying to adults. The law requires all drivers and front seat

Drivers are responsible not only for their own seet belts but for making sure others under age 18 are wearing theirs. Fines for an adult cont belt violation total \$69.

Police cannot stop a car for an adult seat belt vielation or for east belt vielations involving children elder than 4. However, if the driver is stopped for another violation, the police will insue seat bolt citations I it is warranted. A Tradyfirin police department

release about the project noted, "The Chester County Highway Bafety Project, the Pennsylvania project. Traffic Injury Prevention Project, Trodyffria Tewnwatch, Valley Forge R.B.A.C.T., business and other community organizations are essisting in the project, donating time and material. The feasibility of receiving a grant from the Penn-eyivanis Department of Transpor-tation is also in progress. Com-munity Relations Officer Nick

news to wear seat bolts.", Tradyffrin Officer Tim Barrar (left) and officer Tony Giamo attend to Barrar's daughter Meghan while son Tim visits with Sat. Steve Dintino and wife Andrea holds the "Buckle up for Safety" award. They're reminding motorists that Tredyffrin is enforcing the Pennsylvania seatbelt law.

An observation study of 800 drivers conducted earlier this year for NHTSA in the township abop ping conters showed that about \$ percent of the infants were observed in child safety seats. For toddlors 1-3 years old, the rate was 91 percent. However, for toddlors 8-5 years old, only 41 percent were ebserved in child safety belts. However, only 48 percent of other com-munity residents were buckled up. About 90 percent of the drivers knew about Pennsylvanis's child eafety seet and safety belt fills However, only 72 percent stated that they always restrain their children and only 9 percent thought they were likely to get a ticket for violating the laws. Never-theless, about 68 percent were strongly in favor of the police enforcing the laws."

> IXIUTUAL PRESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC. MAY 23, 1991 SUBURDAN AND

HIVNE TIHES HAVE. PA

HKLY - 16.200

Mirrue MESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC.

AUG 15. 1991

SUBLICEN NO HANNE TIMES HIMPLE. PA

. .

HKLY - 16.200

r in calls for seatbelt safety . edy

z,

BY JOHN KELLY Suburban Staff Writer

w government program)

Tredyffrin police thinking more shout eafery this summer. The program. "70 percent by '92." refere to the government's goal of heving 70 percent of the nation's auto passengers using their seat

belts by 1992. The government estimates that aly 49 percent of

About 25,000 pe منة ملا ar in auto acci ording to bi. ac the National Highway Traffic Sale Administrati Several hunty Admin dred thous visuorne ere siquely

injured. Seat belts cut in half a person's chance of being killed in

Tredyffrin polis **15 1**2 ú. urt to pro te sent belt use this will hold child anis-T or'll have **t**7 nt cha k clinics: th n heaths iays. to at 2 8 net child safet inty as t of Pennsylvani a'a child w and safety belt lev

r state law, all trive Und re children 1 year er y safety seat. Children u a in the fr t ealt over 1 ye n ride -

tions is \$84. The e fine fer vielatis for adult of a \$60.

blem with the 600 X. . . ay alles . . ity pull care over for a Sunse, and police Capt. ypacker. I think it is a 7 æ n that has to be change bield that has to be charged ink (the state) is working a acording to the NHTSA dyfiris police, the most com-

ris in e st be it w

r routing of the vehicle's it to anchor the child's it to and

barnesses er shields

rractly. is (for children from ar old) facing forward

74 اتا ر

50 foty belt or a men May. the es -

1911

*____

1 📜

PRESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC.

SEP 25, 1991

TIMES - HERALD NORRISTONN, PA

PH - 30.427

Tredyffrin's push on seat belt law increases usage

"Since the Tredyfirin Township police department started giving tichets and warnings to motorists not wearing seathelts or providing proper restraint use for children, people driving in the township are buckling up more frequently than drivers elsewhere.

During the last few months, Tredyfirin police have given out over 140 tickets and warnings to people not following Pennsylvania's occupant restraint laws,

Recent surveys in the township found that seat belt usage was about 10 to 15 percent above the state average of 55 percent. Seat belt usage monitored last year before police began actively enforcing restraint laws showed usage rates in the township were 5 to 10 percent below the state average.

Child safety seat violations total \$84 in fines while seat belt violations total \$69 in costs.

Last year, the police department received the 1990. Reystone Safety Belt Network Silver Buckle Award for Pennsylvania Law Enforcement. The award was given for examplary departmental safety belt policies, education and training programs, public promotion of safety belts and active enforcement policies. THE SUBURBAN AND WAYNE TIMES

Thursday, September 28, 1981

Better buckle up in Tredyffrin!

Since Tredyffrin police started giving tickets and warnings — over 140 — t. motorists who don't wear seat belts or provide proper restraint for children, people who drive in the township are buckling up more frequently.

Recent surveys in the township found that seat belt use was about 10-15 percent above the statewide average of 55 percent. Seat belt usage monitored last year before police actively started enforcing the occupant restraint laws showed that seat belt use rates were about 5-10 percent below the statewide average.

Child safety seat violations total \$84 in costs, safety belt violations \$69.

The department's program is being monitored by the National

Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Last year the department received the 1990 Keystone Safety Belt Network Silver Buckle Award for Pennsylvania Law Enforcement. The award was given to the police department for exemplary departmental safety-belt policies, education and training programs, public promotion of safety belts, and active enforcement policies. PRESS CLIPPING SERVICE

NOV 13. 1991

DAILY / SUNDAY LOCAL NEWS WEST CHESTER, PA

PH - 28.733

SUN - 35.677

Over 150 are ticketed for seat belt violations

TREDYFFRIN — Police issued more than 150 tickets and warnings to drivers not obeying Pennsylvania's seat belt and child safety seat laws in the past aix weeks.

In total, police have issued more than 275 tickets and warnings since beginning their own occupant-restraint enforcement program earlier this year.

The department's program is being monitored by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, a division of the U.S. Department of Transportation.

The price for not wearing southelts is \$60, including a fine as well as contributions to state emergency services costs and the CAT fund.

The fine for failing to properly restrain a child is \$84.

The law regarding properchild restraint states that infants from birth to age 1 must be in an approved child safety cost, and that children from 1 to 4 55 in a child safety seat anywhere in the vehicle, or in a seat belt in the back seat only.

THE SLIGUISAN AND WAYNE TIME 29

Seatbelt safety ... sweeps through Treyffrin Township

Octo er and early November have been busy for the Tredyffrin Township police department's occupant restraint enforcement program. More than 150 tickets and warnings have been given to people for violating Pennsylvania's seat belt and child safety seat laws in the last month and a half.

Since: the start of the program earlier this year, over 275 tickets "Hild warnings have been given to area residents in an effort to promote seat belt use among drivers and passengers as well as full protection to children, especially toddiers and infants.

The police department's program is being monitored by the Unites States Department of Transportation's National High-way Traffic Safety Administration and later this month, observations will be conducted in the township's shopping centers to provide data that will be used to evaluate the

effects of the program. The cost associated for violating the cost associated for violating the seat belt law is \$69, which in-cludes the fine and state EMS and CAT funds. The child passenger protection law requires the following:

-infants from birth to age 1 must be in an approved child

eafsty seat: '-Children from 1-4 years may be in a child safety seat anywhere

in the vehicle or in a seat belt in the back seat only. NHTSA and the Tredyffrin po-lice, department, recommend that all children up to 4 years old be in a child safety seat.

3A -- News of Delaware County, Wedneeday, Moreh 13, 1991

Police spreading the message of automobile safety

By NATALIE SMITH Associate Editor

Haverford Township police are trying to make the car a safer place for babies and toddlers.

The Highway Safety Division of the towaship police department eponsored a display on Saturday of the Manoa Shopping Center featuring brochures and posters stressing the use of child safety restraints.

"We're trying to get information aut to the general public," said department head Sgt. Gary Hoever. Greeting shoppers Saturday and handing out bags to the kids containing posters and stickers were Larry (Officer John Esher) and Vince (Officer George Christake) — the "crash dammies" from the National Highway and Traffic Sofety Administration television commercials. Also there officers Dennis Anderson and John Viola. The state Child Paspenger Sofety Law states:

All drivers are responsible to socure children from birth to age four in the appropriate restraint.

• Children under i must be in an approved car scat.

 Children from 1 to 4 should be in an approved car sent but legally can wear a inp bolt in the back sent only

• Children from birth to 4 can ride in the front sent of the car only if they are in an approved car sent.

If they are in an approved car seat. Fine for violation is \$25 plus court costs or proof of car seat purchase.

Haverlard Township was one of three Philadelphia soburban communities manifered by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration for child safety seat and restraint use.

The NHT3A report stated between Nov. 9, 1970 and Jan. 25, 1991, more than 3,000 ebservations were conducted on drivers who had small children in their vehicles while they were driving in community shopping conters in Haverford, Abington and Tredyffring townships.

ing townships. According to the report, in the 755 cars observed in Haverford Township, about 50 percent of the children up to 1 year were observed in child safety scats, as were 60 percent of the toddlers to age 4. About 75 percent of the 755 drivers surveyed thought it untiaty they would get a ticket for not restraining their child. Sovy enty-two to 80 percent of those surveyed stated they always restrained their children in the car.

Between 50 to 90 percent knew of child safety law and 90 percent of drivers were in favor of police enforcing safety soat law, the report stated.

The results of the survey were basically the same in all three townships.

Hoover said the ultimate goal of the NHTSA is to increase the occupant restraint use for all children ages I to 5 and extending the use of proper safety seats for older toddiers from 20 to 40 pounds up to age

Also importent is the use of appropriate occupant restraints for children 1 to 5 during short diotance rides.

"The idea is to make public aware of usage and the penalties," Hoover said.

The display in Massa Shopping Center on Saturday was just part of on engoing program for public awareness. Officers from the Highway Safety Division are available to talk at schools or citizenes groups about everything from traffic laws to driving under the influence of alcohol.

"We can talk to anyone from young hide to conter citizens," said Officer Donate Anderson, who along with Officer Richard Points is a program instructor.

To arrange for a Highway Safety Department Division program for a school or group, call the Haverford Township Police Department of 053-2405 and ash for Set. Howver.

Greeting strellers and eksports at the Haverberd Township Police Department Mebway safety deplay Saturday at Massa Shapping Conter are "creak domailes" Larry (Officer John Escher) and Visco (Officer George Christele. Lesking on are (from helt) James Pallarten, S, Kovin McCanney, S, Christepher Visla, 4, Stephenie Visla, 2, and mean Deplace Visla.



XUTUAL PRESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC. NAY 15, 1991

÷.

MAI 100 1001

NEHS OF DELAHARE COUNTY UPPER DARBY, PA

HKLY - 24,230

Enforcement planned for child safety, seatbelt laws

The Haverford Township Police Department will be actively enforcing the state child safety seat and safety belt laws in the township during Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week (May 11 to 10) and National Buckle Up Week (May 19-25).

The department urges parents and others to protect their children in child safety seats and safety beits by correctly using them.

The police are conducting a child safety seat and safety belt project this year. The project is being monitored by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. It consists of education and program activities promoting proper child safety seat and safety belt use, police training on enforcement procedures, and stepped-up enforcement of Pennsylvania's child passenger safety seat and aafety belt laws.

Under the state law, all drivers are responsible to secure childrenfrem birth to age four in the appropriate restraint. Fine for violation totals 504.

ation totals 504. Drivers and all front seat passengers must be restrained. Fine for violation is 569.

The Delaware County Highway Selety Project, the Pennsylvania Traffic Injury Prevention Project, business and other community erganizations are assisting in the project, donating time and material. The feasibility of receiving a grant from the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation is also in progress. Haverford Sgt. Gary Hoover and Officer Denis Anderson are leading the police effort on the project.

An observation study of 1,000 community drivers conducted earlier this year in the township shopping centers, showed that about 96 percent of the infants were observed in child safety seats. For toddlers 1 up to 3 years old, the rate was 85 percent. However, for toddlers 3 up to 5 years old, only 41 percent were observed in child safety seats. About 71 percent of the drivers with small childrea observed were wearing safety balts. However, only 44 percent of other community residents were backled up. About 93 percent of the drivers know about 92 percent of the drivers how about 93 percent of the drivers how about 93 percent of the drivers how about 93 percent of the drivers how about 94 percent of other community residents

Only 54 percent stated they always restrain their children and only 9 percent thought it was likely to get a ticket for violating the laws. Eighty two percent were strongly in favor of the police enforcing the laws.

MUTUAL MESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC. ÷

MAY 15. 1991

HALLERFORD PRESS NENTOWN SOLARE. PA

HKLY - 3.875 **B8 Percent Of Infants**. Safety Seats Being Used In H'ford

A study by Haverford Po-lice indicates that 96 percent of infants traveling in cars in the township are restrained in child safety seats. The study being administered by Sgt. Gery Hoover and Officer Denis Anderson is part of a project promoting child restraints and seat bells Which is being monitored by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA). Amisting the po-lice are the Delaware County Highway Safety Project, the Pennsylvania Tratfic Injury Prevention Project and busisees and community or ganisatione

Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week is may 11-18. National Buckle Up Wenk is May 19-25.

In a study at the lownship shopping centers which is volved 1,000 drivers, police found that 96 percent of infants, 85 percent of children between one and three years old and 41 percent of children between three and five years old were in child anisty

About 71 percent of drivers with small children were seen wearing safety balls while only 44 percent of other community residents were charved buckled up.

About 93 percent of the drivers know about Pennsylvanie's child safety seat and salety belt leve. Police my 84 percent stated that they

always restrain their children. Only nine percent thought it was likely to get a ticket for violating the laws.

were strongly in favor of the . drivers responsible for thempolice enforcing the laws.

The statute child passenge miety law requires that children be in an approved car sent from birth to age one, and wear a lap belt in the back seat from age one through age four. Children under four years old must be in an approved car seat if riding in the front seat.

Haverford Police say all children under four should Fines for violation are \$10 ride in car sents. Finan for violation are \$25 plus \$17.50 court cost, plus \$30 for the CAT fund plus \$11.50 in Votaling \$59.

other costs, totaling \$84 or proof of car sent purchase.

The seat belt law requires that all front sent pa -1. 1 Police my that 52 percent . be restrained and makes selves and for each passenger under 18 riding in the front sast. The law allows exemptions for carriers of medical or psychological excan signed by a physician; deliverers of goods or service ve. hicle operators driving at speeds ions than 15 mph and making frequent stops; and drivers of automobiles manyfactured before july 1, 1966. plus \$17.50 court cost, \$30 for CAT fund. \$10 for EMS costs and \$1.50 for JCP fund.

XILITUAL ESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC. 5

MAY 15, 1991

HALERFORD PRESS NEHTCHN SOLARE. PA

HKLY - 3.875 **D8 Percent Of Infants**. Safety Seats Being Used In H'ford

A study by Haverland Police indicatus that 96 percent of infants traveling in cars in the township are restrained in child safety seats. The study being administered by Set. Gery Hoover and Officer Denis Anderson is part of a project promoting child restraints and seat bells William is being monitored by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA). Assisting the po-lice are the Delaware County Highway Safety Project, the Pennsylvania Traffic Injury Prevention Project and busim and community organimtione

Pennsylvania Child Passenger Safety Week is may 11-18. National Buckle Up Week is May 19-25.

In a study at the inwantip shopping centers which involved 1,000 drivers, police found that 98 percent of intanta, 85 percent of children etween one and three years old and 41 percent of children between three and five years old were in child safety

About 71 percent of drivers with small children were seen wearing safety its while only 44 percent of other community residents we observed buckled up.

About 93 percent of the drivers know about Pennsylvania's child aniety seat and salety buit inwa. Police any 64 percent stated that th

always restrain their children. Only nine percent thought it was likely to get a ticket for violating the laws.

were strongly in favor of the . drivers responsible for thempolice enforcing the laws.

The state's child passenger selety law requires that children be in an approved car seat from birth to age one, and wear a lap belt in the back seat from age one through age four. Children under four years old must be in an approved car seat if riding in the front sent. Haverford Police say all

children under four should ride in car seath. Finns for violation are \$25 plus \$17.50 court cost, plus \$30 for the CAT fund plus \$11.50 in totaling \$59.

other costs, totaling \$84 or proof of car sent purchase.

The east belt law requires that all front sent per . . . Police say that \$2 percent . be restrained and makes selves and for each per ger under 18 riding in the front sunt. The law allows grptions for curriers of medi-cal or psychological excu signed by a physician; deliverers of goods or service ve hicle operators driving at speeds less than 15 mph and anaking frequent stops; and drivers of automobiles meanfactured before july 1, 1966. Fines for violation are \$10 plus \$17.50 court cost, \$30 for CAT fund, \$10 for ENS costs and \$1.50 for JCP fund,




MUTUAL PRESS CLIPPING SERVICE INC. SEP 4. 1991 HAVERFORD PRESS NENTON SOLME. M HULY - 3.875 **Beware On West Chester Pike** OF Buckle Up Seco.

-

÷

The Neverlard Termship Police Department is reschafting realises to drive safely, wear sost belts and protect abilities by properly using child safety seets. With this bosoner, which was hung as West Chester Pite, are seven-year-old Larry Boches as Larry the Test Damin'; With Bance, vice president of the termship commissioners; LL James Hetzler; patroinen Join Viels and Robert Stickney; and eight-year-old Chris Cayawaski as Vince the Test Daminy; Le the safety seat is 22-menth-old Gregory. Police are participating in a National Highway Traffic Sofety Administration project involving more occupant restraint in weaforeament, and premoting expresses of the anteresment and benefits of buckling up. Police have clead numerous drivers and pass-mass. From each State State State are also participating in a PumBUT project involving increased undersament of traffic safety have an West Chester Pite. 2A-News of Delaware County, Wednesday, (3) October 2, 1991

ż,

Study: Seat belt usage up in township

Auring the last few months, the Haverford Township Police Department has given out more than 120 tickets and warnings to people who are not following Pennsylvania's occupant restraint laws.

:

A's occupant restraint news. According to data collected for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, recent surveys by the department found that seat belt use at three township locations was 1 to 12 percent above the statewide average of 55 percent. Seet belt usage monitored last year before the police started actively enforcing the occupant restraint laws showed that seat belt usage rates in the township were about 10 percent below the statewide average.

Child safety seat violations total SM in costs; safety belt violations, SS in costs. The police are also giving out warnings for these violations, with second warnings resulting in tickets. The department was recently given the 1991 Keystone Safety Beit Network Silver Buckle Award for Pennsylvnia Law Enforcement. The award is given to police departments with examplary departmental safety-belt policies, education and training programs, public promotion of safety belts and active enforcement policies. The award will be presented at the Governor's Highway Safety Conference Oct. 11. MAIN LINE SUNDAY, October 13, 1991 - 5

Study: Seat Belt Usage Up In Haverford Township

During the last few months, the Haverford Township Police Department has given out more than 120 tickets and warnings to people who are not following Pennsylvania's occupant restraint laws.

:

According to data collected for the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, recent surveys by the department found that seat belt use at three township locations was one to 12 percent above the statewide average of SS percent. Seat belt usage monitored last year before the police started actively enforcing the occupant restraint laws showed that seat belt usage rates in the township were about 10 percent below the statewide average.

Child safety sent violations total SM in costs; safety belt violations, S69 in costs. The police are also giving out warnings for these violations, with second warnings resulting in tickets.

The department was recently given the 1991 Keystone Safety Belt Network Silver Buckle Award for Pennsylvania Law Enforcement. The award will be presented at the Governor's Highway Safety Conference today. News of Delaware County, (3) Wednesday, October 15, 1991 - 7A

Safety lauded

2

By MARY BETH LAUER Correspondent

The effort Haverford Township police have put into educating the public about highway safety and the necessity of wearing seat belts is paying off — in recognition from the state and from the Keystone Automobile Club.

The Governor's Highway Safety Award was presented to police at a Oct. 11 conference for making an outstanding contribution of the cause of highway safety. But Police Chief Howard Walton

But Police Chief Howard Walton is most proud of the Silver Buckle Aware presented to the department from the Keystone Safety Belt Network which recognizes the departments excellence in promoting safety belt and child safety seat awareness.

seat awareness. "We are very pleased," Walton said, "we are bonored that the state has recognized the efforts of the police department and its men."

Walton said Haverford's department was the only Delaware County police department singled out by the state auto club.

Walton said be and the department began a program of education and awareness last year. More than 4,000 students were reached when police went to schools in the community stressing the importance of wearing seatbelts.

He said the other goals of the department have been to strive for more compliance. He said warnings have been issued on the road, and a few citations have also been issued when seatbelts were not used and children were not property restrained. News of Delaware County, (3) Wednesday, December 4, 1991 - 5A

Child seats checked.

÷

Members of the Haverford Township Police Highway Safety Department will be in the Manoa Shopping Center Saturday from 10 a.m. to noon and at the Clover Store from 1 p.m. to 3 p.m. to check child safety seats. Police will be available to an-

Police will be available to answer a 7 questions the public may have on using child safety sears and on seat belt safety.

They will be working in conjunction with Lorrie Walken, coordinator of the Pennsylvania Traffic Injury Prevention Project.

The event is part of a townshipwide seatbelt safety program.



IXIUTUAL PRESS CUPPING SERVICE DEC 23, 1991

> DELAWARE COUNTY DAILY TIMES PRIMOS, PA

AM - 50.000

Safety belt check held in Haverford

By JOHN M. ROMAN

Of the Times Staff

HAVERFORD — Police recently checked about 200 drivers and passengers for safety belt use and found about 65 percent were properly restrained.

The check was conducted at Manoa shopping center.

A similar check last year found only about 44 percent were wearing safety belts, police said.

The Haverford police and the American Academy of Pediatrics' Traffic Injury Prevention Project (TIPP) were on hand at the shopping center and the Clover store to check cars for proper child seat safety and seat belt use.

"Vince" and "Larry," the crash test "dummies," distributed stickers and pins, brochures and season's greeting cards reminding people to buckle up for asfety and not to drink and drive.

Police are also involved with the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration and PennDOT safety projects.

The NHTSA project involves promoting occupant protection through the use of enforcement — to date more than 200 tickets and warnings have been used.

Child safety sent fines and violations cost \$84; safety belt fines and violations cost \$50. The PennDOT project involves sobristy checkpoints and education programs.

The TIPP and NHTSA programs recommand that infants up to 1-year-old or under 20 pounds be in an infant seat, facing backward. Toddlers aged 1 to 4 or between 20 and 40 pounds should be in a toddler/ convertible seat facing forward.

Children from 40 to 60 pounds should be in a booster seat.

APPENDIX J

ł

CHILD SAFETY BELT MESSAGE CARDS



18 19 ML

CAR SAFETY SEATS. IT'S MORE THAN AN ACT OF LAW. IT'S AN ACT OF LOVE.

CAR SAFETY SEATS SAVE YOUNG LIVES

The Pennsylvania Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics Prescribes Car Safety Seats for Pleasant Safet Driving.

JUDGES LOVE

KIDS TOO!



~ 41

1-800-CAR-BELT

APPENDIX K

CHARACTERISTICS OF SAMPLE

	Intervention	Phase	
Community	Pre-	Post-	Total
Tredyffrin	774	681	1,455
Haverford	914	881	1,795
Abington*	831	481	1,312
Total	2,519	2,043	4,562

Table K-1. Drivers (with Young Children) Observed

Comparison site

		Interventio	Intervention Phase		
Community		Pre-	Post-	Total	
Tredy frin	Up to 1	134	102		
	1 up to 5	703	637		
·	5 to 9	114	137		
	Total	951	876	1,827	
Haverford	Up to 1	108	145		
	1 up to 5	949	884		
	5 to 9	183	175	•.	
	Total	1,240	1,073	2,313	
bington"	Up to 1			;	
	1 up to 5	743	433		
	5 to 9	209	137		
	Total	1,065	654	1,719	
	Grand Total			5,859	

^a Comparison site

Ĭ

	Tredyff	rin	Have	ford	Abington	t .
Age	Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %	
	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-
Less than 30	16.6	12.8	20.5	21.1	21.7	14.7
30 to 39	75.3	70.6	69.4	66.4	62.8	68.4
40 and over	8.1	16.6	10.0	12.4	15.5	16.9
Total Sample	704	640	818	- 804	715	468

5

ą.

Ċ

T

Table K-3. Driver Age Category (Percentages)

N,

[•] Comparison site

Table	K-4 .	Driver	Time	from	Last	Stop
۲		(Perc	entage	5)		•

_	Tredyl	Trin	Hav	erford	Abing	ton
Time (in minutes)	Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %	
	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-
0-5	39.2	40.3	28.1	29.1	34.9	37.9
5-10	37.7	35.5	43.2	38.7	35.7	35.6
10-15	15.5	15.8	19.9	20.8	20.0	18.6
15-30	6.3	· \$ 7.6	7.8	10.8	7.6	7.4
30-60	1.3	0.7	1.0	0.7	1.7	0.2
More than 60	0	. 0	0	. 0	0.2	0.2
Total Sample	607	563	627	750	605	404

[•] Comparison site

Table K-5. Driver's Distance from Last Stop (Percentages)

	Tredyffrin Intervention Phase %		Haverford Intervention Phase %		Abington [•] Intervention Phase %	
Type of Vehicle						
Observed	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-
Passenger Car	56.2	55.2	54.5	53.0	46.4	40.8
Station Wagon	24.5	22.1	24.2	23.4	32.3	31.6
Mini-Van	11.4	14.6	· 9.2	16.8	11.1	15.9
Van	2.1	1.3	7.0	1.9	1.5	2.2
Pickup	1.0	1.5	1.7	0.6	0.9	1.0
Јеер-Туре	4.8	5.4	3.1	4.3	7.7	8.4
Other	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total Sample	808	480	880	880	737	667

ŧ

Table K-7. Vehicle Type (Percentages)

[•] Comparison site

ł

-

Distance	Tredy	Tredyffrin Intervention Phase %		Haverford Intervention Phase %		Abington [*] Intervention Phase %	
(mileage)	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	
05	11.8	10.4	4.4	8.5	14.4	13.3	
.5-1	6.8	8.4	3.8	6.5	6.8	10.8	
1-3	43.9	47.5	57.3	49.3	43.0	41.6	
3-5	21.1	18.8	20.4	20.4	18.4	19.0	
5-10	13.1	12.1	11.9	12.7	13.7	12.0	
10-15	2.0	2.1	1.5	2.1	2.5	2.3	
More than 15	1.2	0.7	0.8	0.4	1.2	1.0	
Total Sample	601	560	613	706	570	399	

3

Table K-5. Driver's Distance from Last Stop (Percentages)

€.

[•] Comparison site

	Tredy	Trin	Haver	ford	Abing	ton
Visits (per week)	Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %		Intervention Phase %	
	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-	Pre-	Post-
0-1	12.0	13.4	45.1	36.9	21.4	25.6
1-2	31.6	29.9	38.1	34.7	41.1	37.8
2-3	22.0	16.4	9.1	13.2	19.1	15.2
3-5	25.0	28.5	4.5	9.7	14.7	14.4
More than 5	9.3	11.8	3.1	5.5	3.7	7.0
Total Sample	591	56 1	616	712	598	402

Table K-6. Frequency of Visits Per Week (Percentages)

[•] Comparison site